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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

ESERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Li Yuguo, aged 68, was appointed as an Executive Director of the
Company on 16 August 2017 and was appointed as the Chairman of the
board of directors on 22 September 2017. He was also appointed as the
chairman of the Nomination Committee of the Company on 24 July 2018.

Since |19 September 2018, Mr. Li has been an executive director of Future
Bright Mining Holdings Limited (“Future Bright”), a company listed on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) (Stock Code: 2212), in which Mr. Yang Xiaogiang (a Non-
Executive Director of the Company) and Mr. Liu Yan Chee James (an
Executive Director and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company) are
executive directors. He has also been the chief executive officer of Future
Bright from 16 June 2020 to 23 May 2022. He has been a non-executive
director of Shengjing Bank Co., Ltd., a company listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 2066)(*‘Shengjing Bank") from July
2013 to March 2021 and the vice chairman of the board of directors of
that bank from June 2014 to February 2018. He has been the chairman of
Liaoning Huibao International Investment Group Co., Ltd.* ((EZE[EEE
RIGEEEBR A A since June 2013 and the chairman of Beijing Jiutai
Group Co., Ltd* (bR LA EEBR A F]) since May 1993. Prior to that,
he successively worked at the planning bureau of the China Association
for Science and Technology (FF BIFI 2 #7175 &) as principal staff, deputy
chief and chief of the accounting division from August 1983 to October
1992.

Mr. Li graduated from Jiangxi University of Finance and Economics

(formerly known as Jiangxi Institute of Finance and Economics* (I 7 81 4%

E2BT)) (Jiangxi, PRC) in July 1983, majoring in industrial accounting.

*  For identification purpose only
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

ESERE

Mr. Liu Yan Chee James, aged 52, was appointed as an Executive
Director of the Company on 26 April 2017 and was appointed as the Chief
Executive Officer of the Company on | August 2018.

He has over 20 years of experience in finance and accounting. Since 8
March 2018, Mr. Liu has been an executive director of Mindtell Technology
Limited, a company listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange (Stock Code:
8611). He has been an executive director of Future Bright (Stock Code:
2212) since 9 August 2019, in which Mr. Li Yuguo (an Executive Director
and the Chairman of the Company) is an executive director and Mr. Yang
Xiaogiang (a Non-Executive Director of the Company) is an executive
director. He was also the chief executive officer of Future Bright from 26
October 2018 to 16 June 2020. He was an independent non-executive
director of Luen Wong Group Holdings Limited, a company listed on
GEM of the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 8217) between March 2016 and
December 2017.

In February 1994, he graduated from Dalhousie University in Canada with
a Bachelor of Commerce.

Mr. Liu has been criticised by the Listing Committee of the Stock Exchange
on 20 January 2020 in relation to his breach of Rule 3.08(f) of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules™),
and his obligations under the Declaration and Undertaking with regards to
directors given by him to the Stock Exchange set out in Appendix 5 of the
Listing Rules, in discharging his fiduciary duties as an executive director of
the Company with sufficient skill, care and diligence of a director as may
reasonably be expected of a person of his knowledge and experience and
holding his office. For details, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 23 January 2020.

Ms. Guo Yumei, aged 54, was appointed as an Executive Director of the
Company on |8 April 2018. She was also appointed as a member of the
Remuneration Committee of the Company on 24 July 2018.

She has been an executive director and legal representative of Beijing
Qiaofeng Commercial and Trading Co., Ltd* At RBEEHEBR R A, a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, since February 2018. Ms. Guo
currently also serves as director of Guangxi Huatai Mining Industries Co.,

Ltd* (BEIEFBEBEBRAA).

Ms. Guo graduated from Party School of CPC Beijing Municipal Committee*
FERTZER) in July 2008.

*  For identification purpose only
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

ESERE

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Yang Xiaoqgiang, aged 51, was appointed as a Non-executive
Director and the Vice Chairman of the Company on |3 September 2018.

Mr. Yang had been a non-executive director of Future Bright (Stock Code:
2212) since 19 September 2018 and re-designated as an executive director
on 22 December 2020, in which Mr. Li Yuguo (an Executive Director and
the Chairman of the Company) is an executive director and Mr. Liu Yan
Chee James (an Executive Director and the Chief Executive Officer of the
Company) is an executive director.

Mr. Yang has been appointed as director and general manager of Shenyang
Tairong Property Development Company Limited* (&[5 22485 HhE 7
EHPR/AF]) since September 2010. He held similar positions in other
companies for more than 20 years.

Mr. Yang obtained a bachelor’'s degree in industrial automation from the
Shenyang Mechanical Engineering University* (BF5H# M T 2 K& in
1994 and obtained a master degree in civil and commercial laws from the
Shenyang Normal University in 2001.

Mr. Huang Yilin, aged 54, was appointed as an Executive Director of
the Company on 23 January 2015 and was appointed as Chief Executive
Officer on 16 August 2017. He resigned as Chief Executive Officer and was
re-designated from Executive Director to Non-executive Director of the
Company with effect from | August 2018.

Mr. Huang graduated from The Institute of Finance and Economics of Radio
and Television* (BBARBI4EET) in 1992 and is engaged in management
related works since graduation. During the past years, Mr. Huang was the
general manager of Shantou Sanye Plastic Company Limited* (ILEE™ =
HBEABRAR]), Shenzhen China Investment Company Limited* (3]
MHEEE AR A7), Shenzhen Rihuisheng Group Company Limited* (%
It BEERR LB BR A F]) and Shenzhen Hongxun Investment Company
Limited* OFYITIIEFNIZRE B A F]), and has extensive theoretical
knowledge and practical experience in corporate modern management.

Mr. Huang has been criticised by the Listing Committee of the Stock
Exchange on 20 January 2020 in relation to his breach of Rule 3.08(f) of
the Listing Rules, and his obligations under the Declaration and Undertaking
with regards to directors given by him to the Stock Exchange set out in
Appendix 5 of the Listing Rules, in discharging his fiduciary duties as an
executive director of the Company with sufficient skill, care and diligence
of a director as may reasonably be expected of a person of his knowledge
and experience and holding his office. For details, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 23 January 2020.

*  For identification purpose only
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

ESERE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Ba Junyu, aged 67, was appointed as an Independent Non-executive
Director and a member of each of the Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee of the Company on 24 July 2018.
He was appointed as the chairman of Remuneration Committee of the

Company on | August 2018.

Mr. Ba has been an external supervisor of Shengjing Bank (Stock Code:
2066) since February 2018. He was an independent non-executive
director of that bank from June 2010 to February 2018. Mr. Li Yuguo (an
Executive Director and the Chairman of the Company) has been a non-
executive director of that bank from July 2013 to March 2021. Mr. Ba has
been a professor at Shenyang Ligong University* (J&FZIE T KE) since
September 2001, and served as principal, professor and researcher of
the social economy research institute of Shenyang Ligong University from
September 2001 to May 2009. He serves as a professor at the School of
Law and Ideology of Shenyang Ligong University since May 2009. Prior to
that, he served as an associate professor and the head of the economic
research institute at Shenyang University from April 1996 to August
2003. From August 1985 to April 1996, he served as a vice dean, deputy
principal and associate professor of the market economy research institute
at Shenyang Institute of Finance and Economics. He used to work at the
teaching and research office at Shenyang Accounting School* (& k5 i B
BER) as deputy director, director and lecturer from August 1982 to
August 1985.

Mr. Ba graduated from Dongbei University of Finance and Economics
(formerly known as Liaoning Institute of Finance and Economics* (3 28 B
#EBT)) (Liaoning, PRC) in July 1982, majoring in commercial enterprise
management. He has been a researcher as accredited by the Personnel

Office of Liaoning Province since August 2008.

*  For identification purpose only

BAFATES

BRFEE - 675 R-F—\FtA=+m
ABEEAKRATBIENTEEARER
ZEW FHEERRRAZARSAZN
8 GR_F—N\EN\A-REEERARA

BrEa T - NF_ABRARARITRG
KRR 2066) 2 HNEBEEE - WHRZZF—FF X
REZF - N\F-AMEEZERIT BT
FBITESE - ARAMTEEFRERTRE
EERZE—=F+AE_T=-_—F=HH
MRZRITZINTESE BEEB =TT
—FNAES—HETBEBRETIRBHIT -
IR —ZTTE—FAAZ_ZTTNFERAET
BREIRSEHSLEREMAR HEK
WMEE  —ETAFRABETESRBELIX
BIUEBRBIE o UL 2R R —ANKRE
MAZ=-ZZT=F)\ AHH  BHETEEGKX
BUBERARAMABREEAE -R—ANEF
NAZE—NANANFNARE - BRETESS
KERRBEE  MHEBERARABEIMER
BHE - R—ANZFENAZ—ANREEN
AR HECEETHEERMAEEE
T EEKHEE -

BEER-—NANZFLAEERRILMEXR
S(AEEEVEEER)(PERER)BREE
EEEX -HA-_ZZENFN\AE—BHERE
BEASRRANMAEE -

Annual Report 2022 F#

7



BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

ESERE

Mr. Zhu Xueyi, aged 69, was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director, the chairman of the Audit Committee and
a member of each of the Remuneration Committee and Nomination

Committee on |3 September 2018.

Currently, Mr. Zhu is a professor and the head of the Research Institute
of Resource Economics and Financial Accounting at Nantong Institute of
Technology and a guest professor at the University of Jinan. After working
in journalism from 1974 to 1976, Mr. Zhu embarked on his education
career at the School of Management at China University of Mining and
Technology. Mr. Zhu was gradually promoted to the position of vice dean
of the School of Management at China University of Mining and Technology
from 1999 to 2007. In 2007, he became the head of the Research Institute

of Finance and Accounting at China University of Mining and Technology.

Mr. Zhu obtained an accountancy degree at Jiangsu University of Finance
and Economics in 1983 and obtained a master’'s degree at Renmin

University of China in 1992.

Mr. Zhu has been an independent director of a Shenzhen-listed company,
Jiangsu Wuyang Parking Industry Group Co., Ltd.* (TERFFIEEHES
FERMKH AR AT (Stock Code: 300420) and the chief financial expert
of Huai Hai Holding Group* (E&IZEREE) since 2017. He was an
independent director of a Shenzhen-listed company, Saimo Electric Co,,
Ltd. (BEBERKHBBR AT (Stock Code: 300466) from 2011 to 2016

Mr. Zhu has been a vice chairman of Xuzhou Auditing Society* (4R T2

T2 ) and a vice chairman of Xuzhou City Accountant Association* (&

MR ETRIHE) since 2000

*  For identification purpose only
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

ESERE

Mr. Zhu has published more than 500 articles on accounting. He was
appointed by various units at or above provincial level, such as Jiangsu
Province Social Science Fund, Ministry of Education, Ministry of Finance to
host nearly 30 significant national projects including national natural science
fund and national social science fund. In recognition of his contribution,
provincial departments awarded him with nearly 30 prizes, e.g. Science
Advancement Prize, Philosophy Society Achievement Award, Excellent
Teaching Achievement Award, etc. He was also awarded as a national
excellent teacher in 1989 and the "“Excellent Accounting Worker” in Jiangsu

Province in 2006.

Mr. Wong Chung Man, aged 63, was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director and a member of each of the Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee of the Company on
24 July 2018.

Mr. Wong worked as a marketing manager in Tse Sui Luen Jewellery
Company Limited during the period between 1986 and 1990 and as a
general manager of Anju Jewelry Ltd. between 1990 and 1992. Mr. Wong
was the director and president of Tse Sui Luen Jewellery (China) Ltd.
during the period between 1992 and 200! and was the director of Fullnew
International Ltd. during the period between 2001 to 2008. Thereafter, Mr.
Wong worked as the general manager of Enzo Jewelry Holdings Limited
from 2008 to 2009 and then as a consultant at Shenyang Success Real
Estate Development Co. Ltd.* (&[5 TN EHERZ AR A F]) between
2009 and 2017.

Mr. Wong graduated from Waseda University of Tokyo, Japan in 1985.

*  For identification purpose only
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TEERRE

The Company recognises the importance of maintaining a high standard of

corporate governance with an aim to protect the interest of shareholders.

Key corporate governance practices and activities for the Year are
highlighted in this report. Discussions on the Company's environmental
policies/performance and our relationship with key stakeholders will be
disclosed in a separate Environmental, Social and Governance Report
which will be available on the websites of the Company and the Stock

Exchange in due course.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has adopted the Corporate Governance Code contained in
Appendix |4 (the “Code”) of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”). During the Year, the Company
complied with all applicable provisions of the Code except for the

deviations as stated below:

Code Provision C.1.8

Under Code provision C.1.8, the Company should arrange appropriate
insurance cover in respect of legal action which may be taken against the
Directors. The directors’ and officers’ liability insurance maintained by
the Company has expired on 20 May 2018. As the Company has not yet
reached an agreement with an insurer regarding the terms and insurance
premium of new insurance policy, the insurance cover in respect of legal
action which may be taken against the Directors has not been in place since
21 May 2018. The Company had liaised with various insurance companies
and brokers during the Year and will continue to liaise with them to arrange

appropriate insurance cover for the Directors and officers.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TEERRE

Code Provision C.1.6

Under Code provision C.1.6, independent non-executive directors and
other non-executive directors, as equal board members, should give
the Board and any committees on which they serve the benefit of their
skills, expertise and varied backgrounds and qualifications through regular
attendance and active participation. They should also attend general
meetings to gain and develop a balanced understanding of the views
of shareholders. Due to other business commitment, one independent
non-executive Director was unable to attend the annual general meeting
of the Company held on |7 August 2021, and one non-executive Director
and one independent non-executive Director were unable to attend the

special general meeting of the Company held on 18 November 2021.

THE BOARD

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the Company

and oversees the Group's business strategic decisions and performances.

Responsibilities and Delegation

The Board is responsible to the shareholders for leadership and control of
the Company and is collectively responsible for promoting the success of
the Company and its businesses by directing and supervising the Company's
affairs. The Directors have the responsibility to act objectively in the

interests of the Company.

The Board focuses on overall strategies and policies with particular
attention paid to the growth and financial performance of the Group. The

principal functions of the Board are to, inter alia:

. establish the strategic direction and development of the Group;

* determine the general corporate policies, strategic plans and
performance objectives of the Group;

. monitor management performance;

. approve financial plans and annual budgets, major funding proposals,
key funding and investment proposals; and

. oversee the processes for evaluating the adequacy of internal
controls, corporate governance, risk management, financial reporting

and compliance.
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The Board delegates daily operations of the Group to executive Directors
and senior executives, while reserving certain key matters for its approval.
Matters reserved for decision and consideration of the Board include,
among others, all matters of strategic importance, corporate governance
practices, internal control matters and risk management, operating and
capital budgets, material transactions and investment commitments. The
management is responsible for the daily operations of the Group under the

leadership of the Board.

Board Composition

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises three Executive
Directors, Mr. Li Yuguo, Mr. Liu Yan Chee James and Ms. Guo Yumei; two
Non-executive Directors, Mr. Yang Xiaogiang and Mr. Huang Yilin; and
three Independent Non-executive Directors, Mr. Ba Junyu, Mr. Zhu Xueyi
and Mr. Wong Chung Man. Mr. Li Yuguo is the chairman of the Board and

Mr. Liu Yan Chee James is the chief executive officer of the Company.

Number of Directors
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The Independent Non-executive Directors of the Company are persons
with academic and professional qualifications in the fields of accounting and
appropriate expertise. They provide strong support towards the effective
discharge of the duties and responsibilities of the Board. Each Independent
Non-executive Director gives an annual confirmation of his independence
to the Company and the Company considers these directors to be

independent under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

Board Diversity Policy

The Company has adopted the board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity
Policy”). The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having
a diverse Board so as to enhance the quality of its performance and as
an essential element in maintaining strategic objectives and sustainable
development of the Group. All appointment of the Board members will
be based on merits against objective criteria and with due regards for
benefits and balance of diversity on the Board. The Board diversity will
be considered in terms of, among other things, gender, age, professional
experience, qualifications and educational and cultural background, and any
other factors that the Nomination Committee may consider relevant and
applicable from time to time towards complementing and extending the

overall skills, know-how and experiences of the entire Board.
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Meetings 25

Details of Directors' attendance records at the Board meetings and general ZEERNHE T -_—_F=A=1+—HI#&F
meetings of the Company during the year ended 31 March 2022 are set out FEEEE2EMARNAIRE KRS HF ikt
below: BEEFNAT -

Meetings attended/Held

HERE BTEERE
Annual Special
General General Board
Meeting Meeting Meeting

BRRAFAE RRENAE EZgd;

Executive Directors HITES

Mr. Li Yuguo FEELAE /1 /1 14/19
Mr. Liu Yan Chee James 2RBEE /1 /1 19/19
Ms. Guo Yumei REBLL /1 0/l 18/19
Non-executive Directors FHTES

Mr. Yang Xiaogiang IO ke I/ 0/1 18/19
Mr. Huang Yilin gy Catad 11 /1 18/19

Independent Non-executive Directors BIUFHTES

Mr. Ba Junyu BEFxE o/l /1 19/19
Mr. Zhu Xueyi REELE /1 o/ 18/19
Mr. Wong Chung Man BHEE /1 /1 19/19
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Apart from regular board meetings of the Year, the Board will also meet on
other occasions when a decision at the board level on a particular matter
is required. The Directors receive details of agenda items for decision and
minutes of committee meetings (if any) prior to every board meeting.
The Board has reserved its power for decision or consideration on those
matters relating to corporate strategy, annual and interim results, directors’
appointment, succession planning, risk management, major acquisitions,
disposals and capital transactions, and other significant operational and
financial matters. Major corporate matters that are specifically delegated
by the Board to the management include the preparation of annual and
interim accounts for board approval before public disclosure, execution of
business strategies and initiatives adopted by the Board, implementation
of adequate systems of internal controls and risk management procedures,

and compliance with relevant statutory requirements, rules and regulations.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS

All the Independent Non-executive Directors are appointed for a term of
three years. In addition, all Directors are subject to retirement by rotation
and re-election at the annual general meetings pursuant to the Bye-laws of

the Company.

According to the Company’s Bye-laws, any director appointed by the Board
to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office until the first general meeting of the
Company after his appointment and shall be subject to re-election at such
meeting; and any director appointed by the Board as an addition to the
existing Board shall hold office only until the next following annual general

meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election.
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CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT OF THE DIRECTORS

The Directors are encouraged to update themselves with the latest
developments in the legal and regulatory frameworks, and the business
and market changes from time to time to facilitate the performance and

discharge of their responsibilities.

All Directors are requested to provide the Company with their respective

training records pursuant to the Code.

During the Year, the Directors have confirmed their participation in
appropriate continuous professional development activities by ways of

attending seminars or self-reading as set out below:

Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Li Yuguo FEELE
Mr. Liu Yan Chee James 2B B EE
Ms. Guo Yumei REmLL
Non-executive Directors FHTES
Mr. Yang Xiaogiang B/REE
Mr. Huang Yilin BRMEE
Independent Non-executive Directors BYEHTES
Mr. Ba Junyu B&FELE
Mr. Zhu Xueyi REHRFHE
Mr. Wong Chung Man EEE

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix
|0 to the Listing Rules. Having made specific enquiry of all Directors,
all Directors confirmed that they had fully complied with the required
standard set out in the Model Code throughout the Year.

Asia Resources Holdings Limited | T2/ & RIZMR B R A 7
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee of the Company currently comprises three
Independent Non-executive Directors and one Executive Director, and
is currently chaired by Mr. Li Yuguo. lts primary duties include reviewing
the structure, size and composition of the Board, identifying individuals
suitably qualified to become Board members in accordance with the Board
Diversity Policy, assessing the independence of Independent Non-executive
Directors and making recommendations to the Board on relevant matters

relating to the appointment or re-appointment of Directors.
The Nomination Committee held one (1) meeting during the year ended

31 March 2022. The attendance of each member of the Nomination

Committee at the meeting during the Year is set out below:

Committee members

ZEgHE

Mr. Li Yuguo (Chairman) FRELE(EE)
Mr. Ba Junyu BEFEE

Mr. Zhu Xueyi REBRLE

Mr. Wong Chung Man E=M XL

During the Year, the Nomination Committee has reviewed the structure
and composition of the Board, reviewed the Board Diversity Policy,
assessed the independence of Independent Non-executive Directors
and made recommendations on the appointment and re-appointment of

Directors.

REEES
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FR-ANTEFEN  ABETIALE
BEER - REZERZIERE LR

EXZgRE RENEK RREFEKE
ZHICHRYEABREERAUKRIEFTS
REZAL FHEBIFNTEEFZEY

H REERENZEEEZHEEENE
FERHEERR

SE--FZAST-ALFE R
AERECEA()REH - SRAERE
RERAEES R RRSRIIMT

Meeting
attended/Held
HERE
BITERRHY
1/1

I/1

1/1

1/1

RAFE REZESCRNEFEZIRE

RARK MHEFTEKREZ T ERR LA
B TEEZBYM - UEREERE
METEFREHRBRER

Annual Report 2022 F#

17



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TEERRE

Nomination Policy

The Nomination Committee may invite nomination of candidates from
Board members for its consideration. The Nomination Committee may
also put forward candidates who are not nominated by Board members.
The factors in assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate for the
position of director include, inter alia, reputation for integrity, professional
qualifications, skills, knowledge and experience that are relevant to the
Company's business and corporate strategy, willingness to devote sufficient
time to discharge his duties as Board member and other directorships
and significant commitments, diversity of the Board, and such other
perspectives relevant to the Company’s business. The Nomination
Committee shall make recommendations for the Board'’s consideration and

approval.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee of the Company currently comprises three
Independent Non-executive Directors and one Executive Director, and
is currently chaired by Mr. Ba Junyu. Its primary duties include making
recommendations to the Board on the Company's policy and structure
for the remuneration of the Directors and senior management, reviewing
the remuneration package and recommending salaries, bonuses, including
the incentive awards for the Directors and senior management, assessing
performance of executive Directors, approving the directors’ services
contracts and ensuring no Director or any of his associates is involved in

deciding his own remuneration etc.
The Remuneration Committee held one (I) meeting during the year ended

31 March 2022. The attendance of each member of the Remuneration

Committee at the meeting during the Year is set out below:

Committee members

ZEEME

Mr. Ba Junyu (Chairman) BEFREEE)
Ms. Guo Yumei REB/RE

Mr. Zhu Xueyi RBREE

Mr. Wong Chung Man | EAE
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During the Year, the Remuneration Committee has considered and
reviewed the terms of the appointment letters of the Directors with
reference to various factors including, inter alia, salaries paid by comparable
companies, time commitment and responsibilities of the Directors,
employment conditions elsewhere in the Company and desirability
of performance-based remuneration. The Remuneration Committee
considers that the existing terms of the appointment letters of the
Executive Directors, Non-executive Directors and Independent Non-
executive Directors are fair and reasonable. Details of the remuneration

policy of the Directors are set out on page 56.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee of the Company currently comprises three
(3) Independent Non-executive Directors and is currently chaired by
Mr. Zhu Xueyi. Its primary duties are to review and oversee the financial
reporting system, risk management and internal control system of the
Group and its effectiveness, and review and monitor the integrity of
financial statements of the Company and the Company's annual report and

interim report.
The Audit Committee held four (4) meetings during the year ended 31

March 2022. The attendance of each member of the Audit Committee at

the meetings during the year is set out below:

Committee members

ZEERE

Mr. Zhu Xueyi (Chairman) KRERKE(EE)
Mr. Ba Junyu BEFEE

Mr. Wong Chung Man =ML
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During the Year, the Audit Committee has reviewed with management the
accounting standards and practices adopted by the Group, and discussed
auditing, internal control, risk management and financial reporting matters
including the Group's audited financial statements for the year ended 3|
March 2021 and the unaudited financial statements for the six months
ended 30 September 2021 respectively. In June 2022, the Audit Committee
reviewed the Group's audited financial statements for the year ended 3|

March 2022 prior to recommending them to the Board for approval.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board is responsible for the corporate governance matters of the
Company. The duties of the Board include, inter alia, (i) to develop,
review and implement the policies and practices of the Company on
corporate governance; (ii) to review, monitor and implement the policies
and practices of the Company in compliance with the legal and regulatory
requirements; (iii) to develop, review, monitor and implement the code
of conduct applicable to Directors and employees; and (iv) to review and
implement the compliance with the Code and disclosure in the Corporate

Governance Report.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the remuneration paid/payable to
the Company’s auditors, Messrs. Lau & Au Yeung C.P.A. Limited, is set out

as follows:

Services rendered

P2 it AR 7%
Audit services ZEH AR
Non-Audit services (Note) IR BBRTE (A aF)

Note:  The Audit Committee is of the view that the auditors’ independence was not affected

by the provision of those non-audit services during the year ended 3| March 2022.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility to prepare financial
statements for each financial year which give a true and fair view of
the state of affairs of the Group. In preparing the accounts for the year
ended 31 March 2022, the Directors have adopted suitable accounting
policies which are pertinent to its operations and relevant to the financial
statements, made judgements and estimates that are prudent and

reasonable, and have prepared the accounts on the going concern basis.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board is responsible for overseeing the Company's risk management
and internal control systems. To facilitate the effectiveness and efficiency
of operations and to ensure compliance with relevant laws and regulations,
the Group emphasizes the importance of a sound risk management and
internal control systems which are also indispensable for mitigating the
Group's risk exposures. The Group'’s risk management and internal control
systems are designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance
against material misstatement or loss and to manage and eliminate risks of

failure in operational systems and fulfillment of the business objectives.

The risk management and internal control system are reviewed on an
ongoing basis by the Board, but in any event no less than once per year, in
order to make it practical and effective in providing reasonable assurance in
relation to protection of material assets and identification of business risks.
The Board is satisfied that, based on the information furnished to it and on
its own observations, for the year ended 31 March 2022 and up to the date
of this report, the risk management and internal controls of the Group are

satisfactory, effective and adequate.

The Group is committed to the identification, monitoring and management
of risks associated with its business activities and has implemented a
practical and effective control system which includes a defined management
structure with limits of authority, a sound cash management system and
periodic review of the Group's performance by the Audit Committee and

the Board.
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During the Year, the Board has engaged an external professional advisor
to conduct the annual review of the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2022. The review
has covered financial, operational and compliance control and some
recommendations were provided in the internal control review report. All
recommendations are properly followed up by the Group. Therefore, the
Board considered that the risk management and internal control systems

are effective and adequate.

COMPANY SECRETARY’S TRAINING
During the year ended 31 March 2022, Mr. Wu Ho Wai has received over
fifteen (15) hours of relevant professional trainings to refresh his skills and

knowledge.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening a Special General Meeting

Shareholders holding not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital of the
Company and carrying the right of voting at general meetings can send a
written requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary to request for

a special general meeting (“SGM”).

The written requisition should be deposited at the principal place of
business of the Company in Hong Kong at Room 2601, 26/F., West Tower,
Shun Tak Centre, 168-200 Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong, for the
attention of the Company Secretary. The written requisition must state
the proposed resolution(s), accompanied by a statement of the matters
referred in the proposed resolution(s) and signed by the shareholders

concerned.

The identities and eligibility of the requisitionist(s) will be verified with
the Company’s branch share registrar and upon its confirmation that the
requisitionist(s) is/are eligible to give such requisition, the Company will
then proceed to convene a SGM within twenty-one (21) days of the
deposit of the requisition. The actual SGM shall be held within two (2)

months after the deposit of the written requisition.
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Making Proposals at Shareholders’ Meeting

Shareholders who wish to make a proposal at shareholders’ meeting shall
request for the convening of a SGM in accordance with the procedure
under the paragraph headed “Convening a Special General Meeting”

above.

Procedures for Nomination of Directors for Election

Shareholders who wish to nominate a person to stand for election as a
director at general meetings shall lodge the following documents at the
principal place of business in Hong Kong at Room 2601, 26/F, West Tower,
Shun Tak Centre, 168-200 Connaught Road Central, Sheung Wan, Hong
Kong, provided that the minimum length of the period, during which such
documents are given, shall be at least seven (7) days and that the period
for lodgment of such notice(s) shall commence no earlier than the day
after the dispatch of the notice of the general meeting appointed for such
election and end no later than seven (7) days prior to the date of such

general meeting:

(i) notice in writing signed by the shareholder of his intention to

propose such person for election (“Nominated Candidate”);

(i) notice in writing signed by the Nominated Candidate to be

proposed of his willingness to be elected; and

(i) the biographical details of the Nominated Candidate as required
under Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules for publication by the
Company.
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AMENDMENT TO CONSTITUTIONAL
DOCUMENT

During the year ended 31 March 2022, there were no significant changes to

the Company's constitutional document.

The Company will propose amendments to its Bye-laws at the forthcoming
annual general meeting in order to comply with the latest amendments to

the Listing Rules.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company discloses relevant information to shareholders through
the Company's annual and interim reports, notices, announcements and
circulars as well as the general meetings. The general meetings allow

directors to meet and communicate with shareholders.

To further promote effective communication, the corporate website is
maintained to disseminate announcements and other relevant financial and

non-financial information of the Company electronically on a timely basis.

ENQUIRIES TO THE COMPANY OR THE BOARD

We always welcome shareholders’ view and input. Shareholders and other
stakeholders may at any time address their concerns to the Company

Secretary by mail, facsimile or email. The contact details are as follows:

Address: Room 2601, 26/F, West Tower, Shun Tak Centre,
168-200 Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong
Facsimile no.: (852) 3102 0899

Email: info@asiaresources899.com.hk

24  Asia Resources Holdings Limited | T2/ & RIZEAR AR A 7]

(CHE g

REE-—E-——E#=A=+—HIEE &
NAZBEXM A EERNET o

ARARREERRBFAG LIRZHE QA
AAMERTA - RS EWRAIRSIER -

RR BB

RAEBADAZER - FHES B
CDERBEHARBEAR REABAR
RE - REARTREEFARERLEL
iy

\
/

+HOF Bt

i

RE—FHBERBE  ARFARERA
Wik WERETFTREERERARAZA
EREMBEM BRI AN

BARNESEREEN

RABABDREARMZEE LRS-
e T E NS EPNG Y
BUBE  GEREBHABAWEIFES

MART] - BEARFIBOT -

HHE BB T BT 168-2005% (512
LT RE26182601 =

EESRIG © (852) 3102 0899

FEHUE © info@asiaresources899.com.hk



BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ STATEMENT, MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION

AND ANALYSIS
EERAAREREEWE SN

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Asia Resources Holdings Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively the “"Group”), | hereby
present to the shareholders of the Company the annual report and audited

consolidated results of the Group for the year ended 3| March 2022.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (the “Year”), the revenue of the
Group was approximately HK$21,200,000 (2021: HK$32,920,000). The
decrease in revenue was mainly because (i) most of the saleable area of
the completed properties held for sale in Dalian, the People's Republic of
China (the "PRC") had been handed over to buyers and the corresponding
revenue was recognised in previous financial years and as a result the
remaining saleable area decreased; (ii) the debt crisis of some of the
property developers in the PRC has adverse impact on the property
market; and (iii) the sales and handover of the remaining completed
properties held for sale were slowed down during the Year due to the

continuation of the COVID-19 pandemic.

Cost of Sales

For the Year, cost of sales of the Group was approximately HK$4, 136,000
(2021: HK$16,471,000). The cost of sales for the Year represented the cost
of properties sold and its decrease was in line with the decrease in revenue

from sales of properties.

Gross Profit

For the Year, the Group recorded a gross profit of approximately
HK$17,064,000 (2021: HK$16,449,000). The gross profit was mainly
attributable to the rental income generated from the investment properties

in Zhejiang.
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AND ANALYSIS
EESAAEERENWR O

Other Gains

For the Year, the Group recorded other gains of approximately
HK$125,692,000 (2021: HK$107,508,000). Other gains mainly consisted of
(i) interest income relating to the termination of acquisition of properties
located in Shenyang, the PRC (the “Shenyang Properties”) (details of which
are set out in note 24(v) to the consolidated financial statements); (ii) the
compensation receivable from the minority shareholder of Good Union
(China) Limited (“Good Union”), a non wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Group, relating to the failure to fulfil the production volume guarantee of
the water mining business in Hunan (details of which are set out in note 25
to the consolidated financial statements); and (iii) currency exchange gains
on monetary assets and liabilities denominated in Renminbi resulting from

the appreciation of Renminbi.

Finance Costs
For the Year, the Group recorded finance costs of approximately
HK$1,052,000 (2021: HK$1,261,000). The finance costs represented the

interest on lease liabilities and other payables.

Selling and Distribution Expenses

For the Year, selling and distribution expenses of approximately
HK$3,001,000 (2021: HK$2,641,000) primarily consisted of agency and
promotion fee incurred for selling the remaining unsold properties in

Dalian.

Administrative Expenses

Administrative expenses primarily consisted of directors’ emoluments,
other staff costs and benefits, depreciation, legal and professional fees,
land and property taxes and other general office expenses, which were
approximately HK$26,777,000 for the Year (2021: HK$26,277,000). The
increase was mainly due to the additional legal and professional fees
incurred for the major acquisition during the Year and the increase in land
and property taxes of the investment properties in Zhejiang, exceeding the

decrease in other operating expenses.
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AND ANALYSIS
EERAAREREEWE SN

Share of Results of Associates

For the Year, the share of losses of associates was approximately
HK$ 14,366,000 (2021: HK$10,195,000). The increase in losses was caused
by the loss of the associate in Guangxi for the Year, for which its operation
was adversely affected by the continuation of the COVID-19 pandemic and
the increasing transportation costs caused by varying degrees of movement

controls in the PRC.

Material Impairment Losses and Fair Value Loss on
Assets

Property development and property investment are the major businesses
of the Group. Affected by the continuation of the COVID-19 pandemic
and the debt crisis of some of the property developers in the PRC, the
PRC's economic growth has slowed down, PRC property market became
sluggish and the values of assets, particularly property assets, in the PRC are
impaired. The Group has suffered a significant impact from these factors
and certain assets of the Group were impaired. For the Year, the Group has

made:

(i) provision for impairment loss on properties under development of
approximately HK$242,539,000 (202 1: Nil);

(i) provision for impairment loss on completed properties held for sales
of approximately HK$10,604,000 (2021: reversal of impairment loss
of approximately HK$856,000);

(iii) provision for impairment loss on deposits paid of approximately
HK$ 150,795,000 resulting from the decrease in fair values of the
underlying property investments in the PRC properties (202 1: reversal
of impairment loss of approximately HK$4,313,000);

(iv) provision for impairment loss on intangible assets of approximately
HK$40,504,000 (202 1: Nil);

(v) provision for impairment loss on interests in associates of
approximately HK$29,395,000 (202 1: Nil); and

(vi) loss from changes in fair value of investment properties of
approximately HK$37,074,000 (2021: gain of approximately
HK$2,282,000).
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Loss/Profit attributable to Owners of the Company

For the Year, the Group recorded a loss attributable to owners of the
Company, which amounted to approximately HK$361,642,000 (2021:
profit of approximately HK$91,264,000). The change from profit for the
year ended 31 March 2021 to loss for the Year was mainly attributable to
the material impairment losses and fair value loss on assets and the share of

losses of associates as analysed above.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group continuously focuses on its core businesses including water
business, property development and property investment business. Since
early 2020, in response to the COVID-19 pandemic, the PRC government
authorities imposed travel restrictions for a long period of time and
implemented varying degrees of movement controls in certain regions,
depending on the number of infected cases. These precautionary measures
adversely affected our core businesses and caused unforeseen delays in our
investment and development. The Company is proactively taking actions
to mitigate the adverse impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on the Group.
Besides, the debt crisis of some of the property developers in the PRC has
negative impact on the property market, which in turn adversely affected

the development progress and valuation of our property projects.

Water Business

The Group recorded a loss from water business segment of approximately
HK$ 17,420,000 for the Year (2021: HK$5,275,000). For the Year, the
loss from water business was mainly attributable to an impairment loss
on intangible assets which exceeded the compensation paid to the Group
for failure to fulfill the production volume guarantee given by the former
minority shareholder of Good Union. For the year ended 31 March 2021,

there was no impairment provision on the intangible assets.

Water Production and Sales

The Group holds 20% equity interests in Hong Kong Spring Water Ding
Dong Group Company Limited (“Spring Water Ding Dong") which has
a wholly-owned subsidiary in Guangxi, Guangxi Spring Water Ding Dong
Beverages Company Limited* (“Guangxi Spring Water Ding Dong").
Guangxi Spring Water Ding Dong possesses a water procurement permit
for production and sales of bottled water and is currently in operation in

Guangxi.
* For identification purpose only
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During the Year, the Group shared losses of associates of approximately
HK$ 14,366,000 (2021: HK$10,195,000), which were mainly attributable
to the depreciation of property, plant and equipment and amortization of
water procurement permit. Losses increased because the revenue of the
associates was adversely affected by the continuation of the COVID-19
pandemic and increasing transportation costs caused by varying degrees of

movement controls in certain regions in the PRC.

The Group reviewed the recoverable amount of the interests in associates
as at 31 March 2022 with reference to a valuation report issued by an
independent qualified valuer. An impairment loss on the interests in
associates of approximately HK$29,395,000 (2021: Nil) was provided for
the Year. Details of the valuation method and key assumptions and the
impairment assessment are set out in note 20 to the consolidated financial

statements.

Water Mining

The Group holds 67% equity interests in Good Union with a wholly-
owned subsidiary in Hunan, which possesses a water mining licence for
exploitation of mineral water in Hunan. Due to the outbreak of the
COVID-19 pandemic since early 2020, the construction works of the
factory has been suspended and delayed. The construction works were
resumed in the first half of 2021. However, due to the outbreak of the
Omicron variant of the COVID-19 virus in the PRC since the beginning of
2022, the construction works have to be further delayed. The construction
of the factory is expected to be completed in the third quarter of 2022 and

the production is expected to commence at the end of 2022 or early 2023.

On 23 May 2017, the Group entered into a sale and purchase agreement
with Mr. Lam Chun Ho, pursuant to which Mr. Lam Chun Ho agreed to sell,
and the Group agreed to purchase, 67% equity interests in Good Union.
Immediately after the acquisition by the Group, Good Union was owned
by the Group and Mr. Lam Chun Ho as to 67% and 33% respectively. Mr.
Lam Chun Ho has given certain production volume guarantee pursuant to
the sale and purchase agreement, including the production volume of spring
water shall not be less than 50,000 cubic metres in 2019 and 100,000
cubic metres for each calendar year from 2020 to 2028. If Good Union
fails to satisfy the production volume guarantee, Mr. Lam Chun Ho shall be
required to pay monetary compensation to the Group. For details, please

refer to the announcement of the Company dated 23 May 2017.
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On 27 August 2021, Mr. Lam Chun Ho disposed of his 33% shareholding
in Good Union to an independent third party. The Company continues to
hold 67% shareholding in Good Union. The new minority shareholder of
Good Union has agreed to assume all the liabilities and commitments of
Mr. Lam Chun Ho. The new minority shareholder of Good Union has also
agreed and fulfilled certain compensation obligations of Mr. Lam Chun Ho.
The compensation relating to the failure to fulfil the production volume
guarantee of the water mining business in Hunan for the years 2019 and
2020 of approximately HK$26,338,000 was mutually agreed between the
new minority shareholder and the Group and recognised as other gains
for the Year. The production volume guarantee of the year 2021 was
not satisfied due to stringent precautionary measures for the COVID-19
pandemic and the delay in constructions works. For the compensation
for the year 2021, the Group is still negotiating with the new minority

shareholder.

The water mining licence expired on 3 May 2022 and the renewal
application has been submitted in April 2022. Affected by the COVID-19
pandemic, the renewal procedures of the government authorities were
delayed. Up to the date of this report, the Xintian County Natural
Resources Bureau* (ETH & BAEIRBD), Xintian County People's
Government* (¥7H % A RBUT) and Yongzhou City Natural Resources
and Planning Bureau* (KN BAEIRFIFEZID) have issued letters
to agree for the renewal of water mining licence. It is expected that the
renewal procedures will be completed in the third quarter of 2022 and the
delay of the renewal of water mining licence will not affect the construction

and production plan of the factory in Hunan.

The Group reviewed the recoverable amount of the water mining licence
as at 31 March 2022 with reference to a valuation report issued by an
independent qualified valuer. An impairment loss on the water mining
licence of approximately HK$40,504,000 (2021: Nil) was provided for
the Year. Details of the valuation method and key assumptions and the
impairment assessment are set out in notes 3 and 19 to the consolidated

financial statements.

*  For identification purpose only
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Property Development and Property Investment Business
The Group recorded a loss from property development and investment
segment of approximately HK$317,435,000 for the Year (2021: profit
of approximately HK$124,476,000). The change from profit to loss was
attributable to:

(i)  provision for impairment loss on properties under development;
(i) provision for impairment loss on completed properties held for sales;

(i) provision for impairment loss on deposits paid resulting from the
decrease in fair values of the underlying property investments in the

PRC properties; and
(iv) loss from changes in fair value of investment properties.

Property Development

Dalian Properties

The indirect wholly-owned subsidiary in Dalian, the PRC, Dalian Chuanghe
Landmark Co Ltd.* (REBIFEM AR A A]) (“Dalian Chuanghe”),
engages in the development of urban land for residential usage in Dalian
and plans to develop 55 buildings with 21 buildings in the first phase
(“Phase I'") and 34 buildings in the second phase (“Phase II") at Beibu
District, Jinshitan, Jinzhou New District, Dalian, the PRC*,

Phase I, named “Xin Tian Jia Yuan"”, was completed in March 2019 and
recognised as the completed properties held for sale of the Group.
There are 21| buildings established in Phase | with total saleable area of
approximately 42,540 square metres including 4 eight-storey apartments
(NEE), 9 garden villas (F/5) and 8 garden houses (B5ERIZE). Dalian
Chuanghe commenced to hand over the properties to buyers in April
2019. For the Year, approximately 548 square metres of properties
were handed over and revenue of approximately HK$4,709,000 (2021:
HK$19,399,000) was recorded. Up to 31 March 2022, an aggregate of
approximately 79% of the total saleable area of Phase | have been handed
over to the buyers. As at 31 March 2022, Dalian Chuanghe had sale
contracts with contract amount of approximately RMB36,979,000 with
gross saleable areas of around 5,000 square metres which would be handed

over to buyers in the near future.

*  For identification purpose only

NERBRYPEREED

RAFEE  AEEHRGSEVEZERERES
FHA317,4350008 THER(ZE - —F + &
F%) 124,476,000 7T) - EEABETIAR -

() BRTPOXZBEBERRR:
(iy FHELEZEEZRMEIRERERE

(i) APEYMERBEYDERE R FETEM
BRENRE CREBRERE &

(v) REMELTFEZBZERE -

WERE

KEYE
MRPEKNEBE2ENB AR KERM
EMARAR([KEEM])RREREFAE
A ETERS - Y8RP RRES
MRS A B EFAESSEET - HRE
—H(T—H) R21EEF - FH(=H8])
RI4EETF o

—HODAERIER-_E—NE=A%T
WHERBAEERIELEZEEZRYE - —
HRB2IEETF - RO EMEL A42,540F
FoK - BIENENSE - UEFEE R\
PRI - REAMNR -F—AEMARBR
BRXMAWE - RAFE - #9548 F 75 KK
Y 3% B 52K R I 8% 15 494,709,000 7T ( =
T = —4F 193990008 L) KA - HEE
—E-_F=-A=1+—H —HHNATE@A
BERNTIVERNHER - RZT =

ZA=1+—H K REEMBEHNEBHAR
#36,979,000 THISHE & 4 - BAIEE AL
5000 F 7K - EERTARRRNTER °

Annual Report 2022 F#

31



32

BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ STATEMENT, MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION

AND ANALYSIS
EEEREREEEN®

(=R = e

il

The Group reviewed the market value of the completed properties held
for sale as at 3| March 2022 with reference to a valuation report issued by
an independent qualified valuer using market approach in the assessment of
the valuation. For the Year, a provision for impairment loss on completed
properties held for sale of approximately HK$ 10,604,000 (2021: Reversal
of impairment loss of approximately HK$856,000) was made.

Phase Il is recognised as the properties under development of the Group.
The Group planned to develop 34 buildings with aggregate saleable area
of approximately 69,000 square metres. The development of Phase Il is
in preliminary stage. Due to (i) the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic
since the beginning of 2020; (ii) the slowdown of economic growth in the
PRC; and (iii) the debt crisis of some of the property developers in the
PRC since mid-2021, the development of Phase Il has been delayed and
rescheduled to late 2022 or early 2023.

On 27 January 2022, Dalian Chuanghe received an idle land decision
from Dalian Municipal Bureau of Natural Resources* (KEMBEAE
JRJ®), pursuant to which the land of Phase Il was determined to be in
idle condition. Therefore, there is a risk that the land of Phase Il being
repossessed by the PRC government authorities without compensation.
The management of Dalian Chuanghe is actively negotiating and
communicating with the PRC government authorities to lift the decision
of idle status and to avoid land repossession by the PRC government
authorities without compensation. At the current stage, no further action

was taken by the PRC government authorities.

The Board has reviewed and reconsidered the development plan of Phase
[I. The construction material costs has continuously increased in recent
years, which led to the increase in the development costs. However, the
selling price of the properties in Dalian has dropped due to the debt
crisis of some of the property developers in the PRC since mid-2021
and the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic. As a result, the projected
profit margin of developing Phase Il has dropped significantly. Due to
the abovementioned factors, the Board considered a full impairment
of approximately HK$242,539,000 (2021:

under development is appropriate and reasonable. Nevertheless, the

Nil) on the properties
management are still using its best endeavors to avoid land repossession
by the PRC government authorities without compensation. If there is any

further update, the Company will make a separate announcement on the

same as and when appropriate.
*  For identification purpose only
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Property Investment

Yantian Properties

(A) The Group entered into an acquisition agreement on 24 June 2014, a

®

supplemental agreement on |5 April 2015, the second supplemental
agreement on 12 July 2016, the third supplemental agreement on
7 May 2017 and the fourth supplemental agreement on 3 May
2018 to purchase the property at a consideration of approximately
RMB100,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$126,000,000).

The property comprises 46 units of Jinma Creative Industry Park
(formerly known as “Kingma Information Logistic Park™) which is
situated at Depot No. 2, 3rd Road and Shenyan Road Intersect, Inner
Logistic Park, Yantian Bonded Area, Yantian District, Shenzhen City,
the PRC* (Fp B 31| 7 B8 Y [ B8 P AR 50 1 490 e 1Bl 70 = 5% % B R B
PEAZPE R — SR #EYS) (“Jinma Creative Industry Park”) with a total

gross floor area of approximately 8,699 square metres.

As at 3| March 2022, the Group had obtained physical possession
of the property and paid conditionally refundable deposit in the
aggregate sum of RMB90,000,000 in accordance with the payment
terms stated in the sales and purchase agreement. The remaining
balance of the consideration of approximately RMB10,000,000 shall
be paid within 30 days from the date on which the relevant building
ownership certificates are issued in favour of the purchaser which is an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company (the “Jinma Industry
Park Purchaser”). The vendor shall register the title of the property
under the name of the Jinma Industry Park Purchaser on or before 31

December 2018 (or such other date as may be mutually agreed).

The Group entered into the second acquisition agreement on |5
May 2015, a supplemental agreement on |2 July 2016, the second
supplemental agreement on |7 May 2017 and the third supplemental
agreement on 3 May 2018 to purchase additional property at a
consideration of approximately RMB65,100,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$81,400,000). The property comprises 30 units
of Jinma Creative Industry Park with a total gross floor area of

approximately 5,400 square metres.

*  For identification purpose only
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©

As at 3| March 2022, the Group had obtained physical possession
of the property and paid conditionally refundable deposit in the
aggregate sum of RMB60,000,000 in accordance with the payment
terms stated in the sale and purchase agreement. The remaining
balance of the consideration of approximately RMB5, 100,000 shall be
paid within 30 days from the date on which the property is registered
under the name of the Jinma Industry Park Purchaser. The vendor shall
register the title of the property under the name of the Jinma Industry
Park Purchaser on or before 31 December 2018 (or such other date

as may be mutually agreed).

The Group entered into the third acquisition agreement on 10
November 2015, a supplemental agreement on |7 May 2017
and the second supplemental agreement on 3 May 2018 to
purchase additional property at a consideration of approximately
RMB101,600,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$122,000,000). The
property acquired, being a single-storey reinforced concrete building
designated for office and storage uses located at Block 2 of Jinma
Creative Industry Park with a total gross floor area of approximately
4,957 square metres.

As at 3| March 2022, the Group had obtained physical possession
of the property and paid conditionally refundable deposit in the
aggregate sum of RMB100,000,000 in accordance with the terms of
payment stated in the sale and purchase agreement. The remaining
balance of the consideration of approximately RMB 1,600,000 shall be
paid within 30 days from the date on which the property is registered
under the name of the Jinma Industry Park Purchaser. The vendor shall
register the title of the property under the name of the Jinma Industry
Park Purchaser on or before 31 December 2018 (or such other date

as may be mutually agreed).

For Yantian Properties (A), (B) and (C) as described above, as at the date
of this report, the vendor has still not registered the titles of the properties

under the name of the Jinma Industry Park Purchaser. The approval

from the PRC government authority for issuing the building ownership

certificates remained pending. In April 2021, the Company received the

second letter from the vendor requesting for an extension of the deadline

to 31 December 2021 for handling the matter of building ownership

certificates. However, due to the continuation of the COVID-19 pandemic,

the registration of building ownership certificates has not been completed

by the extended deadline. The Company has engaged a PRC law firm to

negotiate with the vendor to resolve this matter. The management will

continue to follow up and take appropriate actions.
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The Group reviewed the market value of Yantian Properties (A), (B) and
(C) as at 31 March 2022 with reference to a valuation report issued by an
independent qualified valuer using market approach in the assessment of
the valuation. A provision for impairment loss on deposits paid for Yantian
Properties of approximately HK$84,621,000 (2021: Reversal of impairment
loss of approximately HK$5,454,000) was made for the Year. Details of the

impairment assessment are set out in notes 3 and 24(i).

Beijing Properties

The Group entered into an acquisition agreement on 28 February 2017
to purchase (a) office premises with a gross floor area of 8,335 square
metres and (b) underground car park with a gross floor area of 3,100
square metres located in Phrase Ill of Beijing Convention and Exhibition
International Port (Exhibition Centre Ancillary Facilities) Project* (1t &
R ERERERMIEB % = ) for a consideration of approximately
RMB220,000,000 (subject to adjustment).

As at 31 March 2022, the Group paid the consideration of
RMB200,000,000 in accordance with the payment terms stated in the sale
and purchase agreement. The remaining balance of the consideration of
approximately RMB20,000,000 shall be paid upon the execution of the
pre-sale agreement between the vendor and the purchaser, an indirect
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company and the building ownership
certificate having been obtained by the purchaser. Due to the outbreak
of the COVID-19 pandemic, the construction works were temporarily
suspended for several times and the progress was significantly affected
and delayed. In the second quarter of 2022, there was an outbreak of
the COVID-19 pandemic in Beijing again, which further affected the
construction progress. In June 2022, the Company received a letter from
the vendor explaining the reasons of delay in construction works and
requesting for a further extension of handover of the properties. Currently,
the vendor has resumed the construction works and the construction
is expected to be completed on or before 3|1 December 2022. The

management will continue to follow up and take appropriate actions.

The Group reviewed the market value of Beijing Properties as at 31
March 2022 with reference to a valuation report issued by an independent
qualified valuer using market approach in assessment of the valuation. An
impairment loss on deposits paid for Beijing Properties of approximately
HK$61,847,000 (2021: HK$1,141,000) was provided for the Year.

*  For identification purpose only
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Zhejiang Properties

In 2020, the Group acquired 100% equity interest in Chi Sheng Trading
Company Limited which has a wholly-owned subsidiary in Zhejiang, the
PRC. The subsidiary holds the land use rights in respect of an industrial
land parcel with site area of approximately 31,950 square metres and a
two-storey industrial building with a total gross floor area of approximately
45,330 square metres together with another land parcel with a total site
area of approximately 74,960 square metres located in Chen Village,

Shanghua Street, Lanxi City, Jinhua, Zhejiang Province, the PRC*.

The industrial lands and building are currently leased to tenants for
rental income. The Group recorded rental income of approximately
HK$ 16,491,000 for the Year (2021: HK$13,520,000). However, some
of the tenants did not renew the tenancy agreements as the Group
understands that their business were affected by the continuation of the
COVID-19 pandemic during the Year. The management of the Zhejiang
subsidiary is actively soliciting new tenants to maintain the high occupancy

ratio.

The Group reviewed the market value of Zhejiang Properties as at 31
March 2022 with reference to a valuation report issued by an independent
qualified valuer using market approach in the assessment of the valuation.
The loss from change in fair value of Zhejiang Properties of approximately
HK$37,074,000 (2021: increment in fair value of approximately
HK$2,282,000) was recognised for the Year. Details of the valuation
method and key assumptions and the impairment assessment are set out in

note |6 to the consolidated financial statements.

Response to outbreak of the COVID-19 Pandemic

Since early 2020, the COVID-19 pandemic spread widely in the PRC
and worldwide. Facing the ongoing situation of the COVID-19 pandemic
outbreak, the Group has, in a timely manner, put in place numerous
precautionary measures and procured essential protective supplies to
ensure the health and safety of all its employees in different regions. At the
same time, during this critical period, the Group has proactively taken steps

to ensure stable operations.

*  For identification purpose only
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The Group has been coordinating with various parties from time to time
and took swift actions whenever necessary. It actively discussed with
the vendors and customers on the effect of delay in the delivery due
to the travel restrictions and movement controls imposed by the PRC
government authorities. The Group has also implemented various flexible
working arrangements for its staff. The Group has used, and will continue
to use, its best endeavors to mitigate the adverse impact of the COVID-19

pandemic on the Group.

The Group will closely monitor the development of the COVID-19
pandemic and ensure the safety of employees and stable operations. As
and when appropriate, the Group will adjust its measures and plans for
pandemic prevention, operations and business development accordingly.
The Group will make timely disclosure on any significant matters which may

arise in the future.

Environmental Policies and Performance

The Group is committed to the long term sustainability of the environment
and communities in which it operates. As a responsible corporation,
the Group has complied with all relevant laws and regulations regarding
environmental protection, health and safety, workplace conditions and
employment in all material respects. The Group has also adopted effective
measures to achieve efficient use of resources, energy saving and waste

reduction.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations
During the Year, there was no incident of material non-compliance with

any relevant laws and regulations for the Group.

Relationship with Suppliers, Customers and other
Stakeholders

During the Year, there were no material dispute between the Group and
its key stakeholders, including employees, customers, suppliers, banks,
regulators and shareholders. The Group will continue to ensure effective
communication and maintain good relationship with each of its key

stakeholders.
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PROSPECTS

Although the Group has faced challenge from the COVID-19 pandemic
and the debt crisis of some of the property developers in the PRC during
the Year, the Directors are optimistic about the economic development of
the PRC in the long run and believes that the demands for water products
and properties in the PRC will remain stable and sustainable. The Group
will continue to strengthen its competitive strength in its core business, i.e.
water business, property development and property investment business
and look for appropriate business and investment opportunities in these
areas. During the Year, the Group has also been conducting studies on
certain energy-related and natural resources projects to explore the
possibility of diversifying our businesses. The management remains open for

other business opportunities whenever the same arise.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

Save for disclosed elsewhere in this report, the Group had no material

investments during the Year.

DIVIDEND
The Board does not recommend the payment of final dividend for the Year
(2021: Nil).

FUND RAISING ACTIVITIES OF THE GROUP
Placing of Shares on 3 August 2018

The net proceeds (net of all relevant costs and expenses) from placing
of shares under specific mandate on 3 August 2018 were approximately
HK$316,500,000. Details of the placing of shares were set out in the
announcements of the Company dated |7 April 2018 and 3 August 2018
respectively and the circular of the Company dated 5 June 2018.
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Up to 31 March 2022, the Group had utilised the net proceeds as follows:

Intended use of Original allocation of ~ Actual use of

net proceeds net proceeds net proceeds

FERERECRERR FERERECREIE FERERE ERAR
% of net
HK$’million proceeds
FriemEFE
BEET [z5:)4
Capital expenditure on the 56.0 I7.7% Capital expenditure on the
production facilities of production facilities of
Hunan Xintian Hunan Xintian
MEHBLEREL HEMBEEREL
BARX BRI
Potential acquisition of 2130 67.3% Acquisition of Shenyang
business or companies Properties
ERERBRATYE RERENE
Working capital of the Group 475 15.0% Working capital of the Group
AREEEES US 3 WA
3165 100.0%

With a view to putting the Company's resources to a better use, the
Board had therefore temporarily re-allocated the aforesaid unutilised
net proceeds for the use of acquisition of Shenyang Properties in
previous years. Referring to the announcements dated 24 April 2019, |
November 2019, 7 July 2020 and | September 202 1| respectively and the
circulars dated 6 February 2020, 24 August 2020 and | November 2021
respectively, the acquisition of the Shenyang Property had been terminated
and the Group entered into supplemental agreements with Mr. Li Yuguo,
a substantial shareholder, the chairman and an executive Director of the
Company to recover the outstanding sum in relation to the termination of

the acquisition of the Shenyang Property on or before 2 July 2022.
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Remaining
balance of

Utilisation net proceeds

up to as at

Actual allocation of 31 March 31 March

net proceeds 2022 2022

B RoECCF

“E-_-f ZHA=1-H

ZR=+-B FBRERE

MERERE AR axid: ZBHE
% of net

HK$’million proceeds HK$’million HK$’million

FeREFE
BEET [R:) BEET BEER
560 17.7% 77 483
2130 67.3% 2130 -
475 15.0% 475 -
3165 100.0% 268.2 483
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The unutilised net proceeds for the use of the capital expenditure on the
production facilities of Hunan Xintian is expected to be used between
April 2022 to late 2022. The Board will deploy the unutilised net proceeds
of approximately HK$48.3 million back to the capital expenditure on

production facilities of Hunan Xintian.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 March 2022, total equity attributable to owners of the Company
was approximately HK$1,645,363,000 (2021: HK$1,974,578,000). The
decrease arose from the loss attributable to owners of the Company.
There were no other material change in the capital structure of the Group

during the Year.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 3| March 2022, the Group had total assets of approximately
HK$1,911,672,000 (2021: HK$2,275,578,000) which was financed
by current liabilities of approximately HK$163,001,000 (2021:
HK$165,214,000), non-controlling interests of approximately
HK$87,810,000 (2021: HK$102,066,000) and shareholders’ equity of
approximately HK$1,645,363,000 (202 1: HK$1,974,578,000).

As at 31 March 2022, the current ratio of the Group was approximately
5.63 (2021: 6.34). Current ratio is calculated based on current assets
divided by current liabilities.

As at 31 March 2022, the gearing ratio of the Group was approximately
0.006 (2021: 0.005). Gearing ratio is calculated based on total borrowings
divided by total equity.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS OR DISPOSALS

Save and except for those disclosed in note 42 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group has no material acquisition or disposal during the

Year.
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SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Details of significant subsequent events are set out in note 42 to the

consolidated financial statements.

EXPOSURE TO FLUCTUATION IN EXCHANGE
RATES

The Group is mainly exposed to fluctuation in the exchange rate of
RMB, arising from relevant group entities’ monetary assets and liabilities

denominated in foreign currency for the Group's operating activities.

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy
to eliminate the currency exposures. However, the management closely
monitors the relevant foreign currency exposure from time to time and will
consider hedging significant foreign currency exposures should the need

arise.

EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICY

The Group had a total of 37 (2021: 25) employees in Hong Kong and
the PRC as at 31 March 2022. The total staff cost (staff salaries, directors’
emoluments and other staff costs) for the Year amounted to approximately
HK$7,666,000 (202 1: HK$9,482,000). Remuneration packages are generally
structured with reference to market conditions and individual performance.
Apart from the mandatory provident fund and statutory retirement
benefits, the Group also provides medical benefits and subsidises

employees in various trainings and continuous education programs.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT
LIABILITIES

Save and except for those disclosed in note 35 to the consolidated
financial statements, the Group did not have any capital commitments and

contingent liabilities as at 31 March 2022.
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FINANCIAL GUARANTEE CONTRACTS

Save and except for those disclosed in note 36 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group did not have other financial guarantee contracts as
at 31 March 2022.

CHARGES ON GROUP’S ASSETS

The Group did not create any charges over its assets as at 3|1 March 2022.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to express
my gratitude to our shareholders and business associates for their ongoing
support and extend our appreciation to our management team and staff

members for their contributions in the year.

By order of the Board

Li Yuguo

Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 June 2022
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEERE

The Directors of the Company present their annual report and the audited

consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 39 to the

consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2022 are set out
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive

income on pages 72 to 73.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy (“Dividend Policy”), pursuant
to which the Company may distribute dividends to the shareholders of the
Company by way of cash or shares. Any distribution of dividends shall be
in accordance with the Bye-laws of the Company and the distribution shall

achieve continuity, stability and sustainability.

The recommendation of any dividend is subject to the discretion of the
Board, and any declaration of final dividend will be subject to the approval
of the shareholders. In proposing any dividend payout, the Board shall also
take into account, inter alia, the Group's earnings per share, the reasonable
return in investment of the investors and the shareholders in order to
provide incentive to them to continue to support the Group in their long-
term development, the financial conditions and business plan of the Group,

and the market sentiment and circumstances.
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The Dividend Policy will be reviewed from time to time and there is no
assurance that a dividend will be proposed or declared in any specific

periods.

The Board does not recommend the payment of final dividend for the year
ended 3| March 2022.

SHARE CAPITAL

As at 31 March 2022, the total number of issued ordinary shares of the
Company was 7,611,690,000 (2021: 7,611,690,000). Details of the share
capital of the Company are set out in note 30 to the consolidated financial

statements.

SHARE OPTIONS

During the year ended 31 March 2022, there was no share option granted,
exercised, lapsed or cancelled. As at 31 March 2022, there were no

outstanding share options.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the Group's business during the year ended 31 March 2022
are set out in the paragraph headed “"BUSINESS REVIEW" under “BOARD
OF DIRECTOR'S STATEMENT, MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND
ANALYSIS” which forms part of this Directors’ Report.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group’s has identified the principal risks and uncertainties in the
industries in which the Group operates. The risks and uncertainties may

affect the operations and results of the Group. The principal risks and

uncertainties include but not limited to the followings:

Risk factors and uncertainties

BEREERTEEREE

(1) Revenue relied heavily on sales and leasing of
properties
WA BEEYEIHEREE

(2) Affected by various factors such as change in
policies of the PRC government, slowdown of the
PRC's economic growth and change in consumers’
preference, the property market in the PRC became
sluggish
XPEBAERREL  PEKERERERER
HEENNESLERNEZE  TRMEMER
GE]

TERRREAHBEE
AREEHIFEECEFETENEER
B RTHEARE - REARRTHBEET
RYEREENEEREE - REIEAR
BRBEE R EATRA A TEE :

Risk Responses

[ Bz [E] e

Apart from the property development and property
investment businesses, the Group is also developing the
water business in Hunan. The water factory in Hunan is
under construction and is expected to be completed by
the end of 2022. At the same time, the Group is also
actively looking for other potential investment projects and
commodity trading businesses to expand the source of
revenue and diversify our business.
RMEBRREMERERBGI  AEETFIERHEER
IKER - LR AEEVKBIEERRE Bt E-_T -
ERRT - R - AEBETEEVEEMEENNERE
BENMEREZER - AEARARER  LEXHES
T -

The Group pays close attention to the latest policies,
news and market trends relating to the property market
in the PRC from time to time, and formulates appropriate
business strategies in a timely manner to ensure that business
operations are in line with changes in the social, political,
economic and legal environment. The Group will continue
to implement its strategic development and strengthen
penetration and coverage in different regional markets to
reduce reliance on any specific market.
AEETREZYEETEDEDSEAOBER  HER
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DEare  BUs  KERERRENEL - AEEKE
BEMEARBERRE  NAENTERERTISN2ENE
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Risk factors and uncertainties Risk Responses

EEER TEREREE [ B =] P

(3) Failure to retain the land use rights in the PRC The Group pays close attention to the latest land policies of
REGAREE AL A B A 1 b 50 F the PRC government and maintains communication with the

relevant authorities to protect our land use rights.
AEBE T REF BB S LR R - TREA R B
FIRFFER - WIREE L0 2 R -

(4) Failure to anticipate and keep pace with the change The management closely monitors the operation plans of the
in consumers’ preferences, perception and spending water factory in Hunan and studies the consumers’ demands
patterns relating to bottled water products for the bottled water products. We are planning different
REFBRME LHBEHMEKERNSHT - & sales and marketing strategies aiming to launch our bottled
EIHEEA N water products to the market precisely and successfully.

EEETIEEMRAEAKE 2 EEE - WHTTH
BEUWREKERNTR - RMALEFETROHEE R
IR - B SRR B KE B E R INIT AT

35 o

Further, the Group’s activities are exposed to a variety of financial risks: BE AEENETIEmYSBMERR - W
market risk (including currency risk, cash flow and fair value interest rate R (BEEERR  ReEnERATFER
risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group's overall risk management KER) EERBRRABDERER - AKE
framework also takes into account the unpredictability of financial markets BEROARERERDERIEHTHENT
and seeks to minimize potential adverse effects on the Group's financial AIFEAIM - WERSEREERNEEN KR
performance. The details are set out in note 5 to the consolidated financial REEETFZE - FHBEHNGRE M EHRE
statements. BHRES o
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended), the contributed
surplus of the Company is available for distribution to shareholders.
However, a company shall not declare or pay a dividend, or make a

distribution out of contributed surplus, if:

(i) itis, or would after the payment be, unable to pay its liabilities as they

become due: or

(i) the realisable value of its assets would thereby be less than the
aggregate of its liabilities and its issued share capital and share

premium accounts.

The Company has deficit at 31 March 2022 which comprises contributed
surplus of approximately HK$180,057,000 less accumulated losses of
approximately HK$2,314,351,000. Accordingly, the Company has no
reserves available for distribution to shareholders as at 31 March 2022.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the year ended 31 March 2022 are set out in note |7 to the

consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE
CONTRACTS

The Directors of the Company during the year ended 31 March 2022 and
up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Li Yuguo

Mr. Liu Yan Chee James
Ms. Guo Yumei

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Yang Xiaogiang
Mr. Huang Yilin

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Ba Junyu

Mr. Zhu Xueyi

Mr. Wong Chung Man
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In accordance with Bye-Law 87(1) of the Company’s Bye-laws, Ms. Guo
Yumei, Mr. Yang Xiaogiang and Mr. Zhu Xueyi will retire by rotation at the
forthcoming annual general meeting, and, being eligible, offer themselves

for re-election as Directors at the annual general meeting.

The term of office of each of the Independent Non-executive Directors is
three years subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual

general meetings as required by the Company's Bye-laws.

None of the Directors has any unexpired service contract with the
Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Group
within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory

compensation.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests and Short
Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debenture
of the Company or associated corporations

As at 3| March 2022, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and chief executives of the Company in the shares, underlying shares
and debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(“SFO")), as recorded in the register maintained by the Company under
Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Companies as set out in Appendix 10 (the “Model
Code") to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock

Exchange (the “Listing Rules™) were as follows:
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Long positions in shares, underlying shares

debentures of the Company

Name of directors

EEfA

Li Yuguo

FEH

Yang Xiaogiang

%/ N8

Liu Yan Chee James
2125

Huang Yilin

IR

Note:

The percentages calculated are based on the total number of issued shares of the Company of

7,611,690,000 Shares as at 31 March 2022.

Capacity

-5

Beneficial owner
BERERA
Beneficial owner
ERERA
Beneficial owner
EREBA
Beneficial owner

EamEAA

and RERFRLG - HEKGREEEZ

#E

Number of issued

ordinary shares held

BEZ
2B
EEREA
2,268,000,000
354,820,000

104,800,000

70,000

Approximately
percentage of the
issued share capital
of the Company
(Note)

RN
EBRTREZ
BMOBEDH

(HfEE)

29.80%

4.66%

1.38%

0.00%

ZEADLDRBEARRAN_ZE-__F=A=+—HZE

BTN 42287,611,690,00008 PR 51 & ©
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2022, none of the Directors or
the chief executives of the Company or their associates had any interests
or short positions in any shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be kept under
Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME
The share option scheme adopted by the Company on |4 January 2002

was terminated on 9 August 201 | and a new share option scheme (the
“2011 Share Option Scheme') was adopted by the Company on 9 August
2011, which shall be valid and effective for |0 years commencing from the

date of adoption.

Reference is also made to the circular of the Company dated 2 August
2018. On 31 August 2018, an ordinary resolution was duly passed by the
shareholders at the annual general meeting of the Company approving,
inter alia, the refreshment of the scheme limit under the 2011 Share
Option Scheme. The refreshed scheme limit was 761,169,000 shares. On
9 August 2021, the 201 | Share Option Scheme expired.

As at 31 March 2022, there was no outstanding share options and no new

share option scheme was adopted.

2011 Share Option Scheme

The 2011 Share Option Scheme was adopted for the purposes of
recognition of significant contribution of and for the provision of incentives
to any directors, employees (whether full-time or part-time), consultants,
customers, suppliers, agents, partners or advisors of or contractors to the

Group or affiliates (“Eligible Persons”).
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Under the terms of the 201 | Share Option Scheme, the Board of Directors
of the Company may grant option to the Eligible Persons for a nominal
consideration of HK$ | to subscribe for shares in the Company at a price
of no less than the higher of (i) the closing price of the Company's shares
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of
offer of the option (which must be a business day); (i) the average closing
price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
sheets for the five business days immediately preceding the date of offer
of the option. Options granted under the 2011 Share Option Scheme
must be taken up within 28 business days from the date on which the
offer is made by returning a written acceptance of the offer signed by the
Eligible Persons together with the payment of HK$!| (the “Acceptance
Conditions”). Options granted and accepted may be exercised at any time
for 10 years commencing on the date on which an option is accepted in
accordance with the Acceptance Conditions under the 201 | Share Option
Scheme (the "Option Period”). Options granted under the said scheme
will be exercisable in the Option Period notwithstanding that the 201 |
Share Option Scheme does not prescribe any minimum period for which an
option must be held before it can be exercised and does not specify that
the exercise of an option is subject to any performance target.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all options to be granted under the 201 | Share Option Scheme cannot
exceed 10% of the issued share capital of the Company at the date of
adoption of the 201 | Share Option Scheme, excluding any options lapsed
in accordance with the terms of the 201 | Share Option Scheme and any
other share option schemes.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the 201 | Share
Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company
shall not, in aggregate, exceed 30% of the total number of shares in issue
from time to time. Option will not be granted to any Eligible Persons if
the exercise in full of all options, including any unexercised options and
shares already issued under all previous options granted, would in the
|2-month period up to and including the date of such further grant enable
that relevant Eligible Person to have shares exceeding 1% of the issued
shares of the Company for the time being unless separate approval by the
shareholders of the Company in general meeting is obtained.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed above in respect of the Directors’ interests in securities
and share options, at no time during the year ended 3| March 2022, was
the Company or any of its subsidiaries, a party to any arrangement to
enable the Directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in, or debt securities (including debentures) of, the

Company or any other body corporate.

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 March 2022, so far as was known to the Directors and the chief
executives of the Company, the following persons (other than any director
and chief executives of the Company) who had interests or short positions
in the shares and underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part
XV of the SFO, or as recorded in the register to be kept by the Company
under Section 336 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange:

Long positions in shares and underlying shares of the
Company

Name of shareholder Capacity

RRER -3

Li Yuguo Beneficial owner
FXE EaEAA

Note: The percentages calculated are based on the total number of issued shares of the

Company of 7,61 1,690,000 Shares as at 3| March 2022.
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Save as disclosed above, the Company had not been notified and is not
aware of any other person who had an interest or short position in the
shares or underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO
as having an interest of 5% or more in the issued shares capital of the

Company as at 31 March 2022.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in this report, there were no transaction, arrangement or
contracts of significance to which the Company, its holding company or any
of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director of the Company had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the

year or at any time during the year ended 31 March 2022.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Termination of the Acquisition of Properties

Asiaciti Investment Limited (“Asiaciti”)(as purchaser), an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into sale and purchase
agreement on |2 October 2017 (the “Sale and Purchase Agreement”)
with BEREEZEHFRAF](as vendor), to purchase the properties
comprising Floors 7 to 35 of Building T3 situated at 46 Nanjing North
Street, Heping District, Shenyang City, Liaoning Province, PRC under the
Shenyang Commodity Housing Pre-sale Permit No. 16122 for a total
consideration of RMB625,000,000 (subject to adjustment). The vendor was
a company incorporated in the PRC with limited liability and beneficially
owned by Mr. Li Yuguo (“Mr. Li"), a substantial shareholder, the Chairman

and an Executive Director of the Company.

On 24 April 2019, the vendor and Asiaciti entered into a termination
agreement (the “Termination Agreement”), pursuant to which, (i)
the parties have mutually agreed to terminate the Sale and Purchase
Agreement and no parties shall have claims against each other; and (i) on
or prior to 24 October 2019, the vendor shall refund a total amount of
RMB562,500,000 paid by Asiaciti (the “Refund Amount”) and shall pay a
lump sum of RMBI 1,250,000, being 2% of the Refund Amount, to Asiaciti

as monetary compensation.
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On | November 2019, Asiaciti and Mr. Li entered into a supplemental
agreement (the “Supplemental Agreement”), pursuant to which, Mr. Li
agreed to assume the responsibilities to repay the Refund Amount and
the related compensation and interests to Asiaciti. Asiaciti agreed to
extend the repayment date to 24 April 2020, with an interest rate of
5.25% per annum. On 22 January 2020 and 27 February 2020, Asiaciti
and Mr. Li agreed to extend and further extend the long stop date for
the Supplemental Agreement to 29 February 2020 and |5 March 2020
respectively.

On 3 July 2020, Asiaciti and Mr. Li entered into a further supplemental
agreement (the “Further Supplemental Agreement”), pursuant to which,
Mr. Li agreed to repay Asiaciti the outstanding amount in the sum of
RMB584,778,676.47 in the following manner: (a) 10% of the outstanding
sum shall be repaid on or before 2 January 2021; and (b) 90% of the
outstanding sum together with the interest to be accrued on the
outstanding sum at an interest rate of 10% per annum shall be repaid on or
before 2 July 2021.

On 26 August 2021 and | September 2021, Asiaciti and Mr. Li entered
into the second and third further supplemental agreements respectively
(together the “Amended Second Further Supplemental Agreement”),
pursuant to which, Mr. Li agreed to repay Asiaciti the remaining outstanding
amount of RMB559,538,859.19 (the “Outstanding Sum") together with the
interest to be accrued on the Outstanding Sum at an interest rate of 10%
per annum on or before 2 July 2022. On 28 October 2021, Asiaciti and Mr.
Li agreed to extend the long stop date for the Amended Second Further
Supplemental Agreement to 30 November 202 1.

Details of the above transactions were disclosed in the announcements of
the Company dated 12 October 2017, 24 April 2019, | November 2019,
22 January 2020, 27 February 2020, 29 April 2020, 8 May 2020, 7 July 2020,
7 July 2021, | September 2021 and 28 October 2021, and the circulars of
the Company dated 22 January 2018, 6 February 2020, 24 August 2020 and
| November 2021 respectively.

As at 3| March 2022, the Group has received from Mr. Li a total sum of
RMB103,756,369.16. Subsequent to the end of the Year, the Group further
received RMB520,304,964.95 from Mr. Li.
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The Supplemental Agreement, the Further Supplemental Agreement
and the Amended Second Further Supplemental Agreement constituted
connected transactions under Chapter [4A of the Listing Rules. The
Supplemental Agreement, the Further Supplemental Agreement and
Amended Second Further Supplemental Agreement were approved by the
independent shareholders at the special general meetings of the Company
held on 3 March 2020, I5 September 2020 and 18 November 2021
respectively.

Save as disclosed above, the Board is not aware of any related party
transactions during the year ended 31 March 2022, which constituted a
non-exempt connected transaction or continuing connected transaction of
the Company under Chapter |4A of the Listing Rules.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions of the Group are set out in note 38
to the consolidated financial statements.

Save as disclosed in the paragraph headed “CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS”
above, certain related party transactions set out in note 38 to the
consolidated financial statements constituted connected transactions of
the Company but were fully exempted from the reporting, annual review,
announcement and independent shareholders’ approval requirements
under Chapter [4A of the Listing Rules.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the year ended 3| March 2022, the Group had not made any
charitable donations (2021: Nil).

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

The directors’ and officers’ liability insurance maintained by the Company
has expired on 20 May 2018. As the Company has not yet reached an
agreement with an insurer regarding the terms and insurance premium of
new insurance policy, the insurance cover in respect of legal action which
may be taken against the Directors of the Company has not been in place
since 21 May 2018. The Company will continue to liaise with the insurer on
the same.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing
shares or that require the Company to enter into any agreements that
will or may result in the Company issuing shares were entered into by the
Company during the year ended 31 March 2022 or subsisted at the end of
the Year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company was entered into or
existed during the Year.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the revenue attributable to the
Group's largest customer accounted for approximately 47.7% (2021:
24.1%) of the Group’s total revenue and the revenue attributable to the
Group's five largest customers accounted for approximately 85.3% (2021:
52.7%) of the Group’s total revenue.

During the year ended 3| March 2022, the costs incurred in respect of the
Group's largest supplier accounted for approximately 56.0% (2021: 43.6%)
of the Group’s total cost of sales and the costs incurred in respect of the
Group's five largest suppliers accounted for approximately 84.2% (2021:
66.3%) of the Group’s total cost of sales.

At no time during the year ended 31 March 2022, did a director, a close
associate of a director or a shareholder of the Company, which to the
knowledge of the directors owned more than 5% of the Company’s
issued share capital, have an interest in any of the five largest suppliers or

customers of the Group.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the Year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,

sold or redeemed any of the Company's listed securities.

REMUNERATION POLICY

The remuneration policy of the employees of the Group is formulated on
the basis of their merit, qualifications and competence. Apart from the
mandatory provident fund and statutory retirement benefits, the Group
also provides medical benefits and sponsored employees in different

training and continuous education program.

The remuneration of the Directors of the Company are determined, having
regard to the Company's operating results, individual performance and
comparable market statistics.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s Bye-
laws, or the laws of Bermuda, which would oblige the Company to offer

new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.
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TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to

shareholders by reason of their holding of the shares of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the year ended 31 March 2022, none of the Directors or any of
their respective close associates has engaged in any business that competes
or may compete with the business of the Group or has any other conflict

of interests with the Group.

CHANGE OF INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

The change in the information of the Directors of the Company since the
publication of the interim report of the Company for the six months ended
30 September 2021 required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(I) of

the Listing Rules is set out below:

0 Mr. Li Yuguo resigned as the chief executive officer of Future Bright
Mining Holdings Limited (Stock code: 2212) with effect from 23 May
2022.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

The Company has maintained a sufficient public float throughout the year
ended 31 March 2022.

AUDITORS

A resolution to re-appoint Lau & Au Yeung C.P.A. Limited and to authorise
the Directors to fix their remuneration will be proposed at the 2022 annual

general meeting.

On behalf of the Board
Li Yuguo

Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 June 2022
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BN 2B AR

STEISEHABRAT

LAU ’ 2IEREZEEE g
LAU & AU YEUNG C.P.A. LIMITED

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
ASIA RESOURCES HOLDINGS LIMITED

(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Asia Resources
Holdings Limited (the "Company”) and its subsidiaries (together, the
“Group”) set out on pages 72 to 214, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 March 2022, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,

including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March
2022, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong

Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to

provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate

opinion on these matters.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED) ERETSE(E)

How our audit addressed the key audit

Key audit matters matter
HEETER BN ETNIEREZERETEER

Impairment assessment of properties under development and completed properties held for sale

BREPURRIFFELE 2B R ZBEF

Refer to Notes 21 and 22 to the consolidated financial statements.

2R E M HRR M2 K22 -

The Group has provided an impairment loss of approximately Our procedures in relation to management's
HK$242,539,000 on properties under development during the year assessment of impairment loss of properties
ended 3| March 2022 and the Group had completed properties held for under development and completed properties
sale of approximately HK$77,950,000 as at 31 March 2022. held for sale included:

BE_T_—_F-A=+t—"HLFE SREZRSEBRTVER HAMNUREEEHZERDPYERFIELEZ
WREEER2425390008 T EEER T _F=A=+—  ERRVEIREBEREZFEERAZRE

B EREHE 2 BE& K EEA77,950,0008 7T EaE
Management assessed the impairment loss of properties under * Assessing the reasonableness of

development and completed properties held for sale based on an key assumptions and estimates in

management’s assessment, including:

c AEEERIREERTGHRMETHS

involves considerable analyses of estimated costs to completion and
4 P Bl B

estimation of the net realisable value of the underlying properties. This

committed contracts and expected future sales price based on prevailing

market conditions such as current market prices of comparable standards * expected future sales prices which
and locations. we compared to contracted sales
ERERBEBYEZGAAISRFETEERDPYERBIELE prices eff i U”d?'"'yi”g ProPem.eS or
ZEERDEZ RERE - B S RHRETRARADZ A i i
AR ERE B R (PI0ATE e BB RATE 2 % B ) 2 Bk £ 1 kg S
where applicable; an
REEZABA - b
=\

. MEHPHAREBHEBBYENELY
EBRUTELBIZERMNE ZME
VERITE(EA)ETLHER : &
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key audit matters

HAREETER

EARETE IR ()

How our audit addressed the key audit

matter

BN ETNIEREZERETEER

Impairment assessment of properties under development and completed properties held for sale (continued)

BREDWERBEHE 2 CERYE ZRETMG ()

If the actual net realisable values of the underlying stock of properties
fluctuate from those values estimated as a result of changes in market
condition, material reversal of or provision for impairment losses on
properties under development and completed properties held for sale
may result.
HEMMEFENERTZRFERATREEMEZFATEET
Rl AR Re B U ERTYELFELEZERRMELETENRE
R D Ak -

Due to the significance of properties under development and completed
properties held for sale, the estimation uncertainty and management
judgement, we considered this a key audit matter.
HRERTYERFELEZEZXNYENEENE - HtOTHEE
HEREEEHE - RAR BT ERETFE -

* anticipated costs to completion
and committed contracts which we
compared to latest approved budgets
on total construction costs and checked
to supporting documentation.

- BETMAEANNBEKAEE
BENAEERNAREETHER
REERBAXM -

We found that management's assessment
of impairment loss of properties under
development and completed properties held
for sale is supported by the available evidence.
BRACEREREHBRRTYENBELE
ZBEERMERERE BT ENHE B
AR ©
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key audit matters

HAREEER

EAgETSEH(E)

How our audit addressed the key audit

matter

BN ETNAREZBERESSE

Impairment assessment of water mining licence included in intangible assets

FFABEEE 2 BKEZBERN

Refer to Note 19 to the consolidated financial statements.

2HERE M MERMEEI9 ©

As at 31 March 2022, the carrying amounts of the water mining licence
included in intangible assets was approximately HK$287,203,000.
RIZB-—F=ZA=+—B S ABHREEZRKBZEHEOR
287,203,000/ 7T °

As detailed in note |9 to the consolidated financial statements,
commercial production of bottled mineral water has not yet commenced
during the year.

RS ISR MG 19FTA - SR AR R K HO B 3R AR EE Y A 1) R A
Ll

The Group is required to consider any indication of impairment on the
water mining licence at the end of each reporting period. Management
determined the recoverable amount of the water mining licence based
on the fair value estimated by an independent external valuer who used
multi period excess earnings method, in which key assumptions included
expected price of bottled mineral water, net profit margin and discount
rate.
BEEEANE
fBEmMERZ
KiERKZTBY
Bl &8

WEHREBEKENEAIRETR - RIFBLNE
BB ARG 2 A FEEFNEIERREER
AER  ARERFER)  EEBEERKEZ TR
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Our procedures in relation to impairment

assessment of water mining licence included:

HBEOKEAEZREMEZIEF R

* Assessing the appropriateness of valuation
methodology, key assumptions and
estimates used based on general conditions
of the bottled mineral water industry;

o REBEMEBRRKITEZ — BTG P
ERAMMBERZE  TERKRMGES
B

* Evaluating the competence, capabilities,
objectivity and independence of the
management's expert; and

- HEEEBERZKEE BN BB
KB R
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED) BARETSE(E)

How our audit addressed the key audit

Key audit matters matter

HAREEER BN ETNAREZBERESSE

Impairment assessment of water mining licence included in intangible assets (continued)

FFABEEE 2 BKEZBER M ()

This area was significant to our audit due to the significance of the * Checking the key assumptions including
balances, and the fact that management’s assessment of the recoverable expected price of bottled mineral water,
amount of the balances involved significant judgement. net profit margin and discount rate against
HRBBFFTEAREEEFARB RS REAHE - industry data.

HHESEEEZER - - BRUTXBBEERIERR(BERER

FOKZ FERRER ~ ANERIEEK) o

We found that the key assumptions were

supported by the available evidence.

BRPEEEXI2BRRDAEAK -
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED) BERETSE(E)

How our audit addressed the key audit

Key audit matters matter
HEETER BN ETONIEEZERETEE

Impairment assessment of interests in associates

REE QT 2z R ER L

Refer to Note 20 to the consolidated financial statements.
SRR G WG FE20 ©

The Group has 20% equity interests in Hong Kong Spring Water Ding Our procedures in relation to management'’s
Dong Group Company Limited and its wholly-owned subsidiary in impairment assessment of interests in
Guangxi, which are presented as interests in associates under the equity associates included:

method. The principal activities of the associates are production and HMEREREBEBE N R) 2 ERFTERR
sales of bottled water. As at 31 March 2022, the interests in associates B EMRF A

amounted to approximately HK$147,000,000, the related share of losses

of the associates was approximately HK$ 14,366,000 and the impairment * Assessing the competence, capabilities,
loss on the interests in associates was approximately HK$29,395,000. objectivity and independence of the
EEERBEBRKTREBEERAFIRAEAZEMBE R R Z20% management's expert;

Pt WIRBHZEARRBERRZERET - ML QBN ETRER - FMEEEBER KRB BN FEKE
REERHEREK R-T-_F=A=+—H REERFAZ KB

2R %) 147,000,000 7T + HE D (b 328 &R R BB 5 14,366,0007
TC M BERA B R B) 2 B AR B 518 4 529,395,00078 7T ©
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key audit matters

HAEEITER

Impairment assessment of interests in associates (continued)

REE N8z SRR ET (&)

The management performed impairment assessment of interests in
associates with the use of valuation performed by an independent
professional external valuer based on the value in use calculation.
The valuation requires the application of significant judgement and
estimation by the management in determining the appropriate valuation
methodology, use of assumptions and judgements.
EEERNEE QR 2 ETRENE - TIERBLE IR
ERMZEREBEFEEGHZGAE HEFZEEERBERAL
KfhEr - WREEE 2 BETE - ERBRR LA -

EARETE IR ()

How our audit addressed the key audit

matter

BN ETONIEEZERETEE

* Assessing the appropriateness of valuation
methodology, key assumptions and
estimates used based on the general
conditions of the bottled water industry;
and

« RBREKITRZ —BRARRFEAER
MEESE  TEBRRRMEFESS
RIS

* Checking the key assumptions including
expected price of bottled water, gross
profit margin and discount rate against
industry data.

- BOXBEBEEREIZRI(BEMEK
ZTEHER - EMERIFRE) -

We found that the key assumptions were
supported by the available evidence.

BAECEEERBRIBEAK -
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key audit matters

HAREEITER

EARESTEIE(E)

How our audit addressed the key audit

matter

BN ETNIEEZERETEE

Impairment assessment on deposit paid for the acquisition of Shenyang Properties

RUEEENEZFNERS ZBEG

Refer to Note 24 to the consolidated financial statements.
SHRA T BREM 24 -

As at 3| March 2022, the carrying amount of deposit paid for the
acquisition of Shenyang Properties (“Deposit Paid") and related
compensation and interest receivable (“Receivables”) were
approximately HK$584,234,000 and HK$ 146,901,000 respectively.
R-ZZE-—F=ZA=+—H  BURBESGYENNZS (2R
) REENRUEEREANE([RER]) 2 REENODIOR
584,234,000/ 7T & 146,901,000/8 7T

As detailed in note 24(ii) to the consolidated financial statements,
termination agreement was signed on 24 April 2019 to terminate the
transaction. Mr. Li Yuguo, the substantial shareholder, agreed to repay
the Deposits Paid and Receivables in a supplemental agreement on
| November 2019.

BANER G IS A M 24(D AT - RIEBBRE RN =T —NFMA
ZHHEER  URIERSG - BT -NEF T A BRI HE
o TERRFERELRBEES MRS REKK -

The Group is required to consider any indication of impairment on the
Deposit Paid and Receivables. Assessing the impairment of such assets is a
judgemental area which involved significant management’s judgement and
estimation in forecasting future economic conditions.
EEEAZEENES NERFANEMRETR - FHEREEZ
BB N B B 3 TR RIR SR A O A th B9 B K ) B B (R FRORIR
HRAEEARDL ©
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Our procedures in relation to impairment
assessment of Deposit Paid and Receivables
included:
BMERENZE RERYGRARER 212
e

* Assessing whether the fair value of
securities provided is sufficient to cover the
Deposit Paid and Receivables;

- FHEFTRHEZEARNAFERTS BN
HEHD MRS KKK

* Discussing with management and
evaluating available information about the
status of the substantial shareholder.

« REBRRNBENEEIEE MG
AR -

We found that management’s assessment of
recoverability of Deposit Paid and Receivables
is supported by available evidence.
HPEEEEEEREMRE REUKE AT
WEIRE 2 E BB A



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BN 2B AR

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our

auditors’ report thereon (“Other Information™).

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the Other Information and we do not express any form of assurance

conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the Other Information and, in doing so,
consider whether the Other Information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
Other Information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to

report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS
AND THE AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. In preparing the consolidated
financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group's
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease

operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee are responsible for overseeing the Group's financial

reporting process.

Hib & ¥
BERRESAHEMENAE - HtLERE
BRERANER ETBEFEMBHRRK
HAAIE BB R E ([ EHR )

BPEGEEMBEHRRNERY NREEMBE
B B A HZEEMERBERTMER

HRAE A

BABMEEEUBHRENET - BAANE
TEMEEGBEN  ZEREGBENES ELR
EUBHRRRBPIERTRETRTHENE
REFEEREELEUFFEERNE R
BB o RIFFAPIFT A THE - PR R
ZHEMERFEEARERERL - B FIAR
E%EE - BRI AT EES -

EERERZESHRSHMTE
WERWEFE

BERRESARRBEE LGOS HEMAN
BEMBEREENREEREEDI K ER
EmRHBEEMT B2 HRE - LHE
ERBREFEMBRENBENFEHAR
B SERMEBMNERHERRAMFNA
MEHEE  EREGAVBHRRE  BF
BEME BEEEFELEMEN  YEE
ABERATHREESBEERRNERNER
REKEZIFTER RIEFEAER BR
BERHRILEE  SFEEGERERNER

REEGREEE BESBEZUMBHmER
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'’S REPORT
BN 2B AR

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as
a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act
1981, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users

taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We

also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,

misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
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RN E T R A B IS Rk
E2EE

BB BRRUGAMBERREBRL TR
FERPIRFFR R M E B A RERAE
SAERE  THABERMER ZZEED
HE - RFER BTUESRRIRRER
ZE—NN\—(RRPR)E0MFRE - KRtk zoh
BERBEBEMEN - RPTERAREZA
AAEMEMALTA ERAREREE - &
BRERRKFZRE  ETERERRE
BB ERIEIT R RERBMEFEL
ERHRBRL o $5 3R BR At 7T 88 b AR S B AR
S MAEEHME BN ERLSTHRA L
FESAVBBRRERERBERZFVHERER
P 2 EBRTE - BB B2 85 aR PR A] 4%
BRERK -

ERBRBEENENETERT ZBRES - &
PREMR T EXHE - RETHEXEREE -
BAIIN -

« BRI RFHEARRFFRERMEBRS
MBI EFEERERRALZ AR
AARHITEAREF AR ELRR -
REBGE R MEE 2 EARE  FRE
Mz RER ARRFFAES RS
RoRE FRER ERRAIZER
M EBIESIZ £ - B R AE S IREBGEF M
BYZEBANBRBE BB SN ARERE
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B A2 EN RS

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on

the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made

by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report
to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date
of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may

cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

RN E T R A M IS AR
E2EEE)

TR EREGH AR 2 MBS - LARRETE
BEZEMERF EBEMLEYE H5H
NEBEH 2 BEHEBERER

HEEEMERASF R 2R EERIE
SRt RIBBAREZ A -

HEERARKERKE S ERZRE X
e - IRIBPAERZ BAHEE

ERAFERFSHEIBRAEBIERT
HMEMN  KmAkERYE BEREZF
BREENEEERRE - GHARR
FHEEATEEN - MIACEEZEM
BETSIREREIEFEEMBRRL
HEARE BREFHIEETR  BIRK
PMEZEEIER - RAZEmEERE
ERHBERE B LG 2 BEFHEE ©
A ARFEKBAATLER BEE

B TRESELE o
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'’S REPORT
BN 2B AR

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair

presentation.

. Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the

group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we

identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and
to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,

actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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BB E T R R B R
E2EE(E)
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BN 2B AR

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE R EN BT 458 MRS R R A&
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL E2EE(E)

STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we WEEZETESBEBNEFIEF - BT
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the LWERHABEGAEVERERNETRAE
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore E EMEKEEESEE - BIEZEA
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report MEPHMELER  RIBPEEEIRTA
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or AHRABEBEELEE N ERFRNBER
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should T MREEEHERMBESHERESE
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of ERMBAEARBBREEN AR - B
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest PIRENEEREFBRBZEE -

benefits of such communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent HERBIZEMBENEZEEES AR

auditor’s report is Au Yeung Tin Wah. FHRZE o

Lau & Au Yeung C.P.A. Limited WG ETMEBRERAF
Certified Public Accountants HESEHRD

Au Yeung Tin Wah Bk K&

Practising Certificate Number: P02343 HMEFBEREI - P02343

Hong Kong, 29 June 2022 BB T HA=1TNA
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

meEa kA AtEmEmRER

For the year ended 31 March 202 HE—ZT - —F=A=+—HILtFE

2022 2021
—E=-= —FT—F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Btat TET FAT

Revenue A 7 32,920
Cost of sales HEXA (16,471)
Gross profit EH 17,064 16,449
Other gains Eofth W o 8 125,692 107,508
Other losses H 518 9 (49) (41
Selling and distribution expenses HE MDA (3,001) (2,641)
Administrative expenses TR X (26,777) (26,277)
Share of results of associates DIREE R B EE (14,366) (10,195)
Provision for impairment loss on EREEREEERE

intangible assets 19 (40,504) =
(Provision for)/reversal of impairment loss on B 1% & 2 M EE1E

deposits paid (), E# (150,795) 4313
Provision for impairment loss on properties ¥R Y2 2 BB E 18 BE

under development (242,539) -
(Provision for)/reversal of impairment loss on  #{EH & 2 B W 2 RE

completed properties held for sale B8 (BE), /m# (10,604) 856
Provision for impairment loss on interests REFE R E] 2 Y

in associates EEBEREE 20 (29,395) -
Provision for impairment loss on H b U BRI

other receivables BEEEREE (1,952) -
(Loss)/gain from changes in fair value of BEMERNTFEZBRMGE

investment properties (B8),/ e 16 (37,074) 2,282
Gain on bargain purchase =B R 33 - 1,856
Reversal of provision for land value added tax = 34 {5 %5 % 15 0] £ 20,188 -
Finance costs BhE A 10 (1,052) (1,261)
(Loss)/profit before taxation BREBLAT(E518), R T Il 92,849
Taxation THIE 14 (2,155)
(Loss)/profit for the year KFEE(FER) EF 90,694
Other comprehensive income, Hit2EKZE  BRBLE

net of tax
Share of other comprehensive income of DR E QR E AL 2 E G

associates (55)
Exchange differences on translating BEBINEREEZERZ5

foreign operations 72,288
Other comprehensive income for the year, NEFEMEPEEE - REE

net of tax 72,233
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

meBEmkEMEERER

For the year ended 31 March 202 HE — T - —F=A=+—HItFE

2022 2021
—E-CfF —F—F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Btat TET FAT
Total comprehensive income AEE2HNRERE
for the year (343,471) 162,927
(Loss)/profit attributable to: FEfE (E1B) s -
Owners of the Company KRTRHEBA 15 91,264
Non-controlling interest FEEAR (570)
90,694
Total comprehensive income attributable to:  E{R & EIURZS 4258 ¢
Owners of the Company RATIHEA A 163,050
Non-controlling interest SRR A (123)
162,927
HK$
BT
(Loss)/earnings per share attributable ZQREEAEBLER
to owners of the Company (&1]|),BF
— Basic and diluted — EARR#EE 15 0012

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated BEMt 2 s B E A MEmik 2 —2p o
financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e AR AR

Asat 3| March 202 R=_ZE - —_F=H=+—H

Non-current assets
Investment properties
Property, plant and equipment
Right-of-use assets
Intangible assets
Interests in associates

Deposits paid

Current assets
Properties under development
Completed properties held for sale
Trade receivables
Prepayments, deposits and
other receivables
Amount due from an associate
Amount due from non-controlling interests
Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss
Restricted bank deposits

Bank balances and cash

Current liabilities
Trade payables
Other payables and accruals
Contract liabilities
Lease liabilities

Tax payable

Net current assets

Total assets less current liabilities

FRBEE
BREMFE

ME -~ BB R&
EREEE
BVEE

N NCIP:- 5
BEftEE

RBEE

BRPME
FIEHEZEERME
B 5 IR
BNRE B2k
Hofth e Y B K

U — B & N A2 FUR
JE W SE 22 B A 25 3K IR
BoFEFARTEZ
TREE

R HIRITIF
RITRBR MRS

RBEE

EE )AL

Hib BN ERAREER
BHERE

HERE

FETHIA

RBEEFE
BERERABRE
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Notes

HiiE

21
22
23

24
20
25

26

27(a)
27(b)

28
29

18(b)

2022

—E-=
HK$’000

TR

105,301
40,119
1,913
297,560
147,000
401,504

993,397

77,950
6,434

786,064
3,236
23,973

2,036
350
18,232

918,275

163,001

755,274

1,748,671

2021
—E - —F
HK$'000
FHBT

132516
33,237
1,060
337,68
190,826
532,397

1,227,717

236,636
89,053
2,851

691,853
2,866

2,866
2,702
19,034

1,047,861

60,597
60,827
41,184
713
1,893

165214
882,647

2,110,364



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e AR AR

Asat 3l March202 RZZE-_—F=F=+—H

2022 2021
—=E_C —E-—%F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
HisE FiBT FET

Capital and reserves BERL#E
Share capital [N 30 76,117 76,117
Reserves s 34 1,569,246 1,898,461

Total equity attributable to KAREEAEGERERE

owners of the Company 1,645,363 1,974,578
Non-controlling interest FERES 87,810 102,066
1,733,173 2,076,644

Non-current liabilities FREBEE
Deferred tax liabilities EEHBEAE 31 33,493
Lease liabilities HERE 18(b) 227
33,720

1,748,671 2,110,364

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised for ZEEAERERERESEeRN B -
issue by the Board of Directors on 29 June 2022 and signed on its behalf by: NAZTNAB#AEREETIZEILBRUATALT

RREFEHE -
Mr. Li Yuguo Mr. Liu Yan Chee James
FEERE BRBmEE
Director Director
EF EF

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated FEMt 2 s AR E G A IBmRER 2 —ZpH -

financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
RSP ER

For the year ended 31 March 202 HE — T - —F=A=+—HItFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

ADERANES
Non-
Share Share Capital Special  Translation  Accumulated controlling Total
capital premium reserve reserve reserve losses Subtotal interest equity

Ba& RHEE BAfRE  RHER ERffE 2tk Mt FERER ERAE
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HKS 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HKS 000 HK$ 000
Tin Tin TR TR Tin Tin Tin T Tin
Note34(g)  Note 34(t)
By Kb

At 1 April 2020 RZE-TFMA-A 6117 597,179 2025156 92926 (178,540) (1,801,310 1811528 102,189 1913717
Profitfor the year AERER = = - - - 91,264 91,264 (570) 90694
Other comprehensive income for the year REEEM2 NG - S = = 71,786 S 71786 “7 23
Total comprehensive income for the year REE2ARGELE - - - - 71,786 91264 163050 (13) 162927
At 31 March 2021 RZB=-£Zf=1-H T6117 1597179 2025156 92926 (106,754) (1,710,046) 1974578 102,066 2,076,644

Loss for the year KEEER G61642) (L84 (14490)  (376132)
Other comprefensive income for the year KEEEM2ENE 32,417 234 32,661

Total comprehensive income for the year TEERERGEE - 04 (361,642) (329,215 (14256)  (343471)

At 31 March 2022 W-B-=f=f=1-A 16,117 1,597,179 1,025,156 92,926 (74327)  (2,071,688) 1,645,363 87,810 1,133,113

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated FEMt Z s A E G A IBmER 2 —ZH -

financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
AEREMER

For the year ended 31 March 202 HZE - T - —F = A=+—HILtFE

Annual Report 2022 55 77

2022 2021
—E-C-F —TE-—F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
it TR FHT
Cash flows from operating activities RERETHZRERE
(Loss)/profit before taxation BEAT(ER), %A (395,164) 92,849
Adjustments for: FTHRIEZ AR
Interest income on bank deposits RITFRFEWA 8 (D) (113)
Interest income from an associate B DA SWMA (245) (234)
Compensation relating to failure to fulfil DEREIARALEER
production volume guarantee by the EEREBECEE
minority shareholder 8 (26,338) -
Interest income relating to termination of BIEWBEGMEZ
acquisition of Shenyang Properties FEUA 8 (70,903) (58,957)
Dividend income S ON 8 (27) (52)
Finance costs BhE AR 10 1,052 1261
Amortisation of land use right + b {50 PR e 5 19 220 207
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ME - BENREBITE 17 yK'Z1] 2,790
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 18(a) 1,878 2,579
Gain on bargain purchase BB 33 - (1,856)
Loss/(gain) from changes in fair value of BEMELTEZDH
investment properties FifsEiE,/(a) 16 (2,282)
Fair value loss/(gain) on financial assets at BAFEFABRZ
fair value through profit or loss TREEZRATE
BE/ (Kas) Il 830 (1
Share of results of associates PaK(=) i NG ¥ 14,366 10,195
Provision for impairment loss on intangible assets 4 & F2 Rl (B &5 18 B A 19 40,504 =
Provision for impairment loss on interests in AR RRRE
associates EERE 20 29,395 .
Provision for/(reversal of) impairment loss on BEfftee REMEEER 2
deposits paid and other receivables SEEE B, (T #) 152,747 (4313)
Provision for impairment loss on properties BRAYEREEBEER
under development 242,539 =
Provision for/(reversal of) impairment loss on REHE 2 EEKYZE
completed properties held for sale ZREREEE/(2#) 10,604 (856)
Reversal of provision for land value added tax 3 8 1 756 488 45 [0 % (20,188) -



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
RERERER

For the year ended 31 March 202 HE—ZT - —F=A=+—HILtFE

2022 2021
—E-C-F —TE-—F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
it TR FHT
Operating cash flows before movements EEEREERIcEE
in working capital Beng 21,230 41,207
Decrease in completed properties held for sale HEREZEERMER D 4,006 18,729
Decrease in inventories FERD = 312
Increase in trade receivable B 5 MR KL (3,406) (2:467)
Increase in amount due from JRE U5 FE P S i AR IELAE AN
non-controlling interests (X)) =
Increase in prepayments, deposits AR - e REM
and other receivables & ST B 8 (23,385) (40,024)
Decrease in trade payables EU AN (GL)) (17.891)
Increase/(decrease) in other payables H A AT ER AR
and accruals FEET BRI, (RD) 10,780 (12,746)
Increase/(decrease) in contract liabilities WA EEN,/CRD) 1,816 (15,644)
Cash generated from/(used in) operations BEEBEL/(FFA)RE 9,895 (28,524)
Income tax paid BERATER (1,814) (214)
Income tax refunded PrSH 2 B - 248
Cash payments for the interest portion of ReINHEEEENEHS
the lease liabilities (185) (169)
Net cash generated from/(used in) CEESES,/(FTR)EEFE
operating activities (28,659)
Investing activities REZE
Decrease/(increase) in restricted bank deposits B AIRTFEZRD,/(3E0) ©)
Interest received REVEIRSE I3
Compensation received relating to production HAOBRRIELES
volume guarantee by the minority shareholder REBBZEWER =
Interest received relating to termination of BIEWEBEG ¥ 2 EWFIS
acquisition of Shenyang Properties - 16,441
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEVE BELERE (10,678) (1,825)
Additional cost of investment properties REMFEREKR (2,487) -
Dividend income AR B A 52
Refund of deposits paid BRES 2R 94,338
Net cash outflow to acquisitions of subsidiaries WENBATNRS AL FE 33 (106,781)
Net cash (used in)/generated from REEH(FA)/EELREFE
investing activities (7,651) 2,329
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
AEREMER

For the year ended 31 March 202 HZE - T - —F = A=+—HILtFE

2022 2021
—E-F —E—F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
it TR FHT
Financing activities MEEE

Interest paid BEARAAE = (256)
Principal portion of lease payments HENFAEHD (1,777) (2,691)
Net cash used in financing activities BB TRz FE (1,777) (2.947)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents Re MBS EYRLDFE (1,532) (29,277)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year REIZE & KR EEY 19,034 46,063
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes INEEREEHTE 730 2,248
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year RERZBRERREEEY 19,034

Analysis of balances of cash and cash equivalents & RIREEED 2 EH DT
Bank balances and cash RITHEB LR S 19,034

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated BEMT 2 st B SR A M RER 2 —35 -
financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ara IR R AR M T

For the year ended 31 March 202 HE—ZE - —F=A=+—HILFE

GENERAL

Asia Resources Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated
in Bermuda as an exempted company with limited liability. Its shares
are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange"”). The address of the Company's registered office is disclosed
in the corporate information of its annual report and its principal place
of business in Hong Kong is Room 2601, 26/F, West Tower Shun Tak
Centre, 168-200 Connaught Road Central, Sheung Wan, Hong Kong.

The Company acts as an investment holding company, while its
subsidiaries (hereinafter the Company and its subsidiaries are collectively
referred to as the “Group”) are principally engaged in property
development, property investment and production and sales of bottled

water in the People's Republic of China (the “PRC").

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars
(HK$) and all amounts have been rounded to the nearest thousand

(HK$'000), unless otherwise indicated.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR RR M

For the year ended 31 March 202 HE — T - —F=A=+—HItFE

2. APPLICATION OF THE NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

(a) New and amended Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”’) adopted by the
Group
The following new and amended standards that may be relevant to
the Group's operations have been adopted by the Group for the

first time for the financial period beginning on | April 2021.

HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, Interest Rate Benchmark Reform —
HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4 Phase 2
and HKFRS 6
(Amendments)

HKFRS 16 (Amendments) Covid-19 Related Rent Concessions

HKFRS 16 (Amendments) Covid-19 Related Rent Concessions
beyond 30 June 2021

The application of the above amended standards which are
effective for the financial period beginning on | April 2021 did not
have material financial effect to the Group for the current and prior

periods.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

an\ 7f ﬁﬁ#&%‘% Bﬁ

For the year ended 31 March 202 HE—ZE - —F=A=+—HILFE

2. APPLICATION OF THE NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

(b) Issued but not yet effective HKFRSs
The Group has not early adopted the following new HKFRSs that

have been issued but are not yet effective for the financial year
ended 31 March 2022:

E’Eﬁ HE] RAER] BRI

REZER([HEMBREE

EJJ 1 (&)
(b) EfEME KL 2 &L

BHEER

AERVEABE_ST-__F=H
=+ —HUETERFERERATY
BEGEMRER T EBTH

Accounting Guideline 5 (Revised)
HKAS 16 (Amendments)

HKFRS 3 (Amendments)
HKAS 37 (Amendments)
HKFRSs (Amendments)

HKFRS 17
HKAS | (Amendments)

HKAS | and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2 (Amendments)

HKAS 8 (Amendments)
HKAS 12 (Amendments)

HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28
(Amendments)
HK Interpretation 5 (2020)

Merger Accounting for Common Control Combinations'
Property, Plant and Equipment - Proceeds before Intended Use'

Reference to Conceptual Framework'
Onerous Contracts - Cost of Fulfiling a Contract!
Annual Improvements to HKFRS Standards 2018-2020'

Insurance Contracts and related amendments
Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current and related
amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)*

Disclosure of Accounting Policies®

Definition of Accounting Estimates®

Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilties arising from a single
Transaction?

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture®

Presentation of Financial Statements - Classification by the
Borrower of a Term Loan that contains a Repayment on
Demand Clause!

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after | January 2022

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after | January 2023
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined

Applied when an entity applies "“Classification of Liabilities as Current or

Non-Current — Amendments to HKAS 1"

The directors do not anticipate that the application of the new

and revised HKFRSs will have a material effect on the amounts

recognised in the Group's consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR R Rk MR

For the year ended 31 March 2002 HE-—ZE - —F=A=+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. TESFHBER

Statement of compliance

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA™) and the disclosure requirements of

the Companies Ordinance of Hong Kong.

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements are set out below. These policies
have been consistently applied to the years presented, unless

otherwise stated.

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments, which are
measured at fair values, as explained in the accounting policies set out

below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration

given exchange for assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ara IR R AR M T

Forthe year ended 3| March 202 HE —E - —F=A=+—HILtFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Basis of preparation (continued)

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that
price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the
Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability
if market participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value
for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated
financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for share-
based payment transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 2,
leasing transactions that are accounted for in accordance with HKFRS
| 6, and measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are
not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 or value in use in

HKAS 36.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements
are categorised into Level |, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which
the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the
significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety,

which are described as follows:

0 Level | inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the

measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included
within Level [, that are observable for the asset or liability, either

directly or indirectly; and
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

an\ 7f ﬁi#&% Bﬁ

For the year ended 31 March 2002 HE-—ZE - —F=A=+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
Basis of preparation (continued)

. Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities (including structured entities)

controlled by the Group. Control is achieved when the Company:

0 has power over the investee;

. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement

with the investee: and

. has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of

the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control
over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the
subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired
or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from the
date the Group gains control until the date when the Group ceases to

control the subsidiary.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 202 HE—ZE - —F=A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to
the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests even

if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements
of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with the

Group's accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash
flows relating to transactions between members of the Group are

eliminated in full on consolidation.

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred in a business combination
is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the
acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the Group,
liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree
and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control
of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally recognised in

profit or loss as incurred.
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For the year ended 31 March 2002 HE-—ZE - —F=A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Business combinations (continued)

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the

liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except that:

»  deferred tax assets or liabilities and liabilities or assets related to
employee benefit arrangements are recognised and measured in

accordance with HKAS 12 and HKAS |9 respectively;

0 liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangement of the acquiree or share-based payment
arrangements of the Group entered into to replace share-
based payment arrangements of the acquire are measured in

accordance with HKFRS 2 at the acquisition date; and

*  assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in
accordance with HKFRS 5 are measured in accordance with that

Standard.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the
acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity
interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition-date
amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed.
If, after reassessment, the net of the acquisition date amounts of the
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum
of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously
held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised

immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

3.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 202 HE—ZE - —F=A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Business combinations (continued)

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and
entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the entity's net
assets in the event of liquidation may be initially measured either at
fair value or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of
the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. The
choice of measurement basis is made on a transaction by-transaction
basis. Other types of non-controlling interests are measured at

their fair value or, when applicable, on the basis specified in another

HKFRS.

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a business
combination includes assets or liabilities resulting from a contingent
consideration arrangement, the contingent consideration is
measured at its acquisition-date fair value and included as part of
the consideration transferred in a business combination. Changes
in the fair value of the contingent consideration that qualify as
measurement period adjustments are adjusted retrospectively, with
the corresponding adjustments made against goodwill. Measurement
period adjustments are adjustments that arise from additional
information obtained during the “measurement period” (which
cannot exceed one year from the acquisition date) about facts and

circumstances that existed at the acquisition date.

The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair value of the
contingent consideration that do not qualify as measurement
period adjustments depends on how the contingent consideration
is classified. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is
not remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration
that is classified as an asset or a liability is remeasured at subsequent
reporting dates in accordance with the corresponding gain or loss

being recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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BB ERRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2002 HE-—ZE - —F=A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Business combinations (continued)

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair
value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date when the Group obtains
control) and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit
or loss. Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree prior to
the acquisition date that have previously been recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss where such

treatment would be appropriate if that interest were disposed of.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by
the end of the reporting period in which the combination occurs,
the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the
accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted
during the measurement period, and additional assets or liabilities
are recognised, to reflect new information obtained about facts and
circumstances that existed at the acquisition date that, if known,

would have affected the amounts recognised at that date.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control of
goods or services is transferred to the customers at an amount that
reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled

in exchange for those goods or services.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 202 HE—ZE - —F=A=+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition (continued)

(i) Sales of properties
Revenue is recognised when or as the control of the asset is
transferred to the customer. Depending on the terms of the
contract and the law that apply to the contract, control of the
asset may be transferred over time or at a point in time. Control

of the asset is transferred over time if the Group's performance:

. provides all of the benefits received and consumed

simultaneously by the customer;

. creates and enhances an asset that the customer controls

as the Group performs; or

. does not create an asset with an alternative use to the
Group and the Group has an enforceable right to payment

for performance completed to date.

If control of the asset transfers over time, revenue is recognised
over the period of the contract by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of that performance obligation.
Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the

customer obtains control of the asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2002 HE-—ZE - —F=A=+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition (continued)

(i

(ii)

Sales of properties (continued)

For properties that have no alternative use to the Group due
to contractual reasons and when the Group has an enforceable
right to payment from the customers for performance
completed to date, the Group recognises revenue as the
performance obligation is satisfied over time in accordance with
the input method for measuring progress, i.e. the costs incurred
up to date compared with the total budgeted costs, which depict
the Group's performance towards satisfying the performance

obligation.

Deposits and instalments received from purchasers prior
to delivery of the properties to the customers are contract

liabilities.

For property sales contract for which the control of the property
is transferred at a point in time, revenue is recognised when the
customer obtains the physical possession or the legal title of the
completed property and the Group has present right to payment

and the collection of the consideration is probable.

Sales of goods
Revenue from sale of goods is recognised at the point in time
when control of the products is transferred to the customer,

generally on delivery of goods.
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For the year ended 31 March 202 HE—ZE - —F=A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in progress,
are stated at cost less subsequent depreciation and any identified

impairment loss at the end of the reporting period.

Construction in progress represents property, plant and equipment
in the course of construction for production or for its own use
purposes. Construction in progress is carried at cost less any
recognised impairment loss. Construction in progress is classified to
the appropriate category of property, plant and equipment when
completed and ready for intended use. Depreciation of these assets,
on the same basis as other property assets, commences when the

assets are ready for their intended use.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of other property, plant
and equipment over their estimated useful lives after considering
their estimated residual values, using the straight-line method, at the
following rates per annum:

Furniture, fixtures and office equipment 20% — 25%

20% — 50%
12.5% — 30%
0%

Leasehold improvements
Motor vehicles

Machinery

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise
from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the
net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the item) is included
in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income in the year in

which the item is derecognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2002 HE-—ZE - —F=A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Investment properties

Investment properties, principally the land use rights in respect of land
parcels and industrial buildings, are held for long-term rental yields
and are not occupied by the Group. Investment property is initially
measured at cost, including related transaction costs and where
applicable borrowing costs. Subsequently, they are carried at fair

value. Changes in fair values are presented in profit or loss.

Water mining licence
Water mining licence is stated at cost less accumulated amortisation
and impairment losses. Water mining licence is amortised on a

straight-line basis over its estimated useful life.

Land use rights

The Group makes upfront payments to obtain operating leases of
land use rights. The land use rights are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment. The upfront payments of the land use
rights are recorded as assets. The amortisation of land use rights is
recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the unexpired

period of the land use rights.

Impairment of water mining licence

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment
for water mining licence at each reporting date. Water mining licence
are tested for impairment when there are indicators that the carrying
amount may not be recoverable. When value in use calculations are
undertaken, management must estimate the expected future cash
flows from the asset or cash-generating unit and choose a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present values of those cash

flows.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 202 HE—ZE - —F=A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Interests in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not

control or joint control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated
in the consolidated financial statements using the equity method
of accounting, except when the investment, or a portion thereof,
is classified as held for sale, in which case it is accounted for in
accordance with HKFRS 5. Under the equity method, interests in
associates is initially recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise Group's
share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the
associate. When the Group's share of losses of an associate exceeds
its interest in that associate (which includes any long-term interests
that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the
associate), the Group discontinues recognising its share of further
losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that
the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made

payments on behalf of the associate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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BB ERRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2002 HE-—ZE - —F=A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Interests in associates (continued)

An investment in an associate is accounted for using the equity
method from the date on which the investee becomes an associate.
On acquisition of the investment in an associate, any excess of the
cost of the investment over the Group’s share of the net fair value
of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is recognised
as goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of the
investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of
the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment,
after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss in the

period in which the investment is acquired.

The requirements of HKAS are applied to determine whether
it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with respect to
the Group's interest in associate. When necessary, the entire
carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill) is tested
for impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset by
comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair
value less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any impairment
loss recognised forms part of the carrying amount of the investment.
Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised in accordance
with HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the

investment subsequently increases.

When a group entity transacts with an associate of the Group,
profits and losses resulting from the transactions with associate are
recognised in the Group's consolidated financial statements only to

the extent of interests in associate that are not related to the Group.
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For the year ended 31 March 202 HE—ZE - —F=A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or
contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period

of time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or arising from business
combinations on or after the date of initial application of HKFRS 16,
the Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based
on the definition under HKFRS 16 at inception, modification date or
acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed
unless the terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently
changed. As a practical expedient, leases with similar characteristics
are accounted on a portfolio basis when the Group reasonably
expects that the effects on the consolidated financial statements

would not differ materially from individual leases within the portfolio.

The Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach
for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments
and right-of-use assets representing the right to use the underlying

assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2002 HE-—ZE - —F=A=+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. TESFHKRE)

(CONTINUED)

Leases (continued) HE (&

The Group as a lessee (continued) KEBERRHBA (&)

(a) Right-of-use assets (a) (EHELE
Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement date EREEENHEERRG B (AIE
of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is available MEERNHFERER)ER - FH
for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any BB ERKABEMBINE RE
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses, and AR ERERZE - Wt EMERNE
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost =HEAGERLARE FRESE
of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities WKABEREERRANEEEES
recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments ¥ EEEANVGREEXNARRA
made at or before the commencement date less any lease & A Bk 2 RIER M E RN TR E
incentives received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a WEEERIEE &R - FRAEE
straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease terms and the EA TN EEMNMEERGE A E A
estimated useful lives of the assets as follows: FHMER 2 REENREGER

£

Buildings | to 3 years BF —EE=4E
If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by the MR RS HEEENAAE
end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise of a BREAREEFKARMEEIRE
purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated HERITE - BIFEREENGRTRIE
useful life of the asset. FREHRFEINE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 202 HE—ZE - —F=A=+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)
Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)

(b) Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date of
the lease at the present value of lease payments to be made
over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments
(including in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an index or
a rate, and amounts expected to be paid under residual value
guarantees. The lease payments also include the exercise price
of a purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by the
Group and payments of penalties for termination of a lease,
if the lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to
terminate. The variable lease payments that do not depend on
an index or a rate are recognised as an expense in the period in

which the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group
uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date because the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable. After the commencement date, the amount of
lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and
reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying
amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification,
a change in the lease term, a change in lease payments (e.g,
a change to future lease payments resulting from a change in

an index or rate) or a change in assessment of an option to

purchase the underlying asset.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line on the

consolidated statement of financial position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2002 HE-—ZE - —F=A=+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

(c)  Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to its short-term leases of machinery and equipment (that is
those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from

the commencement date and do not contain a purchase option).

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over

the lease term.

The Group as a lessor

Lease income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss
on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial
direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease
are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset, such costs are
recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term
except for investment properties measured under fair value method.
Variable lease payments for operating leases that depend on an index
or a rate are based on the market or rate at commencement date of
the lease and included in the total lease payments to be recognised on
a straight-line basis over the lease term. Variable lease payments that
do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised as income when

they arise.

Lease income derived from the Group's ordinary course of business is

presented as revenue.
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For the year ended 31 March 202 HE—ZE - —F=A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Foreign currencies

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars, which is the Company's presentation currency. Each entity in
the Group determines its own functional currency and items included
in the financial statements of each entity are measured using that
functional currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded by the
entities in the Group are initially recorded using their respective
functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
translated at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the
end of the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or

translation of monetary items are recognised in the profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the dates
of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value
in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
date when the fair value was determined. The gain or loss arising on
translation of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated in
line with the recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value of
the item (i.e, translation difference on the item whose fair value gain
or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss
is also recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss,

respectively).

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries, jointly-
controlled entities and associates are currencies other than the
Hong Kong dollar. As at the end of the reporting period, the assets
and liabilities of these entities are translated into the presentation
currency of the Company at the exchange rates prevailing at the end
of the reporting period and their profit or loss are translated into
Hong Kong dollars at the weighted average exchange rates for the

year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
an\ ﬂ%&&%ﬁﬁ

For the year ended 31 March 2002 HE-—ZE - —F=A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Foreign currencies (continued)

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange fluctuation
reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the component of other
comprehensive income relating to that particular foreign operation is

recognised in profit or loss.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the cash
flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into Hong Kong dollars
at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently
recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which arise throughout
the year are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted

average exchange rates for the year.

Retirement benefits costs

Retirement benefits scheme

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans (state-
managed retirement benefits schemes/the Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme) are charged as an expense when employees have rendered

service entitling them to the contributions.

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for those employees employed under the jurisdiction of
the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF Scheme is a defined
contribution scheme, the assets of which are held in separate trustee

administered funds.
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For the year ended 31 March 202 HE—ZE - —F=A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Retirement benefits costs (continued)

Retirement benefits scheme (continued)

Under the MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees are
each required to make contributions to the scheme at 5% of the
employees’ relevant income, with the employers’ contributions
subject to a cap monthly relevant income of HK$30,000. The Group's
contributions to the scheme are expensed as incurred are vested in
accordance with the scheme's vesting scales. Where employees leave
the scheme prior to the full vesting of the employer’s contributions,
the amount of forfeited contributions is used to reduce the

contributions payable by the Group.

Pursuant to the regulations of the relevant authorities in the PRC,
the Group participates in the relevant social retirement benefit
schemes (the “"PRC Schemes”) whereby the Group is required to
contribute to the PRC Schemes to fund the retirement benefits of
the eligible employees. Contributions made to the PRC Schemes
are calculated based on certain percentages of the applicable payroll
costs as stipulated under the requirements in the PRC. The relevant
authorities of the PRC are responsible for the entire pension
obligations payable to the retired employees. The only obligation of
the Group with respect to the PRC Schemes is to pay the ongoing

required contributions under the PRC Schemes.

The retirement benefit schemes contribution represents gross
contributions by the Group to the PRC Schemes operated by the

relevant authorities of the PRC.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2002 HE-—ZE - —F=A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable

and deferred tax.

Current tax

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income because it excludes items of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and
it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting

period.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax base used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all
taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a
business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction

that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.
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For the year ended 31 March 202 HE—ZE - —F=A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and associates,
except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference

will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or

part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or
the asset realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been

enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax
consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group
expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the

carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax for the year

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except
when they relate to items that are recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred
tax are also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the
initial accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is included

in the accounting for the business combination.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

an\

BB ERRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2002 HE-—ZE - —F=A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a business
combination is the fair value at the date of acquisition. The useful
lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite.
Intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently amortised over the
useful economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there is an
indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation
period and the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a

finite useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year end.

Impairment of tangible and intangible assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its tangible and intangible assets with finite useful lives
to determine whether there is any indication that those assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine
the extent of the impairment loss. When it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the
asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation
can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual
cash-generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest
group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and consistent

allocation basis can be identified.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 202 HE—ZE - —F=A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Impairment of tangible and intangible assets
(continued)

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible assets not
yet available for use are tested for impairment at least annually, and

whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired.

Inventories — properties under development

The cost of properties under development for sale comprises
specifically identified cost, including the acquisition cost of land,
aggregate cost of development, materials and supplies, wages and
other direct expenses, and an appropriate proportion of overheads
and borrowing costs capitalised. Net realisable value represents the
estimated selling price, based on prevailing market conditions, less
estimated costs of completion and costs to be incurred in selling the

property.

Properties under development are transferred to completed
properties held for sale upon completion of development activities,
which is when the relevant completion certificates are issued by the

respective government authorities.

Inventories — completed properties held for sale

Completed properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Cost is determined by apportionment of the total
land and development costs attributable to the completed properties
held for sale. Net realisable value is determined based on prevailing

market conditions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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BB ERRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2002 HE-—ZE - —F=A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Provision

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is probable
that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the

amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised
for a provision is the present value at the end of the reporting period
of the future expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation. The increase in the discounted present value amount
arising from the passage of time is included in finance costs in the

profit or loss.

Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the
consolidated statement of financial position when a group entity

becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 202 HE—ZE - —F=A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair
value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition
or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial
assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are
added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised

immediately in profit or loss.

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently

measured at amortised cost:

. the financial asset is held within a business model whose

objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

*  the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal

amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently
measured at fair value through other comprehensive income

(“FVTOCI"):

. the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows

and selling; and

108  Asia Resources Holdings Limited | T2/ & RIZER AR A

3.

3{ = n-I_BZﬁ(nE)

AT A&
TREERTBRABBVSRAFER
E-WBIBTeREEIERARE
BERAEZXBRA(RAFEFARR
ZERMEERTBMABGERIN) HIZEE
BARMTERRMA > L EBREE
ERMABZIAFENR - WBRAF
Ef ABuzeREEXTRABEES
ZEERBIER KA IME SR o

SRAEZHBRAKIE
AU T2 2 MAER
At -

RIZEIHAK

- BEMARKUBAHREREZEBE

ATHEZEHMEE &

. BABFEIERNEERHELER
XHERERAEEASFEZ2RE

==
JILEE °

HEAT R ZEREEEREATE

ArARMEE Y (TR A FER AR
2EMNE 2T AFE
- BEMAKBAHRSRERLEZ

EBRATHAZEREE &



BB ERRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2002 HE-—ZE - —F=A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

(continued)

*  the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal

amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at fair value
through profit or loss (“FVTPL”), except that at the date of initial
application/initial recognition of a financial asset the Group may
irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair value of
an equity investment in other comprehensive income ("OCI") if
that equity investment is neither held for trading nor contingent
consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business combination to

which HKFRS 3 Business Combinations applies.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

. it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the
near term; or

*  on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that the Group manages together and has a

recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

. it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging

instrument.

3.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 202 HE—ZE - —F=A=+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (continued)
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(continued)
In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset that
are required to be measured at the amortised cost or FVTOCI as
measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an

accounting mismatch.

(i)  Amortised cost and interest income
Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method
for financial assets measured subsequently at amortised cost.
Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except
for financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired. For financial assets that have subsequently become
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset
from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit
impaired financial instrument improves so that the financial asset
is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of the financial asset from the beginning of the reporting period
following the determination that the asset is no longer credit

impaired.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2002 HE-—ZE - —F=A=+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

(continued)

(i) Financial assets at FVTPL
Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured
at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as FVTOCI are
measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end
of each reporting period, with any fair value gains or losses
recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in
profit or loss includes any dividend or interest earned on the

financial asset.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on financial assets
which are subject to impairment under HKFRS 9 (including trade
receivable, other receivables, restricted bank deposits and bank
balances). The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to

reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 202 HE—ZE - —F=A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument.
In contrast, I2-month ECL (“I2m ECL") represents the portion of
lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessment
are done based on the Group's historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic
conditions and an assessment of both the current conditions at the

reporting date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables
without significant financing component. The ECL on these assets are

assessed individually.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance
equal to [2m ECL, unless when there has been a significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition, the Group recognises lifetime
ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised
is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default

occurring since initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

an\ 7J ﬁk#&% Bﬁ

For the year ended 31 March 2002 HE-—ZE - —F=A=+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk
In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date
with the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as
at the date of initial recognition. In making this assessment, the
Group considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is available

without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account

when assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal

credit rating;

. significant deterioration in external market indicators of
credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread, the

credit default swap prices for the debtor;

*  existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial
or economic conditions that are expected to cause a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt

obligations;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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BB EwRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 202 HE—ZE - —F=A=+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)
e an actual or expected significant deterioration in the

operating results of the debtor;

* an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of the
debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s

ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group
presumes that the credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition when contractual payments are more than 30
days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable

information that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk
on the Group’s financial assets has not increased significantly
since initial recognition if the financial assets are determined
to have low credit risk at the reporting date. A financial asset
is determined to have low credit risk if (i) it has a low risk of
default; (ii) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term; and (iii)
adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the
longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability of
the borrower to fulfill its contractual cash flow obligations. The
Group considers a financial asset to have low credit risk when it
has an internal or external credit rating of ‘investment grade’ as

per globally understood definitions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

an\

BB ERRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2002 HE-—ZE - —F=A=+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria
used to identify whether there has been a significant increase in
credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the
criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in credit risk

before the amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an
event of default occurs when information developed internally
or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without

taking into account any collaterals held by the Group).

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events of
default that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future
cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a
financial asset is credit impaired includes observable data about

the following events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 202 HE—ZE - —F=A=+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

\ R = n-I_EZﬁ(nE)
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Impairment of financial assets (continued) THEERE (&)
(iii) ~ Credit-impaired financial assets (continued) Gi) EEREzHEE (&)
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reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, having
granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s)

would not otherwise consider;
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bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or FEMH 5
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asset because of financial difficulties.
(iv)  Write-off policy (iv) MR
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The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information

indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial difficulty and

there is no realistic prospect of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation or has entered
into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables,
when the amounts are over two years past due, whichever
occurs sooner. Financial assets written off may still be subject to
enforcement activities under the Group's recovery procedures,
taking into account legal advice where appropriate. A write-off
constitutes a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries

are recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
an\ ﬂ‘%&%ﬁﬁ

For the year ended 31 March 2002 HE-—ZE - —F=A=+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

3. TESTBERGE)

Financial instruments (continued) THTA (&)
Impairment of financial assets (continued) THEERE (&)
(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL (v) TEHEEERL G ERER

BEHEEBERNGERED AR
- BOBRX(AHREZNKRD

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of

default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there

is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is based on historical
data adjusted by forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL
reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is
determined with the respective risks of default occurring as the

weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with the
contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at the effective interest rate determined at initial

recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 202 HE—ZE - —F=A=+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)
Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or cater for cases
where evidence at the individual instrument level may not yet be
available, the financial instruments are grouped on the following

basis:

. Nature of financial instruments (i.e. the Group'’s trade and
other receivables, finance lease receivables and amounts
due from customers are each assessed as a separate group.
Loans to related parties are assessed for expected credit

losses on an individual basis);

. Past-due status;

. Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

. External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure the
constituents of each group continue to share similar credit risk

characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying amount
of the financial asset unless the financial asset is credit impaired,
in which case interest income is calculated based on amortised

cost of the financial asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2002 HE-—ZE - —F=A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Classification as debt or equity

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a group entity are
classified according to the substance of the contractual arrangements
entered into and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity

instrument.

3.

TESTHBEGE)

eHTHEE)

SHREBERRATA
SHEBEBLRA
EEEBRETERMABERBATAT
BB IANTH TR RMAE
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Equity instruments BRETA

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest BRATADNERAEEERBNNBAEE
in the assets of the group entity after deducting all of its liabilities. ERVEETHEBENGERZEMNSE
Equity instruments issued by the Group are recognised at the 4) o REBBITZIRATAYIZE WE

proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

SR (FIBR E R BT R

Other financial liabilities HEMehtEE
Other financial liabilities (including trade payables, other payables EmesmaBG(RREESEMAERR
and accruals) are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the tEMERMETER) ERERER

effective interest method.

MR AT E -

Effective interest method EBRFE %
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised BERFEEZDNHESRBE B HEKA

cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash payments through the expected life of
the financial liability or where appropriate, a short period to the net

carrying amount on initial recognition.
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For the year ended 31 March 202 HE—ZE - —F=A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

3.

\ R = n-I_EZﬁ(nE)

=@ THE)

Derecognition BUE R
The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual AREEEEHREERERESREZAN

rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers the
financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the asset to another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and
continues to control the transferred asset, the Group continues to
recognise the asset to the extent of its continuing involvement and

recognises an associated liability.

BHER eREECTERREE
BERZ2HENAREEHRERTH
MERKITBERATREE - AL
BYEERNREFEERIETEAR
BN OB ZEEEE - AR
SENFE2ELERRBES TESE
HERZEE -

If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of NASEREBEZECHEERREZE
ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to MERRAR RO - AAEEHEERER

recognise the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised

borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable and the cumulative gain or loss that had been
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity

is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2002 HE-—ZE - —F=A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

On derecognition of a financial asset other than in its entirety, the
Group allocates the previous carrying amount of the financial asset
between the part it continues to recognise, and the part it no longer
recognises on the basis of the relative fair values of those parts
on the date of the transfer. The difference between the carrying
amount allocated to the part that is no longer recognised and the
sum of the consideration received for the part no longer recognised
and any cumulative gain or loss allocated to it that had been
recognised in other comprehensive income is recognised in profit
or loss. A cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other
comprehensive income is allocated between the part that continues
to be recognised and the part that is no longer recognised on the

basis of the relative fair values of those parts.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or they expire.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in

profit or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held at
call with banks, other short-term highly liquid investments with
original maturities of three months or less, and bank overdrafts. Bank
overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities on the

consolidated statement of financial positions.
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For the year ended 31 March 202 HE—ZE - —F=A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Contingent liabilities and assets

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past
events and whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence
or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly
within the control of the Group. It can also be a present obligation
arising from past events that is not recognised because it is not
probable that outflow of economic resources will be required or
the amount of obligation cannot be measured reliably. A contingent
liability is not recognised but is disclosed in the notes to the
consolidated financial statements. When a change in the probability
of an outflow occurs so that outflow is probable, they will then be

recognised as a provision.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and
whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within
the control of the Group. A contingent asset is not recognised but is
disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial statements when
an inflow of economic benefits is probable. When inflow is virtually

certain, an asset is recognised.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item reported
in the consolidated financial statements, are identified from the
financial information provided regularly to the Group’s most senior
executive management for the purposes of allocating resources
to, and assessing the performance of, the Group's various lines of

business and geographical locations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2002 HE-—ZE - —F=A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Segment reporting (continued)

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for
financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar
economic characteristics and are similar economic characteristics
and are similar in respect of the nature of products and services, the
nature of production processes, the type of class of customers, the
methods used to distribute the products or provide the services, and
the nature of the regulatory environment. Operating segments which
are not individually material may be aggregated if they share a majority

of these criteria.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group's accounting policies, which are
described in note 3, the management is required to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and underlying assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant.

Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only
that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the

revision affects both current and future periods.
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For the year ended 31 March 202 HE—ZE - —F=A=+—HILFE

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The followings are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the

next financial year.

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

Note 3 describes that depreciation is provided to write off the cost of
property, plant and equipment over their estimated useful lives, using
straight-line method. The estimation of useful lives of the depreciable
assets is based on the experience of the Group, and useful lives are
reviewed at each end of the reporting period based on changes in

circumstances.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment

In accordance with HKAS 16, the Group estimates the useful lives of
property, plant and equipment in order to determine the amount of
depreciation expenses to be recorded. The useful lives are estimated
at the time the asset is acquired based on historical experience, the
expected usage, wear and tear of the assets, as well as technical
obsolescence arising from changes in the market demands or service
output of the assets. The Group also performs annual reviews on
whether the assumptions made on useful lives continued to be valid.
The Group tests annually whether the assets have suffered any
impairment. The recoverable amount of an asset or a cash generating
unit is determined based on market value of the assets which require

the use of assumptions and estimates.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2002 HE-—ZE - —F=A=+—HILFE

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Income tax

The Group is subject to income taxes in Hong Kong and the PRC.
Significant judgment is required in determining the provision for
income taxes. There are many transactions and calculations for which
the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course
of business. The Group recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit
issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due.
Where amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will
impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in

which such determination is made.

Net realisable value of properties under development and completed
properties held for sale

Carrying amount of properties under development and completed
properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value at the end of the reporting period. Net realisable value is
determined on the basis of the estimated selling price less the estimated
costs necessary to make the sale. The directors estimate the net realisable
value for properties under development and completed properties
held for sale based primarily on the latest contract prices and current
market conditions. In addition, the directors perform an inventory review
on a product by product basis at the end of each reporting period
and assess the need for write down of properties under development
and completed properties held for sale. As at 31 March 2022, the
accumulated impairment on properties under development and
completed properties held for sale were approximately HK$347,544,000
(2021: HK$96,857,000) and HK$66,139,000 (2021: HK$55,664,000)

respectively.
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For the year ended 31 March 202 HE—ZE - —F=A=+—HILFE

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets (other than goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment
for all non-financial assets (including the right-of-use assets, interests
in associates and intangible assets) at the end of each reporting
period. Indefinite life intangible assets are tested for impairment
annually and at other times when such an indicator exists. Other non-
financial assets are tested for impairment when there are indicators
that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment
exists when the carrying value of an asset or a cash-generating unit
exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair value
less costs of disposal and its value in use. The calculation of the fair
value less costs of disposal is based on available data from binding
sales transactions in an arm'’s length transaction of similar assets
or observable market prices less incremental costs for disposing
of the asset. When value in use calculations are undertaken, the
management must estimate the expected future cash flows from the
asset or cash-generating unit and choose a suitable discount rate in
order to calculate the present value of those cash flows. As at 31
March 2022, the accumulated impairment loss on intangible assets

were approximately HK$87,436,000 (2021: HK$46,392,000).
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For the year ended 31 March 2002 HE-—ZE - —F=A=+—HILFE

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Impairment of deposits and other receivables

The Group makes allowances on items subjects to ECL (including
deposits and other receivables (excluding prepayments and prepaid
other taxes)) based on assumptions about risk of default and
expected loss rates. The Group uses judgement in making these
assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation,
based on the Group's past history, existing market conditions as
well as forward looking estimates at the end of each reporting
period as set out in note 3 — Financial Instruments. As at 3| March
2022, the aggregate carrying amounts of deposits paid and other
receivables (excluding prepayments and prepaid other taxes)
amounted to approximately HK$584,234,000, net of ECL allowance
of approximately HK$76,448,000 (2021: HK$566,306,000, net of
ECL allowance approximately HK$73,357,000) and approximately
HK$39,673,000, net of ECL allowance of approximately
HK$ 1,985,000 (202 1: HK$44,208,000) respectively.

Fair value of investment properties

Investment properties with a carrying amount of approximately
HK$105,301,000 (2021: HK$132,516,000) are stated at fair value
based on the valuation performed by the independent qualified
professional valuer. In determining the fair values, the valuation
involves certain assumptions of market conditions. In relying on the
valuation reports, the directors have exercised their judgment and are
satisfied that the methods of valuation are reflective of the current
market conditions. Changes in assumption relating to these factors
could affect the reported fair values of the investment properties. See

note |6 for further disclosures.
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Forthe year ended 3| March 202 HE —E - —F=A=+—HILtFE

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Leases — Estimating the incremental borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in a
lease, and therefore, it uses an incremental borrowing rate (“IBR")
to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest that the
Group would have to pay to borrow over a similar term, and with
a similar security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar
value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment. The
IBR therefore reflects what the Group “would have to pay”, which
requires estimation when no observable rates are available (such as
for subsidiaries that do not enter into financing transactions) or when
it needs to be adjusted to reflect the terms and conditions of the
lease (for example, when leases are not in the subsidiary’s functional
currency). The Group estimates the IBR using observable inputs (such
as market interest rates) when available and is required to make
certain entity-specific estimates (such as the subsidiary’s stand-alone

credit rating).

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

5A. Capital risk management
The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to stakeholders through the optimisation
of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy

remains unchanged from prior year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 202 HE — T - —F=A=+—HItFE

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 5. €@ T H (&)

5A. Capital risk management (continued) SA.BEX R EE (&)
As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, the capital structure of the RZE-_—_FR_FT-_—F=H
Group consisted of debt and equity attributable to owners of =+—H AEBZEREERE
the Company, comprising issued share capital and reserves. BRRERAFEEAEGEER(ES

REBRTRARER)

The directors of the Company review the capital structure KRB EEBTHRN EANGEE - 1F
regularly. As part of this review, the directors consider the cost BRE D  EEEREAZK
of capital and the risks associates with each class of capital. Based RERBEERZ HERE - AXEE
on recommendations of the directors, the Group will balance its SRBES2HEESR - SBEIT
overall capital structure through new shares issues, as well as the AR - BITHE B R IR E A EE
issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debt. BB ANZE o
The gearing ratio at the end of the reporting period was as RBEHREELZRLDT
follows:
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
THERT FHBT

Total debts HRETS 10,598 9,325
Shareholders’ equity AR R A 1,645,363 1,974,578

Gearing ratio BEHLX 0.5%
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Forthe year ended 3| March 202 HE—E - —F=A=+—HULFE

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 5. €@ T H (&)

5B. Categories of financial instruments 5B. 2@ T AEF
2022 2021
—s-= T —F
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FAT
Financial assets TRMEE
Financial assets at fair value through BAFEGABRZ
profit or loss TREE 2,036 2,866
Amortised cost B4 Ak 825,019 709,854
Financial liabilities TEMEE
Amortised cost BIHA AR 117,879 121,972
5C. Financial risk management objectives and policies S5C.AUBRBEZERERME
The Group’s major financial instruments include trade AEEFZeRTAGEESHREK
receivables, other receivables, deposits paid, financial assets at ARk HAEUERTR - BfTiRS
fair value through profit or loss, amount due from an associate, BRATEFABRZEREE &
amount due from non-controlling interests, amount due from Yok & N Bl FIE - RUGEIE R E S
the substantial shareholder, restricted bank deposits, bank I BREZRERIE - XRE
balances and cash, trade payables, other payables and accruals WITEH - RITERKERS  EH
and lease liabilities. Details of these financial instruments are JERTERF - HittENRR R IERE
disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated with these AEHEERE  -Z5eRITACZH
financial instruments and the policies on how to mitigate BREMERE - ZSemITAZ
these risks are set out below. The management manages and HE [ B B an ()R (R 5% 35 2 B 2 B
monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are REIWNT - EREEEREEZ
implemented on a timely and effective manner. ZRE k- MR R R R EREE

nlh 4t e
= et ©
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For the year ended 31 March 2002 HE-—ZE - —F=A=+—HILFE

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

5C. Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)

Market risk

Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk refers to the risk that movement in foreign
currency exchange rate which will affect the Group's financial
results and its cash flows. The Group is exposed to foreign
currency risk arising from investments in subsidiaries primarily
with respect to RMB. Foreign currency risk also arises from
future commercial transactions, recognised assets and liabilities
and net investments in foreign operations, which are mainly

denominated in RMB.

As at 31 March 2022, if the Hong Kong dollars had weakened/
strengthened by 5% against the RMB with all other variables
held constant, pre-tax profit for the year would have been
HK$37,226,000 (2021: HK$31,444,000) higher/lower, mainly
as a result of foreign exchange gains/losses of the deposit paid
for acquisition of Shenyang Properties to be refunded and
the related compensation and interest income receivable as
disclosed in notes 24(ii) and 24(v). The Group currently has not
entered into any contracts to hedge its foreign currency risk.
However, the management monitors foreign currency exposure
and will consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure

should the need arise.

ERTE(E)
5C. BB MR EREEEREE (H)

5 kg

SRR
SNERBRIESRINEEREE (]
FEARBEIUBREEARERER
B) Rk o ANEE R B L
BIREMELNIINERR B8R
ARKEER - SNERRITEARKE
XRP  EHERBEEREE UK
RBINEBZREFEMESLE =
EHUARBEHE -

RZBEZ_Z_F=A=+—8 4
BITAAREEEFHES% M
FEEMAIZEARRETE - A
BR B3 A 2 0% B A% 9 BISE a0 R
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For the year ended 31 March 202 HE—ZE - —F=A=+—HILFE

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 5.

5C. Financial risk management objectives and policies

TRMITHE(E)
5C BIHBEBEEREREF &)

(continued)

Interest rate risk

The Group’s income and operating cash flows are substantially
independent of change in market interest rates and the Group
has no significant interest-bearing assets and liabilities except
for amount due from an associate, deposit paid, restricted bank
deposits, cash and cash equivalents and other payables, details
of which have been disclosed in notes 20, 24(ii), 27 and 29(i).
Due to the fixed interest rate on amount due from an associate,
deposit paid and other payables and the insignificant bank
interest income, the management considers that cash flow and
fair value interest rate risks of the Group are insignificant and

therefore no sensitivity analysis is presented thereon.

Credit risk

Credit risk arises from the possibility that the counterparty
to a transaction is unwilling or unable to fulfil its obligation
which results in financial loss. The gross carrying amounts of
restricted bank deposits, bank balances, amount due from
an associate, amount due from the substantial shareholder,
amount due from non-controlling interests, deposits paid, other
receivables (excluding prepayments and prepaid other taxes)
and trade receivables included in the consolidated statement
of financial position of approximately HK$901,467,000 (2021:
HK$783,211,000) represent the Group's maximum exposure to

credit risk in relation to its financial assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2002 HE-—ZE - —F=A=+—HILFE

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 5. €@ T H (&)
5C. BBABREZEAERKE(E)

5C. Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)

Credit risk (continued)

The credit risks on restricted bank deposits and bank balances
are considered to be insignificant because the counterparties are
banks/financial institutions with high credit ratings assigned by

international credit-rating agencies.

For trade receivables, the Group performs impairment

assessment under ECL model on trade balances individually.

Trade receivables are written off where there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery. Indicators for no reasonable
expectation of recovery include, amongst others, the failure of
a debtor to engage in a repayment plan with the Group, and a
failure to make contractual payments for a period of greater than

| year past due.

Impairment losses on trade receivables are presented as net
impairment losses within operating profit. Subsequent recoveries
of amounts previously written off are credited against the same

line item.

For the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, the Group
assessed the ECL on trade receivables were insignificant and thus

no loss allowance was recognised.

FEmEE(E)
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For the year ended 31 March 202 HE—ZE - —F=A=+—HILFE

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 5.

5C. Financial risk management objectives and policies

TRMITHE(E)
5C BIHBEBEEREREF &)

(continued)

Credit risk (continued)

For other receivables (excluding prepayments and prepaid
other taxes), deposits paid, amount due from the substantial
shareholder, amount due from an associate and amount due
from non-controlling interests, the management makes periodic
collective assessments as well as individual assessment on its
recoverability based on historical settlement records and past

experience.

Regarding the credit risk arising from the deposits paid,
compensation and interests relating to the termination of
the acquisition of Shenyang Properties as detailed in notes
24(ii) and 24(v), Mr. Li Yuguo has repaid partial interests of
approximately RMB15,076,000 and repaid approximately
RMB88,680,000 to the Group in compliance with the repayment
terms in the further supplemental agreement dated 3 July 2020.
After the end of reporting period, the Group further received
approximately RMB520,305,000 from Mr. Li Yuguo. In addition,
Mr. Li has provided his personal assets as securities to secure the
remaining debts. After assessing the value of the securities and
the repayment history of Mr. Li, the directors of the Company
considers that the credit risk arising from the remaining deposits
paid, compensation and interests in sum of approximately

RMB592,958,000 (202 1: RMB539,389,000) is low.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2002 HE-—ZE - —F=A=+—HILFE

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 5. €@ T H (&)
5C. BBABREZEAERKE(E)

5C. Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)

Credit risk (continued)

The Group considers the probability of default upon initial
recognition of assets and whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk on an ongoing basis throughout each
reporting period. To assess whether there is a significant increase
in credit risk, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring
on the assets as at the reporting date with the risk of default
as at the date of initial recognition. It also considers available

reasonable and supportive forwarding-looking information.

Especially the following indicators are incorporated:

. internal credit rating;

. external credit rating;

e actual or expected significant adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to

cause a significant change to the debtor’s ability to meet its

obligations;

* actual or expected significant changes in the operating

results of individual debtor;

. significant increases in credit risk on other financial

instruments of the debtors; and

FEmEE(E)
AEBEEENTHHERREZ ER
ReAREN  BHRESEEER
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For the year ended 31 March 202 HE—ZE - —F=A=+—HILFE

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 5.
5C. Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)
Credit risk (continued)

TR T A ME)

5C. BB EE R B ()

ﬁéﬂ&’% (IIE )

*  significant changes in the expected performance and

behaviour of the debtors, including changes in the payment

status of the debtors and changes in the operating results

of the borrower.

The Group uses four categories for those receivables which

reflect their credit risk and how the loss provision is determined

for each of those categories.

A summary of the assumptions underlying the Group’s ECL

model is as follows:

Category
bl

Performing

EH

Underperforming
2z

Non-Performing
TR

Write-off
58

Group definition of category

AEMHHERBINER

Debtors have a low risk of default and a
strong capacity to meet

BEARVRRREBEBENELD

Receivables for which there is a significant
increase in credit risk; as significant
increase in credit risk is presumed if
interest and/or principal repayments are
more than 90 days past due

FEY R IEREE R BEE I ¢ WS
R/ SR EFAPEBB/OK - AIRR
S5 b #RE L N

Interest and/or principal repayments are
more than 365 days past due

FE R/ SRS ERERBEI6SSK

Interest and/or principal repayments are
more than 3 years past due and there is no
reasonable expectation of recovery
MER /A EFOHBB=FAE
IR T REM Al
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AEEEHEEBEEXNERAR
Rt

Basis for recognition of
ECL provision
BRAHEEEERAENER

12 months expected losses. Where the
expected lifetime of an asset is less than
|2 months, expected losses are measured
at its expected lifetime.
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Lifetime expected losses
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Asset is written off
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 202 HE &~ —

FZA=+—HILFE

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

5C. Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)
Credit risk (continued)

The Group accounts for its credit risk by appropriately providing

for ECL on a timely basis. In calculating the ECL rates, the Group

considers historical loss rates for each category of receivables

and adjusts for forward-looking macroeconomic data.

The Group provides for credit losses against deposits paid, other

receivables (excluding prepayments and prepaid other taxes),

amount due from the substantial shareholder, amount due from

an associate and amount due from non-controlling interests as

follows:

Company internal credit rating

FRANFEEFME

As at 31 March 2022
R-B--—F=f=1-A
Performing

%

Non-Performing

R

Total
@5t

As at 31 March 2021
R=B--%=A=1-A
Performing

%

Non-Performing

R

Total
Bt

Expected
credit loss rates

RHREBRLE

0.1% - 1.5%

100%

0.1% - 1.5%

100%

Basis for
recognition of
expected credit
loss provision
ERRAEESR
BanER

12 month expected losses

MEAREEE

Lifetime expected losses

FEEREER

12 month expected losses

1A AREEE

Lifetime expected losses

FEIREER

5. SRT E (&)
5C. B EREEREREE (&)

=EmEE (&)
AEBERBRBOREEREES
BRFGAEBEERRONE - &
AAEEMEERBLRE - A&H
NEBEBKBENELBRESE
- 2 BRBATRE M R E B
AL EAEITHE -

AEENENEE  HtEKER
T BIETE A Rk B A FR R
H) -~ FEUE BRCRRIA - FE UK
B RIFRIA N FE UL IR A% M 25 SRR

AR EEBERANT
Carrying
Estimated gross Loss amount (net of
carrying amount allowance impairment
at default provision provision)
BHORH e
i REAE  AEERRE (IREERH)
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TiEn T T

798,017 798,017

78,433

876,450 78,433 798,017

685,267 = 685,267
73,357 73357 =
758,624 73357 685267
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 202 HE — T - —F=A=+—HItFE

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 5. €BTE (&)

5C. Financial risk management objectives and policies S5C.OBRBEEEERBE (&)
(continued)
Credit risk (continued) EEREE (&)
The loss allowance provision for deposits paid and other RZEBE-_—_F=ZA=+—HRER
receivables as at 31 March 2022 reconciles to the opening loss & M H b FE UL BR FRET R A s 18 B
allowance for that provision as follows: BEFEYEIERENERNOT ¢
Non-
Performing performing Total
E% TR @t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
THERT TET TET

Opening loss allowance as at | April 2020 RZZT-ZFFMA—HK
FOEREE 67,682
Exchange realignment [EH AR 5,675

Closing loss allowance as at 31 March 2021  RZZE-—&F=A=+—HAKNEX

and opening loss allowance as at BEEEIN_E=—F
| April 2021 mA—BHENEERERE
Additional loss allowance BINEREGE
Exchange realignment ERTES

Closing loss allowance as at 31 March 2022 R-Z-—F=A=+—HKF
RERRE 78,433 78,433
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For the year ended 31 March 2002 HE-—ZE - —F=A=+—HILFE

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

5C. Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)

Liquidity risk

Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with
the Board of Directors, which has built an appropriate liquidity
risk management framework to meet the Group’s short, medium
and long-term funding and liquidity management requirements.
The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate
reserves by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash
flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and

liabilities.

Liquidity table

The following tables detail the Group's remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities. The tables have
been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial
liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group can be

required to pay.

The maturity analysis for non-derivative financial liabilities is

prepared based on the scheduled repayment dates.

The tables include both interest and principal cash flows.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR R Rk MR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 202 HE — T - —F=A=+—HItFE

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 5. €BTE (&)

5C. Financial risk management objectives and policies SC.HEEEEEHERKE
(continued) (#&)
Liquidity risk (continued) mEBEZ R ()
Liquidity table (continued) MBS ()

Weighted Total
average carrying
effective Total amount
interest Within Over undiscounted at year

rate lyear  I|-2years  2-5years S5years  cash flows ended
g RiTRA EX

Ly -ER -ERE WERF  EEML  RERE  4REE
% HKPOOD  HKSO00  HKSO0D  HKSO00  HKSOOD  HKSO00

TR T ThEL T T TEL

As at 31 March 2022 R-E-Z&

ZA=+-R
Non-derivative financial liabilities 3474 $HEE
Trade payables BHEME
Other payables and accruals EfeERETR

EH2R
Lease lbilties HERE

117,660 118,016 117,879

Asat 31 March 2021 i

ZR=1-8
Non-derivative financial liabilities 3474 £HMEHE
Trade payables BHRMER - 60597 - - - 60597 60597
Other payables and accruals EfpERERR

iR - 6043 - - - 60435 60435
Lease liabltes EEaR 8% 754 3 - - %7 940

121,786 133 = = 122019 121972
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For the year ended 31 March 2002 HE-—ZE - —F=A=+—HILFE

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

5C. Financial risk management objectives and policies

5. ERMTAGE)
5C.HERBREERBERBE

(continued)

Other price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk through its investment
in listed equity securities. The management manages this
exposure by maintaining a portfolio of investments with
different risk and return profiles. The Group'’s equity price risk is
mainly concentrated on equity securities quoted on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. In addition, the management
monitors the price risk and will consider hedging the risk

exposure should the need arise.

Other price risk — Sensitivity analysis
The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on

the exposure to equity price risk at the reporting date.

If equity prices had been 10% higher/lower, the Group's loss
for the year ended 31 March 2022 would decrease/increase
by approximately HK$204,000 (2021: profit would increase/
decrease by approximately HK$287,000). This is mainly due to

the changes in fair value of held-for-trading investments.

(4&)

A E®mEE

AEBERER EWRAEHMmA
AXEAEREAR  EEEEBHE
FEAETRRAREEHRZKEEE
EEARRER o NEEZBAER
RREBRETREEEHAR S
BR R 2 BRANE S © thsh -
EEESERERAR XNER
EREEHNERRAR -

H B — SRS
AT BREES M IIRER HE B H
Z A EIRRBRAETT o

W AER LA TEKI0% - K&
EEz—_E-_—_F=A=+—HI
FEZEBEBRERLD 1 4)204,000
BIL(ZTZ—F - @AM R
L #1287,00087T) - EFEXBHFE

EEREI AT EEBYE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Forthe year ended 3| March 202 HE —E - —F=A=+—HILtFE

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 5. €@ T H (&)

5D. Fair value 5D. A F{E

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities are TREENEREBEZATEET

determined as follows: TR

+  the fair value of financial assets with standard terms . RBEERRIRERE RPE
and conditions and traded on active liquid markets are BRBAMERHLCMEEL
determined with reference to quoted market bid prices; NEEDZREMGREETE
and )54

« the fair value of other financial assets and financial liabilities - HEHpesmEEAEREEZA
are determined in accordance with generally accepted FEZRAREEBRE - AT
pricing models based on discounted cash flow analysis using ERMIERZERIFNEIER
prices or rates from observable current market transactions BABEETITRRSRES
as input. EE -

Fair value measurements recognised in the consolidated statement REE BRI EANERZ L FE

of financial position irE

The following table provides an analysis of financial instruments TRARVNTEREE AT EFE

that are measured subsequent to initial recognition at fair value, eI Ao - WIREAFE

grouped into Level | to Level 3 based on the degree to which ZABEREARE—E=A:

the fair value is observable:

Level I: quoted prices in active markets for the same F—H: A—TAAIRGEHREL
instrument (i.e. without modification or repackaging); ENRE)NERMEA
B
Level 2: quoted prices in active markets for similar assets or FR: BUBESABRER™M
liabilities or other valuation techniques for which all SN MENFTBEREH
significant inputs are based on observable market NEAAER 2 58S
data; and RERE 2 B EETX
K
Level 3: valuation techniques for which any significant input F= T2HABWIELATTER
are not based on observable market data. ZTBEBRAER 2 HE

JIE
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For the year ended 31 March 202 HZE - T - —F = A=+—HILtFE

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 5. €@ T H (&)

5D. Fair value (continued) 5D. A F{E (&)
Fair value measurements recognised in the consolidated statement RSB BN EEAER 2 L FE
of financial position (continued) irE (&)
The following table shows an analysis of financial instruments TRETEATFESRHFE D2
recorded at fair value hierarchy: SRIEDHT
Level | Level 2 Level 3 Total
E—& et E=R gt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET FET FET
As at 31 March 2022 R-EBE-—F
=A=+-H
Financial assets at fair value BRATERF A B
through profit or loss ZEMEE
As at 31 March 2021 R=-B=—%F
=A=t-H
Financial assets at fair value BATEGARR
through profit or loss ZERMEE 2,866 - - 2,866
There were no transfers between Level | and Level 2 in both RREFEANE —REE =R 2
years. I R -
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For the year ended 31 March 202 HE—ZE - —F=A=+—HILFE

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 5.

5D. Fair value (continued)
Fair value measurements recognised in the consolidated statement
of financial position (continued)

There were no transfers into or out of Level 3 in both years.

Fair value as at

RTH B2 AFE
Fair value
Financial assets 2021 hierarchy
tHEE ZE--F DHEER
Listed equity securities In Hong Kong " ENaleli-d CliTy Level |
classified as financial HK$2,036,000 HK$2,866,000
assets at FVTPL (note 26)
PEREATE RE# RER F—R
FABRHECEREEY yNEIXIFA 2,866,000/ 7
LR AES (M 20)
6. SEGMENT INFORMATION 6.

The Group’s operating segments are identified on the basis of
internal reports which provides information about components of the
Group. These information are reported to and reviewed by the chief
operating decision maker (*CODM") for the purpose of resource

allocation and performance assessment.

The Group has the following operating segments during the year.

These segments are managed separately.

(I) For water business, the CODM regularly reviews the
performance of the water business in the PRC. These operations
have been aggregated into a single operating segment and

named “Water business”.

Asia Resources Holdings Limited | oM ERIER AR A

EMITR(E)
5D. A F{E (&)
REE MR T EAERS AFE
38 ()
RAEEENY EEBAE=HK
BE=AEL -

Valuation techniques  Significant
and key inputs unobservable inputs

HEROREEGAME EXFIRERRARE

Quoted bid prices N/A

in an active market

HER™I5 . BRIE TEm

AKEEE S RERIEHARE A
REBHERZ NBRRELEH - %S
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For the year ended 31 March 202 HE — T - —F=A=+—HItFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 6. DEER (&

m

(2) For property development and property investment business, Q) RUEZBERMEREEBMES -
the CODM regularly reviews the performance of the property TEEEARETHRIWELRR
development and property investment business. These D EREEFNERIR - ZFHER
operations have been aggregated into a single operating segment BEAFTRE [ MEERRRIEE]Z
and named “Property development and investment”. B EEDHE -

Segment revenue and results TEUARFE

The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue and results by T AEREBZARED B ZWARE

reportable segments: ki

For the year ended 31 March BZE=A=+—-HLEE

Water Property development
business and investment Consolidation
*EH NEBRRRE &a

2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021

“B_-f -FI--F& CZE-_-_& -T--% C-B-__E -F--&
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000
S THL FhRT TAL TiEx THAL

Sales to external customers MNGREHE - \ m 32919 32920
Total revenue B\ - I m 32919 32920
Seqment resus NELE (7,420 EION  (317,435) NEPIET  (334,855) RER
Fair value (loss)/gain on financial essets at AT EFFABR SRBEEL
fair value through profit or loss NPE(FR) a (830) [
Provision for impairment loss on REERRZ ERREEERE
interests in associates (29,395) =
Central administration costs RR{TEA AR (14,666) (16,763)
Gain on bargain purchase EEl e - 856
Share of results of associates AMEBENREE (14,366) (10,195)
Finance costs REMA (1,052) (1,261
(Loss)lproit before taxeton BRAER), /%A (395, 164) YT
Revenue reported above represents revenue generated from external N EHREZIRATERBINE R 2 U
customers. There were no inter-segment sales during the year. AN RAREE - WEDFEE ZHE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR E MBI R

For the year ended 31 March 202 HE—ZT - —F=A=+—HILtFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 6. DHEER(E)

Segment assets and liabilities TEEENREE
The following is an analysis of the Group's assets and liabilities by NTARNEBREERBBERTRENE
reportable segments: Eln 2o
Water Property development
business and investment Consolidation
*EH NEBRRRE e}
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
—g-_-f -FI--& ZE--& -ET--£% C-B--E -F--&
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
THR T THR TR TR TiEn
ASSETS &E
Segment assets PREE 362,305 371549 ENIERIEE 1588394 [NTINbES 959,943
Unallocated corporate assets FORAEEE 270,499 315,635
1,911,672 2275578
LIABILITIES 8%
Segment lbiltes AEAfE (31,772) c268) IGEIINY (170206) WRRQORIDY  (173554)
Unallocated corporate liabilties FORAEERE (12,715) (25,380)
DN (198934)

For the purposes of assessing segment performance and allocating
resources between segments, the directors of the Company monitor
the results, assets and liabilities attributable to each reportable

segment on the following basis:

All assets are allocated to reportable segments other than unallocated
corporate assets (mainly include property, plant and equipment, bank
balances and cash that are held by the investment holding companies
and other receivables that are receivable by the investment holding

companies).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B IRAR R

For the year ended 31 March 202 HZE - T - —F = A=+—HILtFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
Segment assets and liabilities (continued)

All liabilities are allocated to reportable segments other than
unallocated corporate liabilities (mainly include lease liabilities
and other payables and accruals borne by the investment holding

companies).

Other segment information

6.

DEEMN(E
THEERARE (&)
FEREHARETRESE - HAD
ROREE(EERAERHEREE
AN R U 2 S A A B R AT
28I o

Water Property development and
business investment Unallocated Consolidation
*EH NERRRRE AR &8
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
Z8-CF -5--F CZB-CF -F--F CBCCE -S--F ZB-CF —3--F
HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000
THT L TR T THT THL TER L
Additions to property, plant and equipment  #FH% - BEREE gl 16444 10,678 16,444
Depreciation & (2,662) NI (4,826) RIS
Other gains Bt 98,888 108:452 125,692 107,508
Other losses EteBE (49) () (49) (#)
Provision for impairment loss on EVEENEEERR
intangible assets (40,504) (40,504) -
(Provision for)/reversal of impairment BfEECREBE(BR) /D8
oss on deposits paid (150,795) (150,795) 4313
Provision for impairment loss on properties  EEH#% 7 HEEERE
under development (242,539) (242,539) -
(Provision for)/reversal of impairment loss on #{EHE 72 ERHEZ
completed properties held for sale FEFE(EE) /m& (10,604) (10,604) 856
Provision for impairment loss on other EfRUES  REERER
receivables (1,952) (1,952) -
Reversal of provision for land value added tax + 38 {EH & fhE# 20,188 20,188 =
(Loss)/gain from changes in fair value of RENEATEEDOHE
investment properties (B1B)/ Mz (37,074) (37,074) 2282
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR AR MR

For the year ended 31 March 202 HE — T - —F=A=+—HItFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 6.

Geographical information
The Group operates in two principal geographical areas — the PRC

and Hong Kong.

The Group's revenue from external customers and information about

its non-current assets by geographical location are detailed below:

PEER (&

1 BB & F)
AEBERETISHELYE - FHARE
7 o

AR E S A INBE S 2 A RS BRI
REEE CREREE D) 2 AR
mT

Revenue from

external customers Non-current assets
REMBEFHBA FRBEE

2022 2021 2022 2021
=== —E-—F ZZE—-__— T
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FHERT TAET FET THETT
The PRC s 32,920 991,610 1,226,937
Hong Kong BF - 1,787 780

Information about major customers

Other than two tenants from whom the lease income represents
47% and 20% of the total revenue of the Group respectively, and
one customer from sales of properties represents 10% of the total
revenue of the Group, there is no other single customer who
contributes over 10% of the total revenue of the Group for the year

ended 31 March 2022.

Other than two tenants from whom the lease income represents 24%
and 10% of the total revenue of the Group respectively, there is no
other single customer who contributes over 10% of the total revenue

of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2021.
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32,920 993,397 1,227,717
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e RS ERAR MR

For the year ended 31 March 202 HE — T - —F=A=+—HItFE

7. REVENUE 7. WA
AEERAFEZWADHAT

An analysis of the Group's revenue for the year is as follows:

Notes
KtaE
Revenue from contracts with REZEFEHZWA
customers (i)
Sales of properties MEHEE
Sales of bottled water TREEKHEE
Revenue from leases AEZWA (ii)
Total revenue LA PN
Notes:
(i) Performance obligations )

Information about the Group's performance obligations is summarised below:

Sales of properties
The performance obligation is satisfied upon handover of the properties. There
were no transaction prices allocated to the remaining performance obligations

(unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) as at 31 March 2022.

Sales of bottled water
The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery of goods. All of the Group’s
revenue from sale of goods was recognised at the point in time when control of the

products was transferred to customers.

2022 2021
—E=-= TR —&E
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FET

19,399
|

19,400
13,520

32,920

iz -

BRI EE
BRAKENEOEEERBRMNT -

VEHE

BHURENRNYEREN -R_F_—F
ZA=t—H BEIREERTEOEECK
EREEBDER )R B ER

I E

BHEERRNEREER - ARBHRER
IS B AR E mIE SR TR F R
R BA B JE AR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 March 202 HE—ZT - —F=A=+—HILtFE

7. REVENUE (CONTINUED)

Notes: (continued)

(ii)  Leases

For operating leases:

Lease payments that are fixed

8. OTHER GAINS

Interest income on bank deposits

Interest income from an associate

Exchange gain, net

Government grant

Dividend income from financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss

Sundry

Compensation relating to failure to fulfil
production volume guarantee by the minority
shareholder

Interest income relating to termination of

acquisition of Shenyang Properties

7. WA (&)

M ()
(i) HE
2022
—EBC-CF
HK$’000
FE&T
MEEHEMS -
EEHERMRK
8. Hithlz
2022
—Eg-
HK$’000
FET
RITHEFRFBEMA
—RE e A TR B A
b H W= F 5
T 4 B
BRATERAERZ
SREEZREWA
HEIE

PEBRRE REEEDEERE
BRAZHE

RIEWEERB R 2 F B KA

125,692
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2021
—E_—F
HK$'000
FHET

13,520

HK$'000
TAT

I3
234
48,058
23

52
71

58,957

107,508



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B IRAR R

For the year ended 31 March 202 HE — T - —F=A=+—HItFE

9. OTHER LOSSES 9. Hittgsis
2022 2021
—E-C—F T
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FAT

Compensation relating to delay in BN 2 HE

handover of properties 41

10. FINANCE COSTS 10. Rl & F A
2022 2021
—E-CfF B
HK$’000 HK$'000
FiB7 FET
Interest on lease liabilities HEBBZFE 169
Interest on other payables Hth FE A BRFF B 1,092
1,261
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e AR

For the year ended 31 March 202 HE—ZT - —F=A=+—HILtFE

| 1. (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION |1, BB AT (E518) %R
2022 2021

—E__F —E-—%F

HK$’°000 HK$'000

THET T

The Group’s (loss)/profit before taxation Z<E&EE 2 KRBiAI(EE) %R
is arrived at after charging/(crediting):  J3RHIEKR (3t A) T 5K\

®EY:

Directors’ emoluments (note |2) EEME(HFI12) 3,184
Other staff costs Eith B THCAR 6,002
Other staff's retirement benefits scheme Hih B T 2 RIKEFIFTEIE R

contributions 296
Total staff costs BIXA4EEE 9,482
Auditors’ remuneration Z SN EN &
— audit services — ZBURS 960
— non-audit services — IR ER TS 243

1,203

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  ¥1% - &= MR EITE 2,790
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRREENE 2,579
Amortisation of land use right 4 Hh {5 A A 8R 207
Lease payment not included in the measurement WAt ATl E A EFENTHE

of lease liabilities (note 18(c)) NER(HEE18(c)) 357
Fair value loss/(gain) on financial assets at fair ~ EAFEFAEBRZ 2/

value through profit or loss BEZAFEBE(K) (n
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 March 202 HZE - T - —F = A=+—HILtFE

2. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

The emoluments paid or payable to each of the directors were as

follows:

Executive directors:
Mr. Li Yuguo (Chairman)
Mr. Liu Yan Chee James

Ms. Guo Yumei

Non-executive directors:
Mr. Yang Xiaogiang
(Vice chaiman)

Mr. Huang Yilin

Independent non-executive
directors:

Mr. Ba Junyu

Mr. Zhu Xueyi

Mr. Wong Chung Man

12. ESEN €
PENEENEBNEEZMEMT -

Salaries and
Directors’ fees other benefits
EZhe FEREMER
2022 2021 2022 2021
Z3-CF “5C-F ZBIZE CERo-F
HK$’000 HK$'000  HK$000 HK$'000
TER TAT AR TAn
ynEs.
FEERE(LE) 384 =
ABHEE 650 -
REFRL
FATES:
BaEE
(8£E)
HERMEE
BUkHTES:
BEFEE
RERGA
ik
—

Retirement
benefits scheme

contributions Total
RIERG AR 2%

2022 2021 2022 2021
it S e e R
HK$’000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000

TEr T  TEr  TEx
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR AR MR

For the year ended 31 March 202 HE — T - —F=A=+—HItFE

2. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

During the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, no emoluments
were paid by the Group to the directors as an inducement to join, or
upon joining the Group, or as compensation for loss of office. None of
the directors has waived or agreed to waive any emoluments during

the years ended 3| March 2022 and 2021.

3. EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS
(a) Five highest paid individuals
The aggregate emoluments of the five highest paid individuals for
the year included 2 (2021: 2) directors of the Company, whose
emoluments are included in note |2 above. The emoluments for

the remaining 3 (2021: 3) individuals are as follows:

Salaries and other benefits Fre hEMmEA

Retirement benefits scheme contributions iR K48 K5t 2 4 7
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12. £S5 (&)

RBEE_ZE_—_FR-_F_—F=H
STH—BLEFEA AEERESNT
EEMSERBEMAIRMAREH
Rz R BEBHE REBEE-_T_—
FR-ZB-Z—F=ZA=+—HLEEFE
W B R Sk R B REE (] B
4o

13. EEM <

(a) EEBBFAL
rEEREHZRSFATZMEEER
BEARAMA(ZE_—F : BA)E
= HMSFFBER B2 - g4
T=R(ZZT=—F : =) ALHEN
ST

2022 2021
—E-F —E-—%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
F&T TET
2,288

36

2,324




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR RR M

For the year ended 31 March 202 HE — T - —F=A=+—HItFE

3. EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)
(a) Five highest paid individuals (continued)
The emoluments of the remaining 3 (2021: 3) individuals fell

within the following bands:

HK$Nil — HK$ 1,000,000 T ITLE 1,000,00058 7T
HK$ 1,000,000 — HK$2,000,000 1,000,000 7T 2 2,000,000/%5 7T

(b) Senior management of the Group
During the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to the senior management
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office. None of them has waived or
agreed to waive any emoluments during the year ended 3|

March 2022 and 2021.

13. EEM < (&)
(a) ZERBFAL(E)

MBRT=R(ZT_—F: =Z8)ATL
ZHENFIATEE :

Number of individuals

(b) FEEEREEE

RBE_ZT_—FR-F-_—F=
R=+—HILEERN  KEEHE
IR TFTEREREEMSERBEZN
AR DA SR B b5 2 42 5 ok i Bk
WE REBEE_E__FR_F
ZT—F=ZA=t—HLFER &
EMEREXRERETAMS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR E MBI R

For the year ended 31 March 202 HE — T - —F=A=+—HItFE

14. TAXATION 14. B8

Current tax: BN IR -
— Hong Kong Profits Tax —BENEH
— PRC Enterprise Income Tax — B EPRIEH

Total current tax expenses BVERTRIE L 48R
Over-provision in prior years:

—BABHEN
EEFREH

— Hong Kong Profits Tax

Deferred income tax:

— (Decrease)/increase in deferred tax liabilities — IEIEFIIB B &5 R4 ), /10

(Note 31) (HiaE31)

Income tax (credit)/expenses for the year

Hong Kong Profits Tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5% (2021:
16.5%) on the estimated assessable profit arising in Hong Kong for the
year ended 31 March 2022.

Subsidiaries in the PRC are subject to the PRC Enterprise Income Tax
at 25% (2021: 25%) for the year ended 3| March 2022.

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of tax losses
amounting to approximately RMB34,909,000 as at 3| March 2022
(2021: RMB41,287,000) that will expire within 5 years for offsetting
against future taxable profits. The tax losses of approximately
HK$ 115,101,000 as at 31 March 2022 (2021: HK$119,056,000) are
available indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable profits in
Hong Kong. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised as it is not
considered probable that taxable profits will be available against which
the above tax losses can be utilised.
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BEFEBERE

AEEMF/RER) X

2022 2021
== T —F
HK$’000 HK$'000
THETT

1,606

1,606

@n

(19,431) 570

(19,032) 2,155

HE_T-__F=A=+—HILFE "

165%( T = —14F : |65%):HREHE
BRESH -

BE-_E-_—_F=A=1+—HILFE "
PR KB AR BIERELR(ZE=—
G 25%) BRI EEATER -

NZZE-_—_F=A=+—8 " TEnS
B AN REE34909,000( —F = —
F: ANR¥412870007T) 2 BB EE
HRELERIBEE HRIBAEBEEBR
7 R A F A JE w A 8 oK 2R FE AR A i
AMeR-_ZTE-_—_F=F=+—H" A
4115101008 (ZF = —4F
119,056,000/% 7T ) 2 Tt I8 &5 18 A it & (R
HARSE R SRR BB 2 FERBUEF o AR
W AR A 0] &) A bl B TR B 18 VR 8E
ZIERBUHEF - M ERERIRERIAE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B IRAR R

For the year ended 31 March 202 HZE - T - —F = A=+—HILtFE

4. TAXATION (CONTINUED)

The income tax (credit)/expenses for the year can be reconciled to

14. B8 (%)
AFEZFBH(ER) /XD RE
ARERAMAKRERZ BB B

the (loss)/profit before taxation per consolidated statement of profit

or loss and other comprehensive income as follows: B)aFEERET
2022 2021
—E—— T —F
HK$’000 HK$'000
THERT FABT
(Loss)/profit before taxation BRELAT(E1R), SR T 92,849
Tax at the Hong Kong Profits Tax rate of 16.5% 1Z&BFSHIHE16.5%
(2021: 16.5%) T —F 1 165%)
FHHEZHE 15,320
Tax effect of share of result of associates Pa [y kNG
FEIBBTE 1,682
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for MBI E TENH
tax purposes Rz RBTE 937
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax MBIET E BERM
purposes WAZ BRI & (18,118)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised REWR2HIE
BRZHETE 3373
Unrecognised deferred tax arising from URNERELY
temporary difference NEERIBELET IR (1,907)
Utilisation of tax losses previously not AL AT RERR 2
recognised BIAE R (6l
Tax effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries £ H Ath B /AR @ & & 2 K18
operating in other jurisdictions RATRABE BB E 950
Over-provision in prior years B FEBEREE (21)
Income tax (credit)/expenses for the year REZEH(ER), FX 2,155
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR E MBI R

For the year ended 31 March 202 HE — T - —F=A=+—HItFE

5. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE 15, NEEARDTEEAELS
ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE B (&18), B A
COMPANY FOR THE YEAR
The calculation of the basic (loss)/earnings per share attributable to RARBEABLERER(EE) &
the owners of the Company is based on the following data: FTRIE A TEUEETE -

2022 2021
—E-CF —E - —4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TET FHET
(Loss)/profit (B8]), &7
(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to the KAREBARIGEEREE 2
owners of the Company (BB),/#H (361,642) 91,264
2022 2021
—E-C—F —E——F
’000 Shares '000 Shares
F i
Number of shares R EE
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for FA{EstEEREAN(EE),
the purpose of basic (loss)/earnings per share  Z 7|z T 3@A% hnkE
(Note) B (HE) 7,611,690 7,611,690
Note: Bt -
The basic and diluted (loss)/profit per share are the same for the years ended 3| March HRSEEAEESHEYE 2 T@k - tBE—
2022 and 2021, as there are no dilutive potential ordinary shares in existence. T FR T —F=ZA=+—HIEEFEERE

AR (E518) EHM AR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e RS ERAR MR

For the year ended 31 March 202 HE — T - —F=A=+—HItFE

6. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

l6.

On 24 June 2020, the Group completed the acquisition of investment

properties through acquisition of subsidiaries at a consideration of

RMB100,000,000. Investment properties are situated

in the PRC and

are held under medium-term leases. Details of the acquisition are set

out in note 33.

At the beginning of the year

Additions through acquisition of subsidiaries
(note 33)

Additions

Transfer from construction in progress

Fair value changes

Exchange realignment

At the end of the year

Amount recognised in profit or loss for
properties

Rental income from operating leases

Direct operating expenses on investment
properties that generated rental income

Unrealised (loss)/profit on property revaluation
included in (loss)/gain from changes in

fair value of investment properties

F1

FERWENERRIRE

(K15%33)
=1
BRaTEIR
AFERH
BEE 5 3 %

FR

investment

REVZE
MRZZB_ZFEXA-_+MNA - NEES
BREHRBAR TR KBRENME R
85 AR 100,000,0007T ° & & WA
RABRZEFHEERE - WESEY
A AN I EEE

2022 2021
—E-= —EB-
HK$’000 HK$'000
T FHET
132,516 —
- 120,830

2,487 -
2,330 -
(37,074) 2,282
5,042 9,404
105,301 132,516

RIBZ PR EY R EERE
#

2022 2021
—E=-= T —F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FAT
REKEHEZHASBA 8,132
EERSRAZEZENEZ
HEELERE 691
TAREMERATEES
(B18) MW=z s
BHARER(BB),SRF 2,282
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR
For the year ended 31 March 202 HE — T - —F=A=+—HItFE

6. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)
Contractual obligation
As at 31 March 2022, there is no contractual obligation to
purchase, construct or develop investment properties or for repairs,

maintenance or enhancements.

Leasing arrangements
The investment properties are leased to tenants under operating
leases. The future minimum lease payments receivable under non-

cancellable operating leases are as follows:

6. REW = (&)

EHEE
R-_E-_—_F=ZA=+—8" #HEHE
B RENFEREMESIEAEE -
HESFRNENELE -

HEZH
BREVERELRERBETHEPE - 77
BHGEHE TRYCRRRERE MK
LN

2022 2021

—E-F —E-—%F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FEx THTT

Within one year —F R 8,951
In the second to fifth years inclusive FE_ZENF(REAERME) 18,848
Over five years AFLE -
27,799
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
an\ ﬂ‘%&%ﬁﬁ

For the year ended 31 March 2002 HE-—ZE - —F=A=+—HILFE

16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED) 6. REYIZE ()

Valuation processes of the Group
The fair value of the Group’s investment properties as at 31 March
2022 has been arrived at on the basis of a valuation carried out by the

independent qualified professional valuer, AP Appraisal Limited.

Discussions of valuation processes and results are held between the
management, audit committee and the independent valuer annually, in

line with the Group's annual reporting date.

The management:

o verifies major inputs to the independent valuation report;

*  assesses property valuations movements when compared to the
prior valuation report; and

. holds discussions with the independent valuer.

Valuation methodology

The Group completed its annual valuation on investment properties.
The fair values of investment properties are generally arrived by
adopting the direct market comparison method by making reference
to a combination of comparable market transactions and asking prices

of comparable properties.

EEEH 1L EBRE
REBREMER_T__%=A
ST -HORAFEDNRBIGEREE
{H{ERMAP Appraisal Limited#7T )4 {ETS
H oo

ERE ERZESRBUGEMESE

MEEBRENGERETHwR - BAEH

ZEEREBH

EEE :

s REBIYGFERSHNEIEH AR
#

o HHYEGEERBAGEREDN

o BBV HERETRR ©

18187 %
AEEEZAERKREDENFEEREMR
B REMENRITFE-RRNEED
BHBA(E2RABHBEMER S R
AELBMENRENAS)EH -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

II‘I-F

For the year ended 3| March 2022 # & —

6. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

BB EwRRMEE

T _F=A=t+—HILFE

Valuation methodology (continued)

Detail of the valuation methodology are as follows:

Non-financial assets

FEREE

Leasehold land and factory

HELH NI

Leasehold land

HELH

As at 31 March 2022, the fair value measurement of the Group's

31 March 2022, there were no transfers into or out of level 3.

Valuation methodology

ERZE

Direct comparison approach and
made reference to comparable

sales transactions as available in

the market
BERIBERZBMZAGZ
AAENRHEERS

Direct comparison approach and
made reference to comparable
sales transactions as available in
the market
BEERUBERZRTSAEZ
AELBHER S
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6. REY (58)

EEEA 1 EBE(F)
BEDEZHBAT

Key unobservable

inputs to the valuation

fEZTETTEBREAZUE

PRC comparables ranging from
RMBI, 143 to RMB2,400 per
square metre
NFFFIRARE143LE
AR#E24007T Y R B A B L8
MHE 13t & T

PRC comparables ranging from
RMB210 to RMB321 per square
metre
NFFFIRARE2I0LE
ARKE3D I TR BRI & LR
MELH

EEAE=

EMENL

investment properties is categorised at level 3. During the year ended EZFT-F=

Relationship of unobservable
inputs to fair value

AEREAZizE
NHEZ BE

A significant increase in the
adjustment factors used would
result in a significant increase in
fair value, and vice versa
PrAEEBEEREENEE
RAFEREEM RZTA

A significant increase in the
adjustment factors used would
result in a significant increase in
fair value, and vice versa
FrAHEBEEAEENEE
RAFEREEM  RZTA

FEAEDBERE=F - &
A=1t—BLFEIE
REBEFE=REL -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B IRAR R

For the year ended 31 March 202 HZE - T - —F = A=+—HILtFE

7. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

*

Cost:

As at | April 2020

Additions

Additions through acquisition of
subsidiaries

Adjustments*

Exchange realignment

As at 31 March 2021 and
| April 2021

Additions
Transferred to investment properties
Exchange realignment

As at 31 March 2022

Accumulated depreciation
and impairment:

As at | April 2020

Charge for the year

Accumulated depreciation through
acquisition of subsidiaries

Exchange realignment

As at 31 March 2021 and
1 April 2021

Charge for the year
Exchange realignment

As at 31 March 2022

Carrying amounts:
As at 31 March 2022

As at 31 March 2021

17. 9% - BERRE

Furniture,
fixtures
and office Leasehold Motor Construction
equipment  improvements vehicles Machinery in progress Total
B £ER e
R NELEE HE W EEIR ax
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
THL THL TEL THL TEL THL
R
RZE-Z§MA-A 2109 5937 3284 = 13521 2485
R 129 = = 5 169 1825
BEKENBAMER
57 = S 16,634 8] 16,772
Bl - - - = (836) (836)
ERAZ 152 466 275 1283 1172 3348
R-B--f¥=A=+-8RK
ZEC-EQMA-A 2447 6,403 3559 17917 15,634 45960
b P
BRTRENE
ERAE
RZB--f=p=+-A 2,577 6,657 3,962 18,672 24,484 56,352
2RERAE
R-E-Z§¥MA-A ll6l 2983 2817 = = 696
ERTH 398 795 29 1,368 5 2790
BRKEHBANZE
13 = = 2137 = 2,153
] 97 263 244 215 = 819
R=B--£=A=+-8RK
—E--EQNA-A 1672 404| 3290 3720 S 12723
FERTH n 815 66 1,745 2,948
] 64 172 140 186 562
R-B-=%£=f=1-A 2,058 5,028 3,496 5,651 16,233
REE:
R-B-=%£=f=1-A 1,629 466 13,021 24,484 40,119
|
R-E-—4£=f=1-H 775 2362 269 14,197 15,634 3,37
* R IR FE MR AN B o

Related to over-provision of cost in the prior year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR E MBI R

For the year ended 31 March 202 HE—ZT - —F=A=+—HILtFE

|7. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 17. 905 ~ BB RRME(E)
(CONTINUED)
Amount recognised in profit or loss REZHPERRZHE
2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TERT FABT
Rental income from machinery leased under RELEMHEERET
operating leases HEE S E 2 WA 6,960 5,388
Leasing arrangements HEZH
The machinery is leased to tenants under operating leases. The future HWRILGEEHEEMETFHEP - Nolfis
minimum lease payments receivable under non-cancellable operating KEHETRERKBARFERE SN
leases are as follows: TS ¢
2022 2021
—E-CF —EF—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAT
Within one year —&FR 7,694
In the second to fifth years inclusive FE_EFRF(BIEEREMSE) 16,082
Over five years AFELE -
23,776
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR R Rk MR

For the year ended 31 March 202 HE — T - —F=A=+—HItFE
18. LEASES 18. &
The Group as a lessee EEBEERFAHEA
The Group has lease contracts for buildings with lease periods of | to AEBEHERLE—Z=2=FHNEFOMHE
3 years. EEK -
(a) Right-of-use assets (a) EAEZE
The carrying amounts of the Group's right-of-use assets and the AEEFEREEEAFTANERERE
movements during the year are as follows: REFHMOT :
Offices
WAE
HK$'000
FHET
As at | April 2020 RZE-FTFHA—H 2910
Additions R 689
Depreciation e (2,579)
Exchange realignment BEE 5, 5 28 40
As at 31 March 2021 and | April 2021 RZEBE-_—F=A=+—HK
—F--FmMA—H 1,060
Additions iV
Depreciation e
Exchange realignment M 5, B
As at 31 March 2022 R-E-_—_F=A=+—H
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR E MBI R

For the year ended 31 March 202 HE — T - —F=A=+—HItFE

18. LEASES (CONTINUED) 18. HE (&)
The Group as a lessee (continued) AEBIEREFENA (&)
(b) Lease liabilities (b) HEEE
The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the movements HEABERFRNEEERES WM
during the year are as follows: ™~
HK$'000
THET
As at | April 2020 RZE_ZTFMHA—H 2901
Additions b7 689
Interest expense FMEmX 169
Payments (B¢ (2,860)
Exchange realignment PEE 5, 5 2 4]
As at 31 March 2021 and | April 2021 RZEBE-_—F=A=+—HK
—F-—#mAB—H 940
Additions BN
Interest expense FERXZ
Payments B
Exchange realignment bE 5 R
As at 31 March 2022 RZBE-_—_F=A=+—H
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B IRAR R

For the year ended 31 March 202 HE — T - —F=A=+—HItFE

18. LEASES (CONTINUED) 18. HE (&)
The Group as a lessee (continued) KEFESAFEA (E)
(b) Lease liabilities (continued) (b) HEEE(E)
2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET THET
Analysed into: DR
Current portion BNERER 5 713
Non-current portion JEBNERER o> 227
940
() The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to leases are () MEZFHEAZHEESEMDT
as follows:
2022 2021
—E-—F —E—%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx THTT
Interest on lease liabilities HERENE 169
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEENE 2,579
Expense relating to short term leases REHEERX
(included in administrative expenses) (FEATTEAY) 357
Total amount recognised in profit or loss RIBRP R 2 A% 3,105
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e AR

For the year ended 31 March 202 HE—ZT - —F=A=+—HILtFE

19. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 19, B EE
Water
Land use mining
right licence Total
(Note i) (Note ii)
T fE AR BRokE met
(Hfezi) (Hfezii)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

THET TET TAET

Cost: RS
As at | April 2020 R-ZE-_FTFMAB—H 9,904 374,132 384,036
Exchange realignment EREIEE 830 328 1,158
As at 31 March 2021 and R-ZEZ-FZA=+—-HR

I April 2021 —E_-fMA—H 374,460 385,194
Exchange realignment [ 5 A 452 179 631
As at 31 March 2022 R—B=-=—F=HA=+—H 11,186 374,639 385,825
Accumulated amortisation Rt B RAEE

and impairment:
As at | April 2020 R-Z-ZFmMA—F 338 46,932 47,270
Amortisation for the year FRNEH 207 = 207
Exchange realignment b 5 36 - 36
As at 31 March 2021 and R-B-—f=HA=+-HEK

I April 2022 —E-"FWmA—H 46,932 47,513
Amortisation for the year FNEH - 220
Impairment loss for the year FRRERR 40,504 40,504
Exchange realignment B 3, S - 28
As at 31 March 2022 R-EBE-_—_H=A=+—H 87,436 88,265
Carrying amount: BRE(E :
As at 31 March 2022 R=-B=-=—H=H=+—H 10,357 287,203 297,560

I ——

As at 3| March 2021 R-ZE-_—F=A=+—H 10,153 327,528 337,68l
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

IMF

BB ERRMEE

For the year ended 3| March 2022 HZ—F - —F=A=+—HIFE

9. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

Notes:

@

(i)

Land use right represents the right to use the land for water exploitation activities in

Hunan. The land is located at J#iF8%T R IT T 5 A K = SIEER A A

Land use right is amortised on a straight-line basis over its lease term of 50 years.

Water mining licence represents the right to conduct water exploitation activities
in Hunan. The subsidiary, # R #TH = (2R KB MR AF) had entered into an
agreement with Hunan Government to grant the subsidiary a water mining licence
for exploitation of mineral water for 5 years. The subsidiary has the priority to
extend the mineral water mining licence afterwards. The mine is located at J# 7 ¥
A% = 3. The subsidiary has the exclusive rights and authorities to manage and

arrange all activities in the mining area.

The water mining licence expired on 3 May 2022 and the renewal application has
been submitted in April 2022. Affected by the COVID-19 pandemic, the renewal
procedures of the government authorities were delayed. Up to the date of this
report, the Xintian County Natural Resources Bureau* (3THEZE B REIRRD),
Xintian County People’s Government* (¥7H 8 A REUT) and Yongzhou City
Natural Resources and Planning Bureau* (k11 B A B IRMIREI ) have issued
letters to agree for the renewal of water mining licence. It is expected that the
renewal procedures will be completed in the third quarter of 2022 and the delay in
the renewal of water mining licence will not affect the construction and production

plan of the factory in Hunan.

Water mining licence is amortised on a straight-line basis over its estimated useful
economic life which was estimated with reference to the validity of the operation
licence held and the productions plans of the Group. No amortisation was
provided for the year ended 3| March 2022 as commercial production has not yet

commenced during the year.

The Group is required to assess any indication of impairment on the water
mining licence at the end of each reporting period. The Group has completed its
annual impairment test for the water mining licence. The recoverable amount of
the water mining licence was determined based on multi period excess earnings
method which uses sum of discounted present value of the projected annual excess
earnings. As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, the recoverable amount of the water
mining licence referenced to a valuation report issued by AP Appraisal Limited, an
independent qualified valuer. This valuation uses cash flow projections based on

financial estimates covering a twenty-year period.

*  For identification purpose only

. /\\\

Hret

0}

(i)

EE(E)

i AN E R EKREREE 2 i
AL FRER o 5% L ML Y FE BT BR R AT SR

MBEAK= SEERERA -
T AR ESOF T MR B ARE MY o

FOKE RN AR EITRAEEBREF] o Kt
B B H E SRR KA R AR B &
MBI BB AR FENEBARABRRF
FIRRIE R K Z HKE - BRI HEAE
FIERIE RKEOKE o T RALH 9 7 5%
=hHE BHBRAREBRENRENE
BREFNERETZFIAEE -

FABER-ZZZZ_FRA=AFH WK
EEER-T__FHARKEYHBE - 2
COVID-19RZIEHE - BINEBANERERFZ
IR - BEABEAY  FAGAAER
B~ FHABARBUT RN T B AZRMAR
EREELRHRBEEERKE - BAEE

BFER-_ZE-_FE=FERK ' FKE
BHZERT T ELEREIROERME
ERtE -

FOKBERE B ATAKBEFRREREH
o MEZEBFHDN2EREBAFEET
AEZAEMEREE B - HREE
R CF=RA=1+—RLEFEHEKRAKE
¥AE  BRAAFELEELE -

REBEAREREH R HERKEZ /R
BEBFR - NEEESTHKEFRKE 2 FRERER
A o FOKEZ AT BT IRE 2 BBk
wA(NEEFEBE NG 2 RBELAE
THE)EE RZTE__FR-ZT_—F=
A=+—8 HKIBZAKE&EHILEE
A B IEEERAP Appraisal Limited 34,2 —
BEERS - WEEDRE-TFH2HH
HEANARSREFBE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e

BAFE AR MY RE

For the year ended 31 March 202 HE — T - —F=A=+—HItFE

9. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

Notes: (continued)

(iif)

(continued)
The key assumptions and discount rate used in the annual excess earnings

calculation are as follows:

Net profit margin (% of revenue) MAEEWABSL)
Long term annual growth rate used to BAREERERE

extrapolate cash flow HRAFEERE
Pre-tax discount rate BATHTR =

The net profit margin is based on management’s expectation and experience
in bottled water market, adjusted for expected efficiency improvements and

expected increase in production.

The long term growth rate is the growth rate used to extrapolate the cash flows
beyond the ten-year period which are based on the estimated growth rate taking
into account the industry growth rate and the medium or long term growth target

of the Group.

The discount rate is before tax and reflects specific risks.

The value assigned to the above assumptions reflect past experience and are

consistent with management plans for focusing operations in these markets. The

management believes that the assumptions are reasonable and achievable.
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19. B & (&)
it - (%)

(iif)

(&)
ARFEFEBRLAEZ TBERARFTRE
BWINT

2022 2021
—EBC_F —EF -

13.51%-32.12% 19.61%-33.63%

2.50%

13.50%

MAMEDEREEFEHREKRTENHLER
KRAE  THRARERSRAHESE
I AETT R

EHEREXSAREEERE TFHNRER
BMERE . NAGEFERRAEE I E
BUIEREXRASBENTRHERBES

R TR R R -

PRELEBREBERPBELR  WE

EREEEINREREMH 28— &
BEEREZERR/EIEAT -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B IRAR R

For the year ended 31 March 202 HE — T - —F=A=+—HItFE

20. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

At the beginning of the year

Share of post-acquisition losses and other

comprehensive income during the year,

net of dividends received

Impairment losses for the year

At the end of the year

Amount due from an associate

(Notes i and ii)

F1
FANHKBRERK

Htt 2wl
kR 2 WALE

FARIEEE

FR

(B £ K ii)

Notes:

0] As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, amount due from an associate is unsecured,
interest-bearing at 10% per annum and repayable within one year.

(i) The maximum outstanding balance during the year was approximately
HK$3,236,000.

(i)~ The Group holds 20% equity interests in Hong Kong Spring Water Ding Dong

Group Company Limited (“Spring Water Ding Dong") which has a wholly-owned

subsidiary in Guangxi, Guangxi Spring Water Ding Dong Beverages Company

Limited* (“Guangxi Spring Water Ding Dong”). Guangxi Spring Water Ding Dong

possesses a water procurement permit for the production and sales of bottled

water and is currently in operation in Guangxi. The remaining 80% equity interests

is held by Mr. Li Yuguo, the substantial shareholder of the Group.

*  For identification purpose only

20. A& N Rl 2R

& e — F] gt & /2 B 2 5ROR

Hiet -

0

(i

(iif)

2022 2021
=== T —F
HK$’000 HK$'000
F&ET TET
190,826 201,076
(10,250)
147,000 190,826
2022 2021
=== T —F
HK$’000 HK$'000
F&ET TET
2,866
|

R-B-_—FER-_T_-_—F=A=+—H"
e — R HS 4 R B 2 FRIB B EIR IR - 121 0%
FIEEE - WAR—FANER -

WA E &= A EEREL 33236000/8 7T ©

AEEBERERKTREEERAR (R
KT ) (EREFEEE —H2ENB A RE
BRI AR AR ([EERAKTE]))
Z20%MRANE R o FETE SRIKAT PR FE A BUKZE
EERFEREK  LEERERALE - £
TB0%MAE DM A EE T BB RFEREELE
’E -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR ERR M

Forthe year ended 3| March 202 HE —E - —F=A=+—HILtFE

20. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

Notes: (continued)

(i)

(continued)

As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, the Group completed its annual impairment test
for interests in associates by comparing the recoverable amount to the carrying
amount. The Group engaged AP Appraisal Limited, an independent qualified valuer,
to carry out a valuation of the interests in associates as at 31 March 2022 and 2021
based on the value-in-use calculations. This valuation uses cash flow projections

based on financial estimates covering a ten-year period.

The key assumptions and discount rate used in the value-in-use calculations are as

follows:

Gross profit margin (% of revenue)
Long term annual growth rate used to extrapolate cash flows

BRI E

Pre-tax discount rate

Gross profit margin is the average margin as a percentage of revenue over the ten-
year forecast period. It is based on the current sales margin levels with adjustments

for expected efficiency improvements and expected increase in production.

The long term growth rate is the growth rate used to extrapolate the cash flows
beyond the ten-year period based on the estimated growth rate taking into
account the industry growth rate, past experience and the medium or long term

growth target of the associates.

The discount rate is before tax and reflects specific risks.

The value assigned to the above assumptions reflect past experience and are

consistent with management plans for focusing operations in these markets. The

management believes that the assumptions are reasonable and achievable.

172  Asia Resources Holdings Limited | T2/ & RIZEAR AR A 7]

EMER(ERABD L)
BREERERENREFEERE

20. REGE QT 2 s (&)
B - ()

(i)

(%)
RZBE-_—FR-_ZF-_—F=A=+—8H"
FEBFEBLERATKESHAREREE %
REREERATZ S FERBEIR - K
SEEZEBE LA EREERMAP Appraisal
Limited * AMEREBEHEAEE BN _-F
CoERZT-—F=A=1+-—B%EHL
RAZ S EITRE o WA EDRBIETF
HrBMBEENRARSRBERE -

PR EREEGE 2 B ERR LR ERS
M -

2022 2021
—E-CF —E_—F

15.9%-44.1% 38.42%-53.01%

2.00% 2.50%

13.00%

12.00%

EMESTFEABERAT D LR FHH
HE - HTYREAEENERKEHE X
HWHEPAR KRR R ERERIE N AEITHE -

EMEREAMREEBB T EHRORSR
BHMERE - DUMSHEREAEE B
BARMEEE  BEERRBEARANTE
Wi RE M E A -

IR TR A R R -

PRELABRZEERPBELSR  WE

EREEINREZEMH I8 -2 &

BEREZEBRRAREALT



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B IRAR R

For the year ended 31 March 202 HE — T - —F=A=+—HItFE

20. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED) 20. REEE A Bl 2w (8)

Details of the Group's associates, which were held indirectly by the REEEE QA (KRR RI@EBARME
Company at the end of the reporting period, were as follows: BiEA)ZHBET -
Form of Place of Class of shares/ Proportion of nominal value of
business incorporation/  registered paid capital/registered Principal
Name of associates and structure  operation capital held capital held by the Group activities
AL/ KEZRG/ kEEEBEZERRE/
BENTER EBPARRE EE4H EMERER AMEAAEZADL TERH
2022 2021
—E-CE “E--F
Hong Kong Spring Water Incorporated Hong Kong Ordinary 20% 20%  Investment holding and
Ding Dong Group Bl BE LRR water business
Company Limited REARRKER

FRRKTREBFRAA

Guangxi Spring Water Ding Dong  Incorporated The PRC Registered 20%  Production and sales of
Beverages Company Limited* AL el i

BRRKTRARERAT

bottled water

EERHEEREK

*  For identification purpose only
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR AR MR

For the year ended 31 March 202 HE — T - —F=A=+—HItFE

20. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)
Summarised financial information in respect of the Group's associates
for the year ended 31 March 2022 and 2021 was set out below which
represents amounts shown in the respective financial statements of
the associates prepared in accordance with HKFRSs. The associates
are accounted for using the equity method in the consolidated

financial statements.

Current asset mBEE
Non-current asset EMBEE
Current liabilities iER=Y
Revenue WA

Loss for the year NEFEEIE
Other comprehensive income Hith 2 E
Total comprehensive income P EW R

|74  Asia Resources Holdings Limited | 22 M &RIZARB R A 7]

Y

20. REE N B 2R (1)

REBZBERARBE_S-__FR=
T —F=A=+—HLFEZVHKE
HMEHNTX - REMBERRIES
BB E LR S HBE T BRE
WAIRZ &8 o BE RREiRE MR
RN RREYIBR

2022 2021
—E=-= T
HK$’000 HK$'000

TAT
33,407 32,980
108,423

189,734

TR

25,169

(71,830) (50,975)
(327) Q74)

(72,157) (51,249)




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e RS ERAR MR
For the year ended 31 March 202 HZE - T - —F = A=+—HILtFE

20. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

Reconciliation of the net liabilities of associates at the acquisition date
to the carrying amount of the interests in associates recognised in the

consolidated financial statements is as follows:

20. REEZE N B 2= (F)
B Na RN BBz B E FRE M
NAERCREEBECHEREREGS R
RAFERLT -

2022 2021
—E-= —T — =&
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx THET
Net liabilities of the associates /N g
as at acquisition date HHZB® (33,841) (33,841)
Proportion of the Group’s ownership HASEREERRZ
interests in associates HWEEERBD L 20%
Cost of investments in associates KEBRARNIELMBE AR Z
unlisted in Hong Kong B %N (6,768) (6,768)
Valuation adjustment from acquisition WeiE 2 (HE TR 210,217 210,217
Goodwill (net of accumulated impairment losses) 2 (M REtREEER) 2,048 31,443
Share of post-acquisition losses and other S EEEEREMET
comprehensive income, net of dividends received — Wz% + 1% B WAL B (58,497) (44,066)
Carrying amount of the Group's interests in REERBERBZERZ
associates REE 147,000 190,826

There is no commitment and contingent liabilities under the

associates.

il\tlit

FHENF T EEFRAEREAR

o

g
/

T
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

n\/-_ﬁ

BB EwRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 202 HE—ZE - —F=A=+—HILFE

21

. PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT

BRTYE
BB

Properties under development

Less: provision for impairment s

Properties under development are the residential properties located
in Beibu District, Jinshitan, Jinzhou New District, Dalian, the PRC*

under development for sale.

As at 3| March 2022, the carrying amount of properties
under development included land use rights of approximately

HK$127,782,000 (2021: HK$122,616,000).

On 27 January 2022, the Group received an idle land decision from
mAEAREIR

/&) which determined the land of properties under development

Dalian Municipal Bureau of Natural Resources* (K3

was in idle condition and the land may be repossessed by the PRC
government authorities without compensation. The Board has
reviewed and reconsidered the development plan and projected a
significant drop in gross profit margin in developing the properties
under development. Due to the abovementioned factors, the Board
considered a full impairment on the properties under development
is appropriate and reasonable. Nevertheless, the management are
still using its best endeavors to avoid land repossession by the PRC

government authorities without compensation.

*  For identification purpose only
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2. BREAPYIE

2022 2021
. —FF
HK$°000 HK$'000

TEx AT

333,493
(96,857)

236,636

BRTEVDEDURFERNES MRS
AELHEZHEOEZERTEEY
o,

N-ZZBE-Z—_F=A=+—0 " ER+TY
HEERMEREL 1277820008 T(=

T —5F 122,616,000/ 7T) 2 T fE A
o
R-ZE-_—_F—A=-++8 KEEWYK
gl

REMARERBHENEE LR
£ RETERPOENLHERRE
EikRe - B E R TR AT R E UL
Bt - ELESCENABHEEER
ﬁ%*ﬁﬁﬁ%?@@%%%ﬂﬁﬁﬁ
BT - AN EREAER REEFERR
HERTYFETE2EREZEERS
Er o BEWML  EEEDEENER
A% R B BT A R AR e )
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B IRAR R

For the year ended 31 March 202 HE — T - —F=A=+—HItFE

21. PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT 21. BRPYEE)
(CONTINUED)
For the year ended 31| March 2022, provision for impairment of HE_T-_—F=-F=+—HILFE "
approximately HK$242,539,000 (202 1: Nil) was recognised. B #5289 R 1B 8 8 49242,539,000 % 7T

—E-—& 3,

—=

The carrying amount of properties under development is analysed as ERPYEZERERESTOT
follows:
2022 2021
—E-—fF —ET-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FH7 FHT
Located in the PRC, held on: EREREFA

Leases of between 10 and 50 years NF10E50F ML 236,636

22. COMPLETED PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE 2. BEHE S ERIE

2022 2021
—E-CF T —F
HK$’000 HK$'000
F&T FHT

Completed properties held for sale BERE 2 BEERME 144,089 144,717
Less: Provision for impairment Y RE RS (66,139) (55,664)

89,053
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR
Forthe year ended 3| March 202 HE —E - —F=A=+—HILtFE

22. COMPLETED PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE
(CONTINUED)

The completed properties held for sale were located in Beibu District,
Jinshitan, Jinzhou New District, Dalian, the PRC* under medium-term
lease. Completed properties held for sale which are expected to be
recovered in more than twelve months after the reporting date are
also classified under current assets as it is expected to be realised in

the Group’s normal operating cycle.
For the year ended 31| March 2022, provision for impairment of
approximately HK$ 10,604,000 was recognised to reflect the decrease

in net realisable value of the completed properties.

For the year ended 31 March 2021, reversal of impairment loss of

approximately HK$856,000 was recognised.

23. TRADE RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables B2 5 R R

*  For identification purpose only
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR
For the year ended 31 March 202 HE — T - —F=A=+—HItFE

23. TRADE RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

Based on the payment terms of tenancy agreements, the aging analysis
of the Group’s trade receivables as of each reporting date is as

follows:

0 — 180 days 0Z180H

The Group's trade receivables are denominated in RMB, represent
rental receivable from tenants for the use of PRC investment
properties and machinery. Rentals are payable in accordance with

tenancy agreements. No credit period is allowed.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the
carrying value of the trade receivables. The aging analysis of the trade
receivables that are not individually nor collectively considered to be

impaired is as follows:

Neither past due nor impaired KRB EARRE
Less than 90 days past due #ETZ90H
Past due more than 90 days B R E90 B

Over 95% of the trade receivables are subsequently received.
Therefore, no impairment loss has been provided. The Group does

not hold any collateral over these balances.

23. EGEUNBRFR(4E)
RIBHEWZ ZNRIER  AEBE 2 E
SRR N & e HE 2 BREg o AT
—|T 2

2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET TAT

e

AEBE B FRITRFTIAAREE -
REREBEFPRERATEREMELKS
MEKES - HeRBEERESN X
BRTEEH -

RBEAMERZEERRRE S RIK
R ZREE - ARERREBH/E
BB B 5 RWARSR R DT

2022 2021
—=E-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET T

1,189
1,662

2,851

HBiBS%ME 5K RRERE KD -
Ut & SR EEREE - AEELE
ez FHRE AT AR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR E MBI R

Forthe year ended 3| March 202 HE—E - —F=A=+—HULFE

24. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 24. FBAFIE - RERHEMEU
RECEIVABLES BRX
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
THExT FHTT
Non-current assets: FRBEE
Deposits for acquisition of investment W EMHE 2
properties, net (Note i) R FEAE) 401,504 532,397
Current assets: RBEE:
Deposits paid, net (Note i) BT Re TR (M) 584,870 566,942
Prepayments (Note iii) TR IR (B 7tiii) 6,636 1,730
Other receivables, net (Note iv) E At W BR SO R (MY ativ) 47,657 51,293
Amount due from the substantial shareholder — JEUYZ = A% R FRIE (A1 5Fv)
(Note v) 146,901 71,888
786,064 691,853
The movement of the provision for impairment loss on deposits paid B RS R E A ERERER(TEIEEAS
and other receivables (excluding prepayments and prepaid other B N H A B AR TE ) AR (B B 18 B AR
taxes) is disclosed in note 5C. SBPOMISCHEE o
The creation and release of impairment provision on deposits paid EERBRENEE 2BEREEFA
have been included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss SEBEEEREMEEmKERRE o NEERE
and other comprehensive income. Amounts charged to the provision Nz 2B —REBHTEKEEZIR
account are generally written off, when there is no expectation of SRS o

recovering additional cash.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR RR M

For the year ended 31 March 202 HE — T - —F=A=+—HItFE

24. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

Other receivables are denominated in the following currencies:

RMB AR
HKS$ BT
Notes:

0] Properties in Yantian
As at 31 March 2022, deposits paid of approximately HK$222,217,000,
net of provision for impairment of approximately HK$86,040,000 (2021:
HK$295,795,000) were related to three acquisitions of properties in Yantian
where the physical possession of the properties has been delivered to the Group.
According to the supplementary agreement disclosed in the announcement dated
3 May 2018, the titles of the three properties should be transferred to the Group
before 30 December 2018. Nevertheless, according to the announcement dated
19 June 2019, the vendor has still not registered the title of the properties under
the name of the Group. The approval from the PRC government authority for
issuing the building ownership certificate remained pending. In May 2020, the
Company received a letter from the vendor requesting for an extension of the
deadline to 31 December 2020 for handling the ownership certificate matter. In
April 2021, the Company received another letter from the vendor requesting for
further extension of deadline to 31 December 2021 for handling the ownership
certificate matter. Up to the date of this report, the ownership certificate matter is
still not resolved. The management will continue to follow up the issue with legal

advisors and take appropriate actions.

24 AANFUE - HMERHEMEW
ARR (48)
Sft PRI HA T 31 W5 -

Wiz

2022 2021
—E_— T

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FHET

47,478 51,139
179 154

47,657 51,293

BmYE
RZZEZZF=R=+—H - £222217,000
75 70 (FN R 73 (8 # 4986,040,00078 T 18 ) (=
T —1F 129579500057 ) 2 B RS H
CHERWEZIRERR  EZSMELE
BREEERNTFALE - REBHA=Z
—N\FERAZAZAERBEZHAR®  Z
SEMECEEARN-_S—/\F+=-_A=+
BRTEETARE - A - REBHA=-Z
—NERNATABZASE  BHMRUAKRE
BEBERZTYWEZ R - FEBUTHKE
REEZNIEMNAEL -RZZ_ZFH
A ARRAEEESIOGER  EXEREA
HREEFEESFENRERAZE T -FTF
TZA=t—H -R-_E-_—FWA AR
AIRBIE BN S —HEH  EXEEER
EXSENSARBTE—SERE T -—
F+-A=t+—R -HEEAREAH BE
BEEMRMER - EIE G EE R ER
REBMEELREVEE T -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 3| March 2022 HZ=F - —F=A=+—HIFE

24. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 24. FEF K
RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED) BR :A(,,.;a:)

Notes: (continued) Hist - (&)

BREREMER

Properties in Beijing

As at 31 March 2022, deposit paid of approximately HK$ 161,527,000,
net of provision for impairment of approximately HK$85,079,000 (2021:
HK$215,339,000, net of provision for impairment of approximately
HK$21,297,000) was related to the acquisition of properties in Beijing. Details are
set out in the announcement of the Company dated 28 February 2017. Due to the
outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic, the construction works were temporarily
suspended and the progress was delayed. In April 2021, the Company received
a letter from the vendor explaining the reasons of delay in construction works
and requesting for an extension of handover of the properties. In June 2022, the
Company received a letter from the vendor requesting for a further extension of
handover of the properties. Currently, the vendor has resumed the construction
works and the construction is expected to be completed on or before 31
December 2022. The management will continue to follow up and take appropriate

actions.

Naming right and advertisement board of properties in Yantian

As at 3| March 2022, deposit paid of approximately HK$17,760,000, net of
provision for impairment of approximately HK$4,399,000 (2021: HK$21,263,000)
was related to the naming right and advertisement board of the properties located

in Yantian.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

IMF

BB ERRMEE

For the year ended 3| March 2022 HZ—F - —F=A=+—HIFE

24. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

Notes: (continued)

(i

As at 31 March 2022, deposits paid were mainly relating to (I) acquisition of
properties in Zengcheng of HK$nil, net of provision for impairment approximately
HK$76,448,000 (2021: HK$nil, net of provision for impairment approximately
HK73,357,000) and (2) acquisition of properties in Shenyang (“Shenyang

Properties”) of approximately HK$584,234,000 (202 |: HK$566,306,000).

Properties in Zengcheng

The acquisition of properties in Zengcheng was terminated on |8 January 2017
and over 77% of the paid consideration has been refunded in previous years. The
Group's legal advisors has issued demand letters to the vendor for the repayment
of the remaining balance of the paid consideration and related compensation. Up
to the date of this report, the Group is still chasing the repayment from the vendor.
Based on the Group's historical credit loss experience, the Group has recognised a

loss allowance for expected credit loss on the deposits paid in prior year.

Shenyang Properties

Details of the acquisition of Shenyang Properties are set out in the announcement
of the Company dated 12 October 2017 and the circular of the Company dated
22 January 2018. On 24 April 2019, a termination agreement was entered into
between the vendor and the Group to terminate the sale and purchase agreement
in relation to the acquisition of Shenyang Properties. The vendor shall refund the
total amount of deposits of RMB562,500,000 (the “Refund Amount”) paid by the
Group, together with a monetary compensation of RMBI 1,250,000 on or prior
to 24 October 2019, details of which are set out in the announcement of the

Company dated 24 April 2019.

24. FEF K
-Mﬁ)

K - (&)

(i)

BREREMER

RZZ__F=A=+—H EBER%RexE
B)KBEEMETETIRRERBLD
764480008 T8 ) (Z T —F  TET - H
B 1B B 5 4973,357,0008 014 ) & (2) BB R
B ([ES W% ) #9584,234,0008 7T
T =% 566,306,000/ ) B H °

B
WEEBRMEER_F—tF A+ N\AK
LERBBE77%ENREBEREMFZRR o K
SEERERBEMEFBELERE - B
BEENREREEBEIHBK BEEAR
EHH - AEEDEBTETER - REX
SEZBEFEBRLER  AERELNF
ERENRE s HREEBEERERERR
1o

e kES
ERRBEEMENFEHNARABH
AT +FTAT-BZRAERARA
BBA_Z—NF-—A-+_HZAX
—NENAZ+HA  EHEAE
BT8R EmE  WRIEAEWBESD
¥MERRE -BEHEAR-_ZT—NFTA
“tHHSZAREAREEFRSBEA
R #562500000 ([ RREHE]) RARK
11,250,000 Z f5 B2 - ARAFFBENART
BfA-—T—NAFMA-tMAZDER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 3| March 2022 HZ=F - —F=A=+—HIFE

24. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 24. % 'SEN
RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED) ,TA(,,.,\)

Notes: (continued) Hist - (&)

BREREMER

On | November 2019, the Group further entered into a supplemental agreement
with Mr. Li Yuguo, a substantial shareholder, the chairman and an executive
director of the Company and the ultimate beneficial owner of the vendor pursuant
to which, Mr. Li agreed to take up the responsibilities to repay the Refund Amount
and the related compensation and interests to the Group, and provide his personal
assets as securities. The Group agreed to extend the repayment date to 24 April
2020, with an interest rate of 5.25% per annum. Details of which are set out in the
announcement of the Company dated | November 2019, 22 January 2020 and 27

February 2020 and the circular of the Company dated 6 February 2020.

Afterwards, the Group has set up a special committee to handle the repayment
and/or the recovery of the Refund Amount, and entered into several supplemental
agreements with Mr. Li Yuguo regarding the extension of repayment deadline with
the agreed interest rates on the amount outstanding. Details of the supplemental
agreements are set out in the announcements of the Company dated 29 April
2020, 8 May 2020, 7 July 2020, 7 July 2021, | September 2021 and 28 October
2021, and the circulars of the Company dated 24 August 2020 and | November

2021 respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

IMF

BB ERRMEE

For the year ended 3| March 2022 HZ—F - —F=A=+—HIFE

24. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

Notes: (continued)

(i)

(v)

v

As at 3| March 2022, the Refund Amount outstanding was amounting to
approximately RMB473,820,000 (2021: approximately RMB478,630,000) and
repayable on or before 2 July 2022. Up to the date of this report, the Group has

received from Mr. Li Yuguo the full amount of Refund Amount.

As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, prepayments mainly comprised prepayment of
indirect cost incurred for properties under development and purchase cost of

machineries for the production of bottled mineral water in Hunan.

As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, other receivables, net of provision of impairment
approximately HK$ 1,985,000, mainly comprised other tax prepaid in the PRC and

advance payments for business related matters.

As at 3| March 2022 and 2021, amount due from the substantial shareholder,
Mr. Li Yuguo, represented the compensation and interests receivable relating
to the termination of the acquisition of Shenyang Properties as detailed in
(ii). The amount was approximately RMBI 19,138,000 (2021: approximately
RMB60,758,000) and repayable on or before 2 July 2022. Up to the date of this
report, the Group received from Mr. Li Yuguo a total sum of approximately

RMB46,485,000.

24. FEF K
-Mﬁ)

C BEREABER

K - (&)

(i)

(v)

RZBZZF=ZRA=+—H  KEEEXS
X AR473,820000L (ZT=—F 1 HHA
R ¥478,630,0007T) REER =T ZF+ A=
Bz AifEE - BEAREEY - AEEE
HEFRSTE2BBER RS -

R-B-_—HER-_T-_—=A=+—H "
ENRETERREERPYWEEE 2HER
7R LA R 7 54 7 A EE R B R AR K O M BR R AR
xo

RIB-_—_FR-_ZE-_—F=A=+—8"
HoAth A R R (FNBR BB B 49 1,985,000 7T
B)ETEBFAMNEPERERESHEBZ
MR -

R-B-_—FER-_T-_—F=A=+—H"
JRE U == 22 AR R 2 B O AR O RIEFE RO BB (i) BR
FE AR U R RS ) 3 R R Y BE 18 R R IR
FE - @EHARM19,138000(ZF=—
F M ARB07580007T)  WARZE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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BB EwRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 202 HE—ZE - —F=A=+—HILFE

25.

AMOUNT DUE FROM NON-CONTROLLING
INTERESTS

On 23 May 2017, the Group entered into a sale and purchase
agreement with Mr. Lam Chun Ho, pursuant to which Mr. Lam Chun
Ho agreed to sell, and the Group agreed to purchase, 67% of the
equity interests in Good Union (China) Limited (“Good Union").
Immediately after the acquisition by the Group, Good Union
was owned by the Group and Mr. Lam Chun Ho as to 67% and
33% respectively. Mr. Lam Chun Ho has given certain production
volume guarantee in the sale and purchase agreement, including the
production volume of spring water shall not be less than 50,000
cubic metres in 2019 and 100,000 cubic metres for each calendar
year from 2020 to 2028. If Good Union fails to satisfy the production
volume guarantee, Mr. Lam Chun Ho shall be required to pay
monetary compensation to the Group. For details, please refer to the

announcement of the Company dated 23 May 2017.

On 27 August 2021, Mr. Lam Chun Ho disposed of his 33%
shareholding in Good Union to an independent third party. The
Group continues to hold 67% of the shareholding in Good Union. The
new minority shareholder of Good Union has agreed to assume all the
liabilities and commitments of Mr. Lam Chun Ho. The new minority
shareholder of Good Union has also agreed and fulfilled certain
compensation obligations of Mr. Lam Chun Ho. The compensation
relating to the failure to fulfil the production volume guarantee of
the water mining business in Hunan for the years 2019 and 2020 of
approximately HK$26,338,000 was mutually agreed between the new

minority shareholder and the Group.

Up to the date of this annual report, the Group has received partial
compensation of HK$3,000,000 from the new minority shareholder.

The amount is unsecured, interest-free, repayable on or before 27
August 2022 and denominated in RMB.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e RS ERAR MR

For the year ended 31 March 202 HE — T - —F=A=+—HItFE

26. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

Equity securities listed in Hong Kong at REBLMZBRAFES -

quoted bid price RRE

Fair value are determined with reference to quoted market bid price.

27. BANK BALANCES AND CASH

Bank balances and cash were denominated in the following currencies:

RMB AR
HK$ BT
Others Hib

The remittance of cash and cash equivalents denominated in RMB
out of the PRC is subject to the foreign exchange control restrictions

imposed by the government of the PRC.

26 MR FPEFTABRRZZEH

4%

2022 2021
—E-—F =&
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHxT THETT
2,866
NEETIBETEREET °
27. RITHEHRRIRE
RITEHRRIBEL AT EEHE -
2022 2021
—E-=F —E-—%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
THxT THET
19,617
[,375
744
21,736

BRBEEHUAREFEZREERS
FEYAFTEPEBNE 2 IMNEE
PR
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e SRR MR
Forthe year ended 3| March 202 HE —E - —F=A=+—HILtFE

27. BANK BALANCES AND CASH
(CONTINUED)
(a) Restricted bank deposits
As at 31 March 2022, restricted bank deposits of approximately
HK$350,000 (202 1: HK$2,699,000) are deposits subject to
regulatory restrictions and are therefore not available for general

use by the other entities within the Group.

As at 31 March 2021, restricted bank deposits of approximately
HK$3,000 are deposits subject to regulatory restrictions. The
amount is not available for general use until one of the trade
payables of approximately HK$8,903,000 is fully settled. Such

restriction has been released during the current year.

(b) Cash and cash equivalents

Bank balances and cash IR1TEEBR MRS
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27. SRITHEBRRIRE (E)

(a) ERHBFTES

RZEBE-_—_F#=ZA=+—H " %
PR Il R 17 77 5K £9350,000/ ;L (= F
Z—4F 12,699,000/ 7T) AX EER
HIEER - B AR EE RN EH A E 8
BmERE—RAR -

a3

R-ZB-_—4=ZA=+—H0" %R
HIERTTF K300 T AR EER
HEER - ZEREERE—KRA
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(b) RERRELZEY

2022 2021
== —E—F
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e TSR MR
For the year ended 31 March 202 HZE - T - —F = A=+—HILtFE

28. TRADE PAYABLES

Trade payables 2 S ER IR

The following is an aging analysis of trade payables at the end of the

reporting period, based on the contract date or invoice date:

0 to 180 days 0Z180H
181 to 365 days 181 £&365H
Over 365 days tB38365H

The trade payables are not interest bearing, normally settled within six

month after receiving suppliers’ invoices and denominated in RMB.

& 5 B IR

2022
—E——

HK$’000

FTERT

RBEHRRIEE B ks

HK$'000
TAT

60,597

BHRMNEFREDTOT

2022
—E-—

HK$’000

TERT

EHEARRALE - B
5 7 ¢ AR (B A 9
WA 1E -

HK$'000
TAT

7,832
37
52,728

60,597

EBLAAR

Annual Report 2022 F#

FHHZ

189



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 202 HE—ZT - —F=A=+—HILtFE

29. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 29. BB IR KR BRI E A
2022 2021
—E-CF T —F
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET T
Land value added tax payable AT L HbIE BT 20,222
Accruals B EM 2,585
Receipts in advance FERIA 392
Other payables (Note i) Hpth e BR AR (B a3) 24,955
Amount due to non-controlling interests (Note i) & JE4E AR HE 25 I8 (B 5Fii) 9912
Amount due to a shareholder (Note iii) FE - — & AR R 5K IE (M i) 2,761
60,827
Other payables and accruals are denominated in the following HAub R BRFR R BT B B AT 5 &8 Et
currencies: & :
2022 2021
—E-_F T —F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TET FAT
RMB AR 47,168
HK$ BIT 13,659
60,827
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR R Rk MR

For the year ended 31 March 2002 HE-—ZE - —F=A=+—HILFE

29. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 29. A B R R BT E A
(CONTINUED) (&)
Notes: M -
() Other payables of approximately HK$8,813,000 (2021: HK$8,457,000) is interest ()  EHbREARRA8,813,0008 (=T =_—4 :
bearing at 10% per annum. 8,457,000/ 7T ) IR & FI =K 1 0% B, ©
(i) Amount due to non-controlling interests is unsecured, interest-free and repayable (i) ENEERERFELSEER 2ERIRE
on demand. SKIBIE -
(i) Amount due to a shareholder is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. (i) EN—BREFEAEEER REREEX
B8
30. SHARE CAPITAL 30, fo 7

Number of

ordinary shares Amount
EERHE =8
HK$'000
Fis
Authorised: EE
Ordinary share of HK$0.01 each SREEOIEIL Y TRk
At | April 2020, 31 March 2021, RZZE_ZTFMA—AH -
| April 2021 and 31 March 2022 —E-—%=A=+—H"
“E-—FMA-BR
—E__H=H=+—H 250,000,000,000 2,500,000
Issued and fully paid: ERITRAE
Ordinary share of HK$0.01 each BIRMEE0.0IE T2 T AR
At | April 2020, 31 March 2021, RZZEZZTFMHA—H -
| April 2021 and 31 March 2022 T —%=H=+—H"
—E-FMOA-HAR
—E-__H=HA=+-—H 7,611,690,000 76,117
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e PR ERR M

For the year ended 31 March 202 HE—ZE - —F=A=+—HILFE

31. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 31 IEIERIREE
The components of deferred tax liabilities recognised on the RBEE2 T -_—_FN_FT=_—F=A1
consolidated statement of financial position and the movements =T—HIEFEA  REETBHRRE
during the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021 are as follows: BRREERBEENEXT D R
LU

Fair value adjustments arising

from acquisition of subsidiaries

BENELAAELE 2 ATEBER

Properties
Effective Investment under
rental properties development Total
ik RENRX  BRPYE At
HK'000 HK'000 HK'000 HK'000
TERT TET TET TERT
Deferred tax arising from: THEEREENELRE
At | April 2020 “Z-ZFMA—H - - 10,577 10,577
Acquisition of subsidiaries WeEEHE 2 A - 19,902 - 19,902
Charged Mz
~ to profit or loss -8B - 570 - 570
— to other comprehensive income - HEt2EkE = 1,557 887 2,444
At 31 March 2021 and | April 2021 R-Z-_—F=ZA=+—-8k
—T_—FQ@A-H - 22,029 11464 33493
Charged/(Credited) nks/ (Gt A)
— to profit or loss —-B& 1,587 (9,268) (11,750) (194431)
~ to other comprehensive income —HEmrmks 26 772 286 1,084
At 31 March 2022 W-E--£=HF=+-H 1,613 13,533 - 15146
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B IRAR R

For the year ended 31 March 202 HE — T - —F=A=+—HItFE

32. CASH FLOW INFORMATION N.BEREEHR
Net debt reconciliation ERFREL R
Liabilities from
financing
activities
REBMETE 2EE
Lease
liabilities
HEEE
HK$'000
FET
Net debt as at | April 2020 RZZEZTFMNA—AZ
EFE el
Cash flows Hehs (2,860)
Other non-cash movements HEMIEReEH) 899
Net debt as at 31 March 2021 RZEBE-_—F=A=+—H2Z
B F5E 940
Cash flows HEnRE (1,962)
Other non-cash movements HEMIER ) 2,917
Net debt as at 31 March 2022 R-ZB-—_F=A=+—8%2
B R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR
Forthe year ended 3| March 202 HE —E - —F=A=+—HILtFE

33. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

Acquisition of Chi Sheng Trading Company Limited

(“Chi Sheng”)

For the year ended 3| March 2021, the Group acquired 100% of

the issued share capital of, and the shareholder’s loan advanced

to, Chi Sheng at a consideration of RMBI100 million (equivalent to

approximately HK$109,845,000). Chi Sheng is principally engaged in

investment holding and its subsidiary is principally engaged in property

investment. The acquisition has been completed on 24 June 2020.

The identifiable assets acquired
and the liabilities assumed at

the date of acquisition

RUEEHAETRIEER
FrEESRE

Investment properties REME
Property, plant and equipment ME - BE RE&E
Trade receivables B 5 R IRR
Prepayments, deposits and FENRIE - ZRER
other receivables HoAth FE U BR 7K
Bank balances and cash RITHEARRIR®
Trade payables B Z IR
Other payables and accruals Hih MR R IERTE R
Deferred tax liabilities BLENIEA R

|dentifiable net assets

AR A A

Gain on bargain purchase R EWE R
Total consideration HBRE
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33. IREB MY B A ]
WiEsREE 5B RA A ([ )

HE_Z-_—F=ZA=+—HLFE"
AN E IR 2 100% B BT IR A
RaEBRNBRRER  RERARK
100,000,000 7T ( 48 & 7 47 109,845,000 7
L) c MBRTFEREREERREANE
NEFTEREMERE - ZWECDRZ
T_TEXNA-TINHETEK °

Carrying Fair value

value adjustment Fair value
fREE  ATVESAE D¥E
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TAT THT
41,223 79,607 120,830
14,619 - 14,619
36 - 36

1,969 = 1,969
3,064 = 3,064
(33) = (33)
(8,882) - (8,882)
- (19,902) (19,902)
51,996 59,705 111,701
(1,856)

109,845



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
an\ jﬁ#&%ﬁﬁ

For the year ended 31 March 2002 HE-—ZE - —F=A=+—HILFE

33. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES 33. BB A B) (48)

(CONTINUED)
Acquisition of Chi Sheng Trading Company Limited
(“Chi Sheng”) (Continued)

WiEBEE S BRA A ([ #EE])
(&)

HK$'000
TET
Net cash outflow from the acquisition KEWBzEESRHEEE
Cash consideration paid ENBREeRE 109,845
Bank balances and cash acquired FREESRITAE SR R & (3,064)
106,781

The Group recognised a gain on bargain purchase of approximately
HK$ 1,856,000 in the business combination as a result of the fair
value of Chi Sheng's identifiable net assets over the sum of the
consideration paid. The fair value of the identifiable net assets at the
date of acquisition is quoted from a valuation report issued by AP

Appraisal Limited, an independent qualified valuer.

Chi Sheng contributed a profit of approximately HK$10,502,000 to
the Group's results for the period from the date of acquisition to 3|

March 2021.

If the acquisition had been completed on | April 2020, the
Group's revenue for the year ended 31 March 2021 would have
been approximately HK$35,265,000, and the Group’s profit for
the year ended 3| March 2021 would have been approximately
HK$92,369,000. The proforma information is for illustrative purposes
only and is not necessarily an indication of the revenue and results of
operations of the Group that actually would have been achieved, had
the acquisition been completed on | April 2020, nor is intended to be

a projection of future results.

HRBERZA#EEFELATES
R NREBEE BWAEERERS
iR B W AE & 471,856,000 7T ©
REEBE - AI#BEEFECATE
Thalil BB A B EERIAP Appraisal
Limited i B 2 fh{E#RE -

BERNKEBEANE_ZT_-_—=A8
=+ HYMAREEMBMAEES
#710,502,00078 7T Z S5 F) ©

Al

HKBEBEER _TS_ZTFWNA—
HEX  AIXEBEBEZE_T_-—
AT BALEFEHNBRABLY
352650008 MAKEHZE =
=A==+ —HLEFERGEMNEHL
7392,369,000 & 7T - HEZEKHERARH
FEM T —EXRTMEEEEN=
T_TFNA-BERREEREERD
REBRARKEEE - MUWIHFEEER
HARREENTEA o

I
AI
o

At

2F
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For the year ended 31 March 202 HE—ZE - —F=A=+—HILFE

34. RESERVES

(a) Capital reserve

Pursuant to a special resolution passed at a special general
meeting held on 31 May 2013, the Company effected the capital
reorganisation (“‘Capital Reorganisation 2013") which became
effective on 3 June 2013 and involved (i) the consolidation of
every twenty-five issued and unissued shares with a par value
of HK$0.05 each into one consolidated share; (ii) the reduction
of issued share capital whereby the par value of each issued
consolidated shares will be reduced from HK$1.25 to HK$0.25
by cancelling the paid-up capital to the extent of HK$1.00 on
each of the consolidated shares to a reduced share of HK$0.25
each; (iii) transfer of the credit arising from the capital reduction
to the capital reserve account of the Company; (iv) the sub-
division of each unissued consolidated share into five reduced

shares of HK$0.25 each.

Pursuant to a special resolution passed at a special general
meeting held on 12 November 2018, the Company
implemented a capital reorganisation (“Capital Reorganisation
2018") on |13 November 2018 which involved (i) capital
reduction, pursuant to which the issued share capital of the
Company were reduced by a reduction of the par value of
each issued shares from HK$0.25 to HK$0.01, which reduction
comprised a cancellation of such amount of the paid-up capital
on each issued share so that each issued share were treated
as one fully paid-up share of par value of HK$0.01 in the share
capital of the Company immediately following the capital
reduction and the credit arising from the capital reduction were
credited to the capital reserve account of the Company; and (ii)
sub-division of each of the authorised but unissued shares of par
value of HK$0.25 into twenty-five new shares of par value of

HK$0.01 each.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ara IR R AR M T

34. f#1E
(a) BXf2E

BRER-_ZE—=FRA=+—HHE
T2 BRRFRIREG L@ FRlR
BRAQAETEREH(ZE
—ZBEARBHENDIR_T—Z=ZFX
A=BEREFIEROHB-_THEKRS
IREE R0.05B T2 B BITRARE
TR E R —REOHRG ; (i)HEI
WEBITRAE - Bk 8REET
S0’ c EHEREBTHERE
PR 2 BEHRAI1.00ETEEFR
E B /0.2578 7T 2 & BB 1) T B
1258 TCHR 202578 7T ¢ (iii) 1§ A
MR AN BRI & 2 R AR QT
ZEREBE  (VERREITAH
BOFAROLIREREER02SE
TCZ ASBIRAR 17

BER-_Z—N\F+—A+=HH
TZREREFRNRE ERBZERR
#BR - ARARZZT—N\F+—A
T=AETEAEA(=ZZ—N\E
REA]) EPROBRKEDR @ &
AR BERE FHITRD ZEER
0258 TR =001 7T - LABIR
RATF 2B ETRA o ILIRASER
BRESREFETROTHEEEE
B2EHRAE  EEREFETRG
R EBERAHIR & W2 EARFIR
Az BREEROIBITZEH
BR1n o BRZASHIR PR EE 4 < AR RE 1%
ARRR 2 EREERR  R(i)F4A
EER02SE T BREREER
BAOZBROAZTRARTRG &
AR E{E £0.0178 7T °



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR R Rk MR

For the year ended 31 March 202 HE — T - —F=A=+—HItFE

34. RESERVES (CONTINUED) 34. R (E)
(b) Special reserve (b) 5@ FE
The special reserve of the Group represents the excess of the AEBZBH#EENEREAS
nominal amount of the shares of the subsidiaries at the date of BB AR RO EEBLEARRT
the group reorganisation over the nominal amount of the shares ERBWENBARIZREmMETZ
issued by the Company as consideration for the acquisition of R EE S 58 -

the subsidiaries.

Details of the movements of the Group’s reserves are set out in the REBERERHFERAREICAZEFE
consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 76. EmEEE -
Details of the movements of the Company’s reserves are set out in RARFEEEDF BN G AT BHRE
note 40 to the consolidated financial statements. 3540 o

35. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 35. BAEIE
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had the following RI/EEAK » REBE TH|EREAE :

capital commitments:

2022 2021
—E-F —FT—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHx FHT
Contracted but not provided for: BRTAEREERE

Acquisition of investment properties U BB & Y 47,812 45,879
Property development expenditure WEBRRT 112,000 107,893

Construction in-progress for R KFEEEE) 2
water exploitation activities in Hunan TEEIR 16,374 800

176,186 154,572
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 202 HE — T - —F=A=+—HItFE

36. FINANCIAL GUARANTEE LIABILITIES
As at 31 March 2022, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
RNEBIMEHBRAA (“KEEIF"), incorporated in the PRC,
provided corporate guarantees to third parties amounting to
approximately RMB 100,000,000 (202 1: RMB100,000,000), detailed as

follows:

(1) On 17 April 2014, X:E&IF1 provided a corporate guarantee to
NEIRITE—FR LT (REIETT(—)") for a recurring bank
loan of RMB50,000,000 granted to a third party, AEE HY
BERWER AR (AERBE. In 2017, KEBIRIT(—) took a
legal action against X3 H for the recovery of the aforesaid
loan. On 2| December 2017, EEEE KE M F R AR A
(the “Court”) ordered X to repay the loan to AEIRTT

(—), together with relevant legal cost and interest.

(2) On 23 May 2014, K:EB|H provided a corporate guarantee
to R#HIRTT(—) for a recurring bank loan of RMB50,000,000
granted to a third party, XiEEEMERR A AE (REEE").
In 2017, Ki#E#RTT(—) took a legal action against RiEEE for
the recovery of the aforesaid loan. On 28 December 2017, the
Court ordered KiE:E[E to repay the loan to REIRIT(—),

together with relevant legal cost and interest.
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36. MIEEREE

RZE-_—_F=ZA=+—8 " AQaK
B AR 7 2 2 K BT B A B K AR
BBRAR([KELIFMDAE= iR
A BERE A AR 100,000,0007T
—ZT=—% : AK¥100,000,0007T) -
MR

() RZZFE—EFOA++ER - KEE|
MBARERITE—HOIIT(IKE
BIT(—)DAE=ZFRERBEME
EUBERAR(TRERB]ERZ
ﬁ%ﬁﬁ%ﬁAE%mmwmﬁ
REDBER o T—+F K

ERT(—)HRERBRLAEF
A BRI EMER - RZT—+
FH+ZAZ+—HB EEHEKEM
RRARZER (DER D e KER
BRAERIT(—)ERER  ER
HEEEERARFE -

@)%:%—@¢£ﬂ7+:a’ﬁ
HAMBEARERIT(—)ME=ZR
RNEEEMEBR QA ([ KEE
BEDERZBRBRTERARKE
50,000,000 7Lt #t A AR - R
—tF  RERIT(-)HKRE
ﬁ%kﬁﬁ&&ﬂ*upﬁtmﬁ

HeRZB—+F+ZA=ZTN
B ABan @ NEERE M RERTT
(—)EEER - EREBANERE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR RR M

For the year ended 31 March 2002 HE-—ZE - —F=A=+—HILFE

36. FINANCIAL GUARANTEE LIABILITIES

(CONTINUED)

(3) On 19 August 2014, KiEEIF provided a corporate guarantee
to Ri##EIR7T(—) for a recurring bank loan of RMB50,000,000
granted to a third party, XKiEZRE AR AR (KEER").
In 2017, Ri#EHRTT(—) took a legal action against KiEZH
for the recovery of the aforesaid loan. On 21 December 2017,
the Court ordered K3EZH to repay the loan to AEIRETT
(—), together with relevant legal cost and interest. The loan

principal of RMB50,000,000 has been repaid by AZEZ on 30

December 2017.

Another independent guarantor, X:ZE/E B ZEBR AT (“KNiE
JIE% ") has pledged its properties to secure the bank loans stated
in (1), (2) and (3). The estimated value of the pledged properties
is over RMB250 million. The directors believe that the aforesaid
loans, interests and other costs can fully be recovered from the sales
proceeds of the pledged properties. In addition, X &I obtained
counter-guarantees given by BIEHIE (KE) GR A A (“AlEH
EE"). BlZEME undertook to compensate A AIF any legal costs

and economic losses that may be suffered by A AIF in relation to

all the aforesaid corporate guarantees.

36. UIFEREE (18)

B) RZE—MNENATIE - KEE
MBARERIT(—)RAE=ZFRER
HESARDE ([ KEZR])EK
Z EIRIR1T B A K ¥ 50,000,000
TREAAER -RZT—t%F -
RERIT(—) B REERREL X
A - ABE EMER - R
—+FE+-A=-+—8  Ek
TREZEBmmMAERIT(—)ER
B ERMEBEEZERKME -
RZFE—+tF+=ZA=+H KX
EE2ZHMOERERZAZARYE
50,000,0007T °

S—EBIERARNEIDEEZEARD
AI(TREIEEDERM - QRGBT
MEHRITEFGEYEER - BEHER
M e EE B A K ¥250,000,0007T °
EEAE EAZER - FSRHEME
AR A SHE R MY E IS RESR 2
FUE o gboh - RERIFE R E M E
(R&B)BRAB([BIEME | IEE RE
R o MAEAIMBLTA Lilt 2 2 BHER
EERMEEEARERIEERL - 48l
b A R A A R AR (E o
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Forthe year ended 3| March 202 HE —E - —F=A=+—HILtFE
36. FINANCIAL GUARANTEE LIABILITIES 36. I IEREE(E)

(CONTINUED)

On 27 December 2017, a restructuring loan agreement was signed
by KBIEE with KEIRTT. Under this agreement, a new loan of
RMB245,000,000 was granted to A3EJE4 for the repayment of the
loans, interests and other cost stated in (1), (2) and (3) and then
the corporate guarantee provided by A EIF will be released.
However, the procedure to release the corporate guarantee is still in

progress.

The directors are closely monitoring the situations and will continue
to use their best endeavor to resolve the corporate guarantees above.
The directors are also assessing the legal position of the Group and

may consider taking legal actions if appropriate.

Up to the date of this report, the Group did not suffer any loss from
the above corporate guarantees. Having considered the counter-
guarantees provided by BI3EHBE, pledge of valuable properties by
RNiZEJIEYs and subsequent settlement arrangements as stated above,
in the opinion of the directors of the Company, the fair values of
the financial guarantee contracts are insignificant at initial recognition
as the probability of suffering any significant loss by the Group from
the above corporate guarantees is low. Accordingly, no provision
has been made in the consolidated financial statements for these

guarantees.
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RZE—+tF+=-A=++H KEJE
EEABIRITR L EMEERRE - BRIB
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

an\

BB ERRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2002 HE-—ZE - —F=A=+—HILFE

37.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

The Group's qualifying employees in Hong Kong participate in the
Mandatory Provident Fund (the “MPF") in Hong Kong. The assets of
the MPF are held separately from those of the Group in funds under
the control of trustee. The Group and each of the employees make

monthly mandatory contributions to the MPF scheme.

The employees of the PRC subsidiaries are members of the
state-managed retirement benefits scheme operated by the PRC
government. The PRC subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain
percentage of their payroll to the retirement benefits scheme to fund
the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to the
retirement benefits scheme is to make the required contributions

under the scheme.

For the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, there were no
forfeited contributions which were available to reduce the Group's
existing level of contributions to the MPF Scheme and the state-

managed retirement benefits scheme.

The total expense recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income of approximately HK$349,000 (2021:
HK$346,000) represents contributions payable to these plans by the

Group at rates specified in the rules of the plans.

37.

RKEFET
AEERESZAEKREASRESY
BHEAES ([RBS]) - BHE 2 &
ERAREZAENHBE  MERA
BHZESER - ARBREMIESS
B gt e i B B -

!

FEMEARZRBEIFEBRFRLZ
BREBERKENTEINE - HEME
ARERAKENFEBMEHFEET
BAtb 2R MEREBNZES -
AEBERARBNEZE-—BERM
At EIfE PR K

NG

>
El

BE_ZT-_—_Fk_F=-—F=HA
HIEFE @ SIEBOL U AT

ARBLAEEYHREEAENMERE
BIRRENET IR A HFOKFE -

REETEHRERABR BRI ALY
349,000 7T (= F = — 4 : 346,000/%
TT)  ASEERFERAET X

J_Ez»gi/ﬁhux—ru-l—ngT £3K o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR ERR M

Forthe year ended 3| March 202 HE —E - —F=A=+—HILtFE

38. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS  38.

Transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, which
are related parties of the Company, have been eliminated on
consolidation and are not disclosed in this note. Save as disclosed
elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements, details of
transactions between the Group and other related parties are

disclosed below.

(a) Transactions with related parties
(i) As disclosed in note 24(v), interest income relating
to termination of acquisition of Shenyang Properties
for the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, which
were receivable from Mr. Li Yuguo who is a substantial
shareholder, the chairman and an executive director of the

Company, are recognised as follows:

Interest income relating to termination 4% |FUKREERS % 2

of acquisition of Shenyang Properties B A

(i) During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group paid
advertising expenses to a related company, amounting
to approximately HK$1,341,000. The related company is
controlled by the directors of the Group, Mr. Li Yuguo and
Mr. Liu Yan Chee James.
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REEALRS
ARREANBRAR(KENARRLZ
MEAL)HZRZEREAREN -
BYERAMEWE - RREHEME
BRHEMBEHAREEI  AREEA
MWEEALHZXSFBERENT °

(a) HEAEALZXH
() MWMME214VFTERE  #2=
E__FR_F_—F=H
=+—RIEFE  RERIEWE
BEWMERKARAREER
R EFERPITESTFTEBRL
2 AER A B ARER AT ¢

2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT TFET
58,957

iy ZB2_ZF-_—F=A=+—
HEFE XEBEZFAT—
MEAERARINESHX RA
1,341,000 7T © ZBIE A AIH
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For the year ended 31 March 202 HE — T - —F=A=+—HItFE

38. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY 3. EEMEALTRS (&)
TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)
(b) Transaction relating a minority shareholder (b) EHE—ELERRZXE
As disclosed in note 25, during the year ended 31 March 2022, M2 PKE B2 T =
the compensation relating to the failure to fulfil the production ZA=+—HILFE - 3AEKRE
volume guarantee of the water mining business in Hunan for the HEBAGEEN _ZE—AFR_E
years 2019 and 2020, which were receivable from the minority —TEEEBRBREARRDH
shareholders of the Company, are recognised as follows: IR B BRI
2022 2021
—E-CF T —F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHET THETT

Compensation relating to failure to DHRR R R EEE ERE
fulfil production volume guarantee by A

minority shareholders

(c) Remuneration of key management personnel (c) TEEBZNSZFH
The remuneration of key management personnel during the year FTEEBABRAFE 2H M
was as follows: T

2022 2021

—EB-—fF —F_—%F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FBR FHT

Short-term benefits 72 HRAE A 3,134

Retirement benefit scheme RNEFET 2 50

3,184
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For the year ended 31 March 202 HE — T - —F=A=+—HItFE

39. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES 39. B A RFB
Details of the Group’s material subsidiaries at the end of the reporting RMEBKR > XEBZTENBRAFF
period are as follows. ISR o
Class of Fully paid  Proportion of nominal
Place of shares/ share capitall  value of paid capital/
incorporation/  registered registered registered capital
Name of subsidiaries operation capital held capital held by the Company Principal activities
FRARELZ
LAY FisRe,/ BRRE/ BHRE/
MELARER KehH aMEAREH dMEFx  HREFEEzREIL  EFRRH
Directly Indirectly
E& %
Adco Rich Limited British Virgin Islands  Ordinary US$! 100% = Investment holding
RERZEE W EBR ESpr 100% - REER
Asiaciti Investment Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS$I = 100% Property investment
BRREERAT &R LER 18T - 100%  WERE
Century Strong Limited British Virgin Islands  Ordinary US$I 100% ~ Investment holding
RERZES W EER E0 100% - RERR
Continental Joy Limited British Virgin Islands ~ Ordinary US| 100% = Investment holding
RBRAHE EER ES 100% - RERR
Chi Sheung Trading Company Hong Kong Ordinary HKSI = 100% Investment holding
Limited A ERR ey - 100%  REER
BEEHERAT
Good Union (China) Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1,000 = 67% Investment holding
ER (B BRAR] R Lak 1000787 - 67%  REER
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For the year ended 31 March 202 HE — T - —F=A=+—HItFE

39. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES

(CONTINUED)

Place of

incorporation/
Name of subsidiaries operation

MR,/
MELAREE geny

King Lotus Limited British Virgin Islands
RBELES

Man Lee Management Limited Hong Kong

ENERERAA )

New Jumbo Group Limited British Virgin Islands
EESEERAT RBRAHE
World Land Development Limited  British Virgin Islands
ERERERAA RBRAEE
SHEXEE(RINERAR  The PRC

(note) 8
SHEFER(RINBRA

(Hrt)

Class of
shares/
registered

capital held

B,/
EMERER

Ordinary

Ordinary

EBR

Ordinary

LRR

Ordinary

LER

Registered
atff

39. Y B X B 1B (&)

Fully paid
share capital/
registered

capital

BRRE/
AMER

US|
ES

HK$2

BT

US$|

EH

US|
E

RMB60,000,000
AE#60,000,0007T

Note: The subsidiary was an indirectly wholly foreign-owned enterprise established in the

PRC.

Proportion of nominal
value of paid capital/

registered capital

held by the Company
ARARBEZ
BRRA/
afMEREEZAD L
Directly Indirectly
B B
100% -
100% -
- 100%
- 100%
100% -
100% -
100% -
100% -
- 100%
- 100%
Hfat:

1

Principal activities

TEEHK

Investment holding

RAZR

Management services and

securities trading

EERBREREE

Investment holding

RAZR

Investment holding

BAER

Investment holding

RERR

ZMBARRRHBEKLZ BRI BE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ara IR R AR M T

For the year ended 31 March 202 HE — T - —F=A=+—HItFE

39. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES 39. (B A EIFFB (&)
(CONTINUED)

Class of Fully paid  Proportion of nominal
Place of shares/ share capital/l  value of paid capital/
incorporation/  registered registered registered capital
Name of subsidiaries operation capital held capital  held by the Company Principal activities
KRARAELZ
A,/ iR,/ BRRE/ BARAE/
MELAREE gen aMEREH dMEx  EREFEEzEIL  FERRHK
Directly Indirectly
B b
BRHEEER(RI)ERAT  The PRC Registered RMB60,000,000 - 100%  Investment holding
(note) i Bl AR¥#:60,0000007C - 100%  REZK
ERMEREE (R ERARF
(Hiit)
RERITENH R R (note) The PRC Registered HK$205,000,000 - 100%  Property development
REEMEWBRAR (ML)  + A 205,000,007 7¢ - 100%  MEER
RRERHFACRY)BRART  The PRC Registered RMB3,000,000 - 100%  Property investment
(note) H Al AKH#3,000,0007 = 100%  MERE
REERFARINERATF
(Hiit)
ALK BEEEBRBRAR  The PRC Registered RMBI 000,000 - 100%  Property investment
(note) EF Al AR 1,000,0007 - 100%  WMERLRE
ALK EERERBR AR
(Hit)
Note: The subsidiary was an indirectly wholly foreign-owned enterprise established in the Hiit: ZMBARARFBEK YL BEIEEE
PRC. S
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR RR M

For the year ended 31 March 202 HE — T - —F=A=+—HItFE

39. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES

(CONTINUED)

Place of

incorporation/

Name of subsidiaries operation
B
WEARARE KEw
WENEEERRKERAF  The PRC
(note) F
WETEERRERKERAR
(Hizt)
RYFEHEREERERAF  The PRC
(note) s
M FHEREERER DA
(Hizt)
I EKEERMERAR The PRC
(note) i
WL EKREERGBRAA
(Hizt)

Class of
shares/
registered

capital held

R,/
EMERER

Registered
i

Registered
i

Registered
A

39. Y B X B 1B (&)

Fully paid
share capital/
registered

capital

BB/
HUEEN

HK$30,000,000
30,000,000/ 7T

RMB100,000
AR#100,0007T

RMB10,000,000
AEE10,000,0007T

Note: The subsidiary was an indirectly wholly foreign-owned enterprise established in the

PRC.

Proportion of nominal

value of paid capital/

registered capital

held by the Company
FRABRLZ
BRRE,/
EMEFEEZED L
Directly Indirectly
E& %
= 67%
= 67%
- 100%
- 100%
= 100%
= 100%
Hfat

i

Principal activities

TEEH

Production and sales of

bottled water

HERBEREK

Property investment

nERE

Property investment

ESIE

ZHBRBRRFBEKILZBEIIEBE

Annual Report 2022 F#

207



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR E MBI R

For the year ended 31 March 202 HE — T - —F=A=+—HItFE

39. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES 39. B AlRH15 (&)
(CONTINUED)
None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding at the RERSFARTMAEERE - BB Q) E
end of the year, or at any time during the year. EAIREEZBEBES -
The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group, which in the EERA/LERIB 2 AEB 2B AR
opinion of the directors, principally affected the result or assets of the HAEB VEENEEREEFE -5
Group. To give the details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion ERAEHINEMHB AR ZFBEEFEF
of the directors, result in particulars of excessive lengths. SERENRITE -
The table below shows details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries of TREIAEEHAEEAIEIERERZ
the Group that have material non-controlling interests: F2EWBAR ZFFIS

Proportion of ownership

Place of interest and voting
incorporation/ rights held by non- Loss allocated to non- Accumulated non-
Name of subsidiary operation controlling interest controlling interest controlling interests
R, FERERFE L IREFERES E
WEAREM e BEREEERREEZALL 1 FERES
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
—E-= —T--% ZEBCZZ % ZEBCZZ —T--F
% % HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TERT TAT TR TR
Good Union (China) Limited Hong Kong 33 14,490 570 87,810 102,066
ER(FE)ARAR BE
Summarised financial information in respect of each of the Group’s AN AERSREBERIEEIRERS 2K
subsidiary that has material non-controlling interests is set out below. BARIZUBERBESINET - AT
The summarised financial information below represents amounts R ERNBERTIERANYEIIZS
before intragroup eliminations. EH o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B IRAR R

For the year ended 31 March 202 HE — T - —F=A=+—HItFE

39. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES 39. B A ElsE B (&)
(CONTINUED)
Good Union (China) Limited EE(PE)ERQT

Summarised statement

of financial position B R E 2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—%F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FExT FHT

Current assets MENEE 19,064
Current liabilities mEAE (61,343)
Current net liabilities mBEEFE (42,279)
Non-current assets IEREEE 322,123 351,572
Non-current liabilities ERBEE = -
Non-current net assets ERBEEFE 322,123 351,372
Net assets BERE 266,091 309,293
Accumulated non-controlling interest ERtIRTEiE S 102,066
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR E MBI R

For the year ended 31 March 202 HE—ZT - —F=A=+—HILtFE

39. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES 39. (B A EIFFB (&)
(CONTINUED)
Good Union (China) Limited (continued) ER (P EDBRAF (&)

Summarised statement of

comprehensive income 2ERERPE 2022 2021
—E-—fF —E-—%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHBT
Revenue N -
Loss for the year NEEEE (1,726)
Other comprehensive income Efth 2 E 1,350
Total comprehensive income FHENEREE (376)
Loss allocated to non-controlling interest DICE IEEIR S 2 B8 (570)
Summarised cash flows HeEREHE 2022 2021
—EF —FE—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TET FAT
Net cash inflow from operating activities REKLEETH RS RAFEE |7
Net cash outflow from investing activities REKREEES 2B KL F5E =
Net cash inflow from financing activities REME ST 2B RAFRR =
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes HNEE RSB B 222
239
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B IRAR R

For the year ended 31 March 202 HZE - T - —F = A=+—HILtFE

40. SUMMARISED STATEMENT OF 40. AN T 2 BHIE AR S P
FINANCIAL POSITION INFORMATION OF =
THE COMPANY
Summarised statement of financial position information of the N BRI A HI R 7 B 7S Ak 3= B RHEE
Company at the end of the reporting period includes: Z2HE

2022 2021
—E__F —=E - —4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TET
Non-current assets kRBEE

Interests in subsidiaries RWB AR Z = -
Property, plant and equipment Mm% - BB K& 15
Right-of-use assets EREEE 494
509

Current assets REBEE
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables FARRIE - 'E K 902

H AR K

Amounts due from subsidiaries TEUR Y BB A =) FR I8 1,672,825 2,025,772
Bank balances and cash RITEHEE S 246 786
1,673,972 2,027,460

Current liabilities REAEE
Amount due to a shareholder FEfHRR B 3R IR - 2,761
Amounts due to subsidiaries FETH B A B Fk 18 100,726 95,106
Other payables and accruals HENBRER G ESTE A 9,096 960
Lease liabilities HEEE 1,341 361
111,163 99,188
Net current assets REEEZRE 1,562,809 1,928,272
Total assets less current liabilities EEABRARBER 1,564,509 1,928,781
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e R ME
For the year ended 31 March 202 HE—ZT - —F=A=+—HILtFE

40. SUMMARISED STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION INFORMATION OF
THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)

Capital and reserves EXKHE
Share capital [N
Reserves (et

Non-current liabilities ERBERS
Lease liabilities HEARE

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by

the Board of Directors on 29 June 2022 and signed on its behalf by:

Mr. Li Yuguo
ZTEEEE
Director

EF
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40. R A B Z B AR R 3k B R
E(E)

2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHExT TFHT

76,117 76,117
1,488,041 1,852,664

1,564,158 1,928,781

1,564,509 1,928,781

MBHRRER_TE__FA=+N1AB
REFSHELRETE  AHTHA
TRERBRJBRET

Mr. Liu Yan Chee James
2B EE

Director

EF



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 March 202 HZE - T - —F = A=+—HILtFE

40. SUMMARISED STATEMENT OF 40. AN \) 2 B IS AR O 3k E B 8L
FINANCIAL POSITION INFORMATION OF = (4)

THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)

Share Share Capital General Accumulated
capital  premium reserve reserve losses Total
Bx  RGEE  EXEE  -RREE RHER a8
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR TR TR TR

At | April 2020 R-Z-T5MA-A 76117 1597079 202515 180,057 (2054752 1823757
Profit for the year ERRT - - = = 105,024 105,024

Total comprehensive income AEERANRLRE
for the year - - - - 105,024 105,024

At 31 March 2021 RZE-Z—%=R=1-H 76,117 1,597,179 2,025,156 180057  (1949,728) 1,928,781

Loss for the year AEEER - (364,623)  (364,623)

Total comprehensive income FEERENERE
Fortie g (364623)  (364,623)

At 31 March 2022 RZE-—%#=R=1-H 76,117 1,597,179 2,025,156 180,057  (2,314,351) 1,564,158
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ara IR R AR M T

For the year ended 31 March 202 HE — T - —F=A=+—HItFE

41.

42.

43.

DIVIDENDS

The directors did not recommend the payment of any dividend for

the year ended 31 March 2022 (2021: Nil).

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On 31 January 2022, the Group entered into a sale and purchase
agreement to acquire 100% of the issued share capital of, and the
shareholder’s loan advanced to, Shun Jie International Holdings
Company Limited at a consideration of RMB376,000,000. Its
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary, Suzhou Menglian Nanting Cultural
Development Company Limited* (BfMFtmELERERA
Al) holds, inter alia, several buildings located at 6 Waiwujingnong,
Suzhou, Jiangsu, the PRC* (4 BT &k & &k N 1 SN LR FF 655%), which
are currently leased to tenants for rental income. The acquisition
was completed on 27 May 2022. The acquisition constituted a major
transaction under the Listing Rules. Details of the acquisition are set
out in the announcements of the Company dated 31 January 2022
and 27 May 2022, and the circular of the Company dated 28 March
2022.

AUTHORISATION FOR ISSUE OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised

for issue by the Board of Directors on 29 June 2022.

*  For identification purpose only
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41.

42.

43.

BRE
EFETRARNBE-_F-_—F=7
St-BLFEZATRS
) o

—= —

—_—

HERAREIE
R-ZTE-—F—A=+—H  KNEEF]
VEERRKEREERERERAQF
Z100%E BITRARMEANHRRE
;o REARAR376,000,0007T o EH
BE2ENBARGMNERSmELER
BERAAFE (AR EE) LR+ B &
AEmMMIIN LTSRN ZEREY -
ZEZEYBAMEATHEP AKRES
WA - WEER-_E-_—_FRA=-1++t
B - WIEARIE FmARAIEK -1
BEXH WEABHINARRBEE
TR F—-A=+T—RRZZT=-=F
FAZ+tBZAERARRIRSAZ
T _F=HAZ T \BZ#EK -

RETIRGES M BHRKR

BAEVBERERENR _ZE-Z_FA
—tHhABESESHETRETE -



FINANCIAL SUMMARY

I EE

For the year ended 31 March 202 HZE - T - —F = A=+—HILtFE

Results

Revenue

Profit/(loss) before taxation

Tax (charge)/credit

Profit/(loss) for the year from

continuing operations

Profit/(loss) for the year from

discontinued operations

Profit/(loss) for the year

Attributable to:
Owners of the Company

Non-controlling interests

£

WA

BRIEATE R (B1R)
BR(FAX)/ER

RERFELE
BN/
(B18)

REFEAILE
BB
(B18)

REEEF/ (BR)
FE1 -

ZN/NSIE 2PN
TR

Year ended 31 March
HE=A=+t—HLEFE

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
—ET-N\F ZE-HNF —TTF —T-—F ZEB--F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$’000
FET FHET FET FHET FEx
- 32,760 201,510 32,920 m
(1327200 (170811)  (359,824) 92,849
8,576 17,530 4904 (2,155)
(124,144)  (153281)  (354920) 90,694 ENERLTED))
(1,454) (6,112) = = =
(125598)  (159393)  (354,920) CNSZE N (376,132)
(123989)  (158,640)  (338,784) 91,264
(1,609) (753) (16,136) (570)
(125598)  (159393)  (354,920) 90,694
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
MBRE

For the year ended 31 March 202 HE—ZT - —F=A=+—HILtFE

As at 31 March

R=A=+—-H
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
ZZ-N\E ZZ-NE ZTTF T ZBZF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$°000
FTAT FHT FTAT FHT THER

Assets and liabilities BERERE

Total assets BEME 2,860,646 2,720,466 2,115,424 2,275,578 1,911,672

Total liabilities aiEeE (606082)  (388,168)  (201,707)  (198.934) MARLILL))
Shareholders’ funds ERES 2,254,564 2,332,298 [913,717 2,076,644 1,733,173
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